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Stantec signs letter of intent to acquire JBR Environmental Consultants,
Inc.

the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements, before the effects of the adjustments to retrospectively account
for the change in subsidiary guarantors as described in note 16, present fairly, in all material respects, the results of
operations and cash flows of Reliant Energy, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2005, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. Also, in our opinion, such
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a
whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth therein.

We were not engaged to audit, review, or apply any procedures to the adjustments to retrospectively account for the
change in subsidiary guarantors as described in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements and, accordingly, we
do not express an opinion or any other form of assurance about whether such adjustments are appropriate and have
been properly applied. Those adjustments were audited by other auditors.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 14, 2006
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2007

2006

2005

(thousands of dollars, except per share

Revenues (including $31,592, $191,405 and $(218,081)
unrealized gains (losses)) (including $127,083, $0 and $0 from

affiliates) $ 11,208,724

Expenses:

Cost of sales (including $413,028, $(422,325) and $25,846

unrealized gains (losses)) (including $105,118, $0 and $0 from

affiliates) 8,656,827

Operation and maintenance 883,083

Selling, general and administrative 372,528

Western states and similar settlements 22,000

Gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net (25,699)
Depreciation and amortization 424,432

Total operating expense 10,333,171

Operating Income (Loss) 875,553

Other Income (Expense):

Income of equity investments, net 4,686

Debt extinguishments and conversions (72,779)
Other, net 4

Interest expense (349,199)
Interest income 34,833

Total other expense (382,455)
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations Before Income

Taxes 493,098

Income tax expense (benefit) 135,115

Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations 357,983

Income (loss) from discontinued operations 7,124

Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting

Changes 365,107

Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax

Net Income (Loss) $ 365,107

Table of Contents

amounts)

$ 10,877,385

9,435,892
833,094
383,977

35,000
(159,386)
372,616

10,901,193
(23,808)
5,791
(37,257)
203
(427,867)
34,317
(424,813)
(448,621)
(121,929)
(326,692)
(2,088)
(328,780)
968

(327,812)

$ 9,711,995

8,365,921
736,954
292,486
359,436

(168,114)
445,871
10,032,554

(320,559)

25,458
(22,672)
(399,281)

23,227
(373,268)
(693,827)
(253,080)
(440,747)

110,799
(329,948)
(608)

(330,556)
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Basic Earnings (Loss) per Share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations 1.05 (1.06) (1.46)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.02 (0.01) 0.37
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes 1.07 (1.07) (1.09)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax
Net income (loss) 1.07 (1.07) (1.09)
Diluted Earnings (Loss) per Share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations 1.01 (1.06) (1.46)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 0.03 (0.01) 0.37
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes 1.04 (1.07) (1.09)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax
Net income (loss) 1.04 (1.07) (1.09)

See Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements

F-5
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2007

2006

(thousands of dollars, except
per share amounts)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 754,962
Restricted cash 3,251
Accounts and notes receivable, principally customer, net of allowance of $36,724
and $33,332 1,082,746
Inventory 285,408
Derivative assets 214,207
Margin deposits 139,834
Accumulated deferred income taxes 114,559
Investment in and receivables from Channelview, net 83,253
Prepayments and other current assets 104,314
Current assets of discontinued operations 2,133
Total current assets 2,784,667
Property, Plant and Equipment, net 5,222,217
Other Assets:
Goodwill, net 379,644
Other intangibles, net 405,338
Derivative assets 90,107
Accumulated deferred income taxes 70,410
Prepaid lease 270,133
Other 234,014
Total other assets 1,449,646
Total Assets $ 9,456,530

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt and short-term borrowings $ 52,546
Accounts payable, principally trade 687,046
Derivative liabilities 436,503
Margin deposits 250
Other 426,839

Current liabilities of discontinued operations
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$ 463,909
24,980

1,043,637
275,437
489,726
452,605
279,479

141,016
2,460

3,173,249

5,741,995

381,594
423,745
203,857

87,858
264,328
290,507

1,651,889

$ 10,567,133

$ 355,264
664,630
1,164,809
16,490
488,764
3,286
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Total current liabilities

Other Liabilities:

Derivative liabilities

Other

Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations
Total other liabilities

Long-term Debt

Commitments and Contingencies
Temporary Equity Stock-based Compensation

Stockholders Equity:

Preferred stock; par value $0.001 per share (125,000,000 shares authorized; none

outstanding)

Common stock; par value $0.001 per share (2,000,000,000 shares authorized;

344,579,508 and 337,623,392 issued)
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Total stockholders equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

See Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements
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1,603,184

187,089
278,641

3,542
469,272

2,902,346

4,694

106
6,215,512
(1,635,526)

(103,058)

4,477,034

2,693,243

420,534
324,145
744,679

3,177,691

1,647

99
6,174,665
(2,026,316)

(198,575)

3,949,873

$ 9,456,530 $ 10,567,133
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)
(Income) loss from discontinued operations

Net income (loss) from continuing operations and cumulative effect

of accounting changes

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by

(used in) operating activities:

Cumulative effect of accounting changes
Depreciation and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Net changes in energy derivatives

Amortization of deferred financing costs

Debt extinguishments and conversions expenses
Gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net
Western states and similar settlements

Income of equity investments, net

Other, net

Changes in other assets and liabilities:

Accounts and notes receivable, net

Changes in notes, receivables and payables with affiliates, net
Inventory

Margin deposits, net

Net derivative assets and liabilities

Western states and similar settlements payments
Accounts payable

Other current assets

Other assets

Taxes payable/receivable

Other current liabilities

Other liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations from
operating activities

Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations from
operating activities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
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2007 2006
(thousands of dollars)
365,107 (327,812) $
(7,124) 2,088
357,983 (325,724)
(968)
424,432 372,616
118,631 (152,431)
(393,453) 316,742
50,294 31,508
72,779 37,257
(25,699) (159,386)
35,000
(4,686) (5,791)
12,703 12,590
(25,731) 129,161
(13,078)
(21,863) 18,157
296,531 1,264,332
(31,088) (30,313)
(35,000) (159,885)
46,194 (97,117)
12,306 17,284
(17,953) (35,373)
(10,975) 1,302
(45,713) 64,046
(11,597) (2,963)
755,017 1,330,044
6,726 (54,171)
761,743 1,275,873
(188,856) (96,793)

2005

(330,556)
(110,799)

(441,355)

608
445,871
(278,992)
192,235

15,110

(168,114)
359,436

(25,458)
27,498

(109,736)
(42,253)
(1,213,940)
10,978
144,466
33,071
(32,605)
3,053
(34,479)
4,495
(1,110,111)
192,948

(917,163)

(82,296)
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Proceeds from sales of assets, net 82,075 1,417 149,345
Proceeds from sales of emission allowances 6,815 205,510 234,421
Purchases of emission allowances (91,923) (22,575) (145,769)
Restricted cash 6,674 1,926 14,251
Other, net 6,045 5,500
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations from
investing activities (179,170) 89,485 175,452
Net cash provided by discontinued operations from investing
activities 520 967,566 130,700
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (178,650) 1,057,051 306,152
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Proceeds from long-term debt 1,300,000 400,000 299,000
Payments of long-term debt (1,535,887) (865,870) (148,333)
Increase (decrease) in short-term borrowings and revolving credit
facilities, net 6,554 (825,554) 407,000
Payments of financing costs (31,245) (16,673) (1,198)
Payments of debt extinguishments and conversions expenses (72,779) (36,157)
Proceeds from issuances of stock 41,317 24,842 37,885
Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations from
financing activities (292,040) (1,319,412) 594,354
Net cash used in discontinued operations from financing activities (638,000)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities (292,040) (1,957,412) 594,354
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 291,053 375,512 (16,657)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 463,909 88,397 105,054
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 754,962 $ 463,909 $ 88,397
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash Payments:
Interest paid (net of amounts capitalized) for continuing operations  $ 344,701 385,055 347,249
Income taxes paid (net of income tax refunds received) for
continuing operations $ 27,884 $ 28,649 $ 21,812

See Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements

F-7
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income(Loss)

Unrealized
Gain
(Loss) Discontinu
on Benefits Benefits Total Operatio
Available Deferred Actuarial Net Additional AccumulatedAccumulas
Additional For  Derivative Net Prior Minimum Other Other
n Paid Treasury Accumulated Sale Gains Gain Service Benefits Comprehensi@emprehen
Income Income
In Capital Stock Deficit  Securities (Losses) (Loss) Costs Liability (Loss) (Loss)
(thousands of dollars)
$ 5,790,007 $ (2,209) $ (1,367,948) $ 8 $ (29211) $ $ $ (148 $ (29,351) $ (4,20¢
(330,556)
7,079
1,411
48,250 2,209
(233,234) (233,234) 2,37
(21,688) (21,688) 1,49:
(3) (8)

Table of Contents 10
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$ 5,846,747 $ $ (1,698,504) $ $ (284,133) $ $ $ (148) $ (284,281) $ (33«
18,099
5,864,846 (1,698,504) (284,133) (148) (284,281) (33!
(327,812)
(3,774)
970
45,201
267,422
(2,121) (2,121)
(129,081) (129,081)
240,971 240,971 33!
(15,463) (10,869) 2,269 (24,063)
$ 6,174,665 $ $ (2,026,316) $ $ (172,243) $ (15463) $ (10,869) $ $ (198,575) $
(468) 25,683
6,174,197 (2,000,633) (172,243) (15,463) (10,869) (198,575)

Table of Contents 11
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365,107

(2,487)
43
43,659
100

3,225 3,225

88,903 88,903

1,308 1,308

356 356

1,725 1,725

$ 6,215512 $ $ (1,635,526) $ $ (80,115 $ (13,382) $ (9,561) $ $ (103,058) $

See Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Background and Basis of Presentation

Background. Reliant Energy refers to Reliant Energy, Inc. and we, us and our refer to Reliant Energy, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. Our business consists primarily of two business segments, retail energy and wholesale
energy. See note 18.

Reliant Energy, a Delaware corporation, was formed in August 2000 by CenterPoint Energy, Inc. (CenterPoint)
(known as Reliant Energy, Incorporated at the time) in connection with the planned separation of its regulated and
unregulated operations. CenterPoint transferred substantially all of its unregulated businesses to us. In May 2001,
Reliant Energy became a publicly traded company and in September 2002, CenterPoint distributed its remaining
ownership of our common stock to its shareholders.

Basis of Presentation. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

Deconsolidation of Channelview. On August 20, 2007, four of our wholly-owned subsidiaries, Reliant Energy
Channelview LP (Channelview LP), Reliant Energy Channelview (Texas) LLC, Reliant Energy Channelview
(Delaware) LL.C and Reliant Energy Services Channelview LLC (collectively, Channelview), filed for reorganization
under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. As Channelview is currently subject to the supervision of the bankruptcy
court, we deconsolidated Channelview s financial results beginning August 20, 2007, and began reporting our
investment in Channelview using the cost method.

Since Channelview s results are no longer consolidated, any adjustments reflected in Channelview s financial
statements subsequent to August 19, 2007 (relating to the recoverability and classification of recorded asset amounts
and classification of liabilities or the effects on existing equity, as well as adjustments made to Channelview s financial
information for loss contingencies and other matters), are not expected to directly impact our consolidated financial

results.

We will reevaluate the accounting treatment of our investment in Channelview (as a cost method investment) when
Channelview s bankruptcies are resolved or other factors, if any, indicate a change in control of Channelview.

See note 21 for further discussion of Channelview and the related bankruptcy filings.
(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Use of Estimates and Market Risk and Uncertainties.

Management makes estimates and assumptions to prepare financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) that affect:

the reported amount of assets, liabilities and equity,
the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and

our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.

Table of Contents 13
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Our critical accounting estimates include: (a) fair value of our reporting units recorded goodwill, property, plant and
equipment and derivative assets and liabilities; (b) retail energy segment estimated revenues and energy supply costs;
(c) loss contingencies and (d) deferred tax assets, valuation allowances and tax liabilities. Actual results could differ

from our estimates.

We are subject to various risks inherent in doing business. See notes 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), 2(g), 2(h), 2(n), 2(0), 2(p), 3(b),
4,5,6,7,10,11, 12, 13, 14 and 21.

F-9

Table of Contents 14



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(b) Principles of Consolidation.

We include our accounts and those of our wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries in our consolidated
financial statements, excluding Channelview since its deconsolidation on August 20, 2007. We do not consolidate
three power generating facilities (see note 12(a)), which are under operating leases, or a 50% equity investment in a
cogeneration plant.

(c) Revenues.

Power Generation and Capacity Revenues. We record gross revenues from the sale of electricity and other energy
services under the accrual method. Electric power and other energy services are sold at market-based prices through
existing power exchanges, related party affiliates or third party contracts. Energy sales and services that have been
delivered but not billed by period-end are estimated.

Natural Gas Sales Revenues. We record gross revenues from the sales of natural gas under the accrual method. These
sales are sold at market-based prices through third party contracts. Sales that have been delivered but not billed by
period-end are estimated.

Retail Energy Revenues. Gross revenues for energy sales and services to residential and small business customers and
to commercial, industrial and governmental/institutional customers are recognized upon delivery under the accrual
method. Energy sales and services that have been delivered but not billed by period-end are estimated.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we recorded unbilled revenues of $435 million and $416 million, respectively,
for retail energy sales and services. Accrued unbilled revenues are based on our estimates of customer usage since the
date of the last meter reading provided by the independent system operators or electric distribution companies.
Volume estimates are based on daily forecasted volumes and estimated customer usage by class. Unbilled revenues
are calculated by multiplying volume estimates by the applicable rate by customer class. Estimated amounts are
adjusted when actual usage is known and billed.

(d) Derivatives and Hedging Activities.

We account for our derivatives instruments and hedging activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting for
Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (SFAS No. 133).

In the fourth quarter of 2005, we commenced an evaluation of our wholesale energy segment s hedging strategy (which
included both designated and non-designated hedging derivative instruments) and use of capital. In early 2006, we
concluded that the benefits of hedging our generation do not justify the costs, including collateral postings. As a result,
we decided to substantially reduce new hedges of our generation. We may enter into selective hedges, including
originated transactions, based on (a) our assessment of market fundamentals to increase the return from our generation
assets and (b) operational and market limitations requiring us to enter into fuel, capacity and emissions transactions to
manage our generation assets. We believe that this strategy significantly reduces our wholesale energy segment s use
of capital; however, our earnings are subject to increased volatility based on market price changes.

Table of Contents 15
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We purchase substantially all of our Texas supply requirements from third parties. For our retail energy segment, we
continue to focus our supply procurement strategy on (a) matching supply costs and supply timing with sales
commitments, (b) managing periodic adjustments of physical supply to manage ongoing operational and customer
usage changes and (c) managing procurement needs within available market liquidity.

We may also enter into derivatives to manage our exposure to (a) changes in prices of emission allowances and
(b) changes in interest rates.

F-10
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For our risk management activities, we use both derivative and non-derivative contracts that provide for settlement in
cash or by delivery of a commodity. The primary types of derivative instruments we use are forwards, futures, swaps
and options. We account for our derivatives under one of three accounting methods (mark-to-market, accrual (under
the normal purchase/normal sale exception to fair value accounting) or cash flow hedge accounting) based on facts
and circumstances. The fair values of our derivative activities are determined by (a) prices actively quoted, (b) prices
provided by other external sources or (c) prices based on models and other valuation methods.

A derivative is recognized at fair value in the balance sheet whether or not it is designated as a hedge, except for
derivative contracts designated as normal purchase/normal sale exceptions, which are not in our consolidated balance
sheet or results of operations prior to settlement resulting in accrual accounting treatment.

If certain conditions are met, a derivative instrument may be designated as a cash flow hedge. Derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges must have a high correlation between price movements in the derivative and the hedged item. The
changes in fair value of cash flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax,
to the extent the contracts are, or have been, effective as hedges, until the forecasted transactions affect earnings. At
the time the forecasted transactions affect earnings, we reclassify the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive
income (loss) into earnings. We record the ineffective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges
immediately into earnings. For all other derivatives, changes in fair value are recorded as unrealized gains or losses in
our results of operations.

If and when an acceptable level of correlation no longer exists, hedge accounting ceases and changes in fair value are
recognized in our results of operations. If it becomes probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur, we
immediately recognize the related deferred gains or losses in our results of operations. The associated hedging
instrument is then marked to market through our results of operations for the remainder of the contract term unless a
new hedging relationship is redesignated.

Realized gains and losses on derivatives contracts not held for trading purposes are reported either on a net or gross
basis based on the relevant facts and circumstances. Hedging transactions that do not physically

F-11
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

flow are included in the same caption as the items being hedged. A summary of our derivative activities and
classification in our results of operations is:

Instrument

Power futures, forward, swap
and option contracts

Natural gas and fuel futures,
forward, swap and option
contracts

Interest rate swaps and caps

Emission allowances futures®

(1) The purpose for holding or issuing is not impacted by the accounting method elected for each instrument.

(2) Includes classification for mark-to-market derivatives and amounts reclassified from accumulated other

Purpose for Holding or
Issuing Instrument®

Power sales to end-use retail
customers

Power sales from wholesale
operations

Supply management revenues
Power purchases related to
our retail operations

Power purchases related to
wholesale operations

Power purchases/sales related
to our legacy trading
positions

Natural gas and fuel
purchases/sales related to our
retail operations

Natural gas and fuel sales
related to wholesale
operations

Natural gas and fuel
purchases related to
wholesale operations

Natural gas and fuel
purchases/sales related to our
legacy trading positions
Interest rate risk associated
with floating-rate debt

Price risk associated with
purchases/sales of emission
allowances

comprehensive income (loss) related to cash flow hedges.

(3) N/A is not applicable.

Table of Contents

Transactions that
Physically Flow/Settle

Revenues

Revenues

Revenues
Cost of sales

Cost of sales

Revenues

N/A®

Revenues

Cost of sales

Cost of sales

N/A®

N/A®

Transactions that
Financially Settle®

N/A®

Revenues

Cost of sales
Cost of sales

Revenues

Revenues

Cost of sales

Cost of sales

Cost of sales

Cost of sales

Interest expense

Revenues/Cost of sales
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(4) Includes emission allowances futures for sulfur dioxide (SO,), nitrogen oxide (NOx) and carbon dioxide (CO,).

In addition to market risk, we are exposed to credit and operational risk. We have a risk control framework to manage
these risks, which include: (a) measuring and monitoring these risks, (b) review and approval of new transactions
relative to these risks, (c) transaction validation and (d) portfolio valuation and reporting. We use mark-to-market
valuation, value-at-risk and other metrics in monitoring and measuring risk. Our risk control framework includes a
variety of separate but complementary processes, which involve commercial and senior management and our Board of
Directors. See note 2(e) for further discussion of our credit policy.

Earnings Volatility from Derivative Instruments. We purchase most of the generation capacity necessary to supply
our retail energy business in Texas from third parties. Our primary objective is to satisfy the

F-12
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

forecasted retail load and maintain adequate capacity reserves to manage operational and market constraints. We
routinely enter into derivative contracts to manage our fixed purchase and sale commitments. Some types of
transactions may cause us to experience volatility in our earnings due to the revenue receiving accrual treatment while
a portion of the related supply is marked to market.

We procure natural gas, coal, oil, natural gas transportation and storage capacity and other energy-related commodities
to support our wholesale energy business. Some types of transactions may cause us to experience volatility in our
earnings due to natural gas inventory related to transportation and storage generally receiving accrual treatment while
the related derivative instruments are marked to market through earnings.

Over the past several years, we have substantially decreased derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges, in favor of
utilizing the mark-to-market method of accounting or the normal purchase/normal sale exception for these derivatives.
Effective September 1, 2005, we began marking to market through earnings a portion of our previously designated
cash flow hedge portfolio related to our PJM Interconnection, LLC (PJM) coal plants for October 2005 through
December 2007 due to ineffectiveness. The ineffectiveness resulted from transmission constraints, hotter than average
weather and higher natural gas prices.

Effective September 1, 2006, we de-designated certain cash flow hedges of our coal contracts in the PIM and MISO
regions and either began utilizing the mark-to-market method of accounting or elected the normal purchase/normal
sale exception. During the fourth quarter of 2006, in connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure, we

(a) de-designated cash flow hedges of natural gas futures and swap transactions used to hedge our retail energy
business and began utilizing the mark-to-market method of accounting and (b) closed out a majority of our remaining
generation hedges in the PJM region.

During the first quarter of 2007, we de-designated our remaining cash flow hedges; therefore, as of December 31,
2007, we have no cash flow hedges.

Set-off of Derivative Assets and Liabilities. Where derivative instruments are subject to a master netting agreement
and the accounting criteria to offset are met, we present our derivative assets and liabilities on a net basis. Derivative
assets/liabilities and accounts receivable/payable are presented and set-off separately in our consolidated balance
sheets although in most cases contracts permit the set-off of derivative assets/liabilities and accounts
receivable/payable with a given counterparty. However, we do not offset collateral (net margin deposits) related to
these derivatives.

New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted Offsetting of Amounts. The FASB issued FSP FIN 39-1, an
amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39 (FIN 39), which was applicable for us beginning January 1, 2008. This
interpretation allows either (a) offsetting assets and liabilities for derivative instruments under a common master
netting arrangement only if the fair value amounts recognized for any related cash collateral are also offset or

(b) presenting these amounts gross.

Effective January 1, 2008, we plan to discontinue netting our derivative assets and liabilities and present them on a

gross basis. Cash collateral amounts will remain presented on a gross basis. This change will significantly increase our
derivative assets and liabilities retrospectively for all financial statements presented.
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(e) Credit Risk.

We have a credit policy that governs the management of credit risk, including the establishment of counterparty credit
limits and specific transaction approvals. Credit risk is monitored daily and the financial condition of our
counterparties is reviewed periodically. We try to mitigate credit risk by entering into contracts that permit netting and
allow us to terminate upon the occurrence of certain events of default. We measure credit risk as the replacement cost
for our derivative positions plus amounts owed for settled transactions.

F-13
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Our credit exposure is based on our derivative assets and accounts receivable from our wholesale energy and retail
energy power supply counterparties, after taking into consideration netting within each contract and any master
netting contracts with counterparties. We provide reserves for non-investment grade counterparties representing a
significant portion of our credit exposure. As of December 31, 2007, two non-investment grade counterparties
represented 47% ($206 million) of our credit exposure. As of December 31, 2006, two non-investment grade
counterparties represented 53% ($359 million) of our credit exposure. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we held no
collateral from these counterparties. There were no other counterparties representing greater than 10% of our credit
exposure.

(f) Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses include (a) selling and marketing, (b) bad debt expense and (c) other
general and administrative expenses. Other general and administrative expenses include, among other items,

(a) financial services, (b) legal costs, (c) regulatory costs and (d) certain benefit costs.

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation Expense.

We compute depreciation using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives. Depreciation expense was
$309 million, $303 million and $351 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Estimated
Useful December 31,
Lives (Years) 2007 2006
(in millions)
Electric generation facilities 10-35 $ 5,868 $ 6311
Building and building improvements 5-15 31 30
Land improvements 20 - 35 235 238
Other 3-10 470 451
Land 92 95
Assets under construction 157 67
Total 6,853 7,192
Accumulated depreciation (1,630) (1,450)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 5,223 $ 5,742

We periodically evaluate property, plant and equipment for impairment when events or circumstances indicate that the
carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the underlying
assumptions of related cash flows. We recorded no material property, plant and equipment impairments during 2007,
2006 and 2005.
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In the future, we could recognize impairments if our wholesale energy market outlook changes negatively. In addition,
our ongoing evaluation of our wholesale energy business could result in decisions to mothball, retire or dispose of
additional generation assets, any of which could result in impairment charges.

(h) Intangible Assets and Amortization Expense.

Goodwill. We perform our goodwill impairment test annually on April 1 and when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Other Intangibles. We recognize specifically identifiable intangible assets, including emission allowances,
contractual rights, power generation site permits and water rights, when specific rights and contracts are acquired. We

have no intangible assets with indefinite lives recorded as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.
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(i) Capitalization of Interest Expense.
During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we capitalized $4 million, $0 and $0 of interest expense, respectively.
() Cash and Cash Equivalents.
We record all highly liquid short-term investments with maturities of three months or less as cash equivalents.
(k) Restricted Cash.

Restricted cash includes cash at certain subsidiaries, the distribution or transfer of which is restricted by financing and
other agreements.

(1) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.

We accrue an allowance for doubtful accounts based on estimates of uncollectible revenues by analyzing counterparty
credit ratings, historical collections, accounts receivable agings and other factors. We write-off accounts receivable
balances against the allowance for doubtful accounts when we determine a receivable is uncollectible.

(m) Inventory.

We value fuel inventories at the lower of average cost or market. We remove these inventories as they are used in the
production of electricity or sold. We value materials and supplies at average cost. We remove these inventories when
they are used for repairs, maintenance or capital projects. Sales of fuel inventory are classified as operating activities
in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

December 31,
2007 2006
(in millions)

Materials and supplies, including spare parts $ 151 $ 155
Coal 55 51
Natural gas 29 20
Heating oil 50 49
Total inventory $ 285 $ 275

(n) Environmental Costs.
We expense environmental expenditures related to existing conditions that do not have future economic benefit. We

capitalize environmental expenditures for which there is a future economic benefit. We record liabilities for expected
future costs, on an undiscounted basis, related to environmental assessments and/or remediation when they are
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probable and can be reasonably estimated. See note 13(b).
(0) Asset Retirement Obligations.

Our asset retirement obligations relate to future costs primarily associated with dismantling power plants and ash
disposal site closures. Our asset retirement obligations are $21 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, we have $16 million and $15 million, respectively (classified in other long-term assets)
on deposit with the state of Pennsylvania to guarantee our obligation related to future closures of ash disposal sites.
See note 13(b).
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During 2005, we adopted an accounting interpretation relating to asset retirement obligations. This interpretation
clarifies that an asset retirement obligation is unconditional even though uncertainty exists about the timing and/or
method of settlement and requires that a liability be recognized if it can be reasonably estimated. Based on this, we
(a) recorded a cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax, of $1 million ($0.00 per share), (b) increased
other long-term liabilities by $2 million and (c) increased property, plant and equipment by $1 million.
(r) Repair and Maintenance Costs for Power Generation Assets.
We recognize repair and maintenance costs as incurred.

(q) Deferred Financing Costs.

We incur costs, which are deferred and amortized over the life of the debt, in connection with obtaining financings.
See note 6. Changes in deferred financing costs, classified in other long-term assets are:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Beginning of year $ 92 $ 112 $ 126
Capitalized 31 17 1
Amortized (10) (16) (15)
Accelerated amortization/write-offs() 41 2DH®
Channelview deconsolidation® 5)
End of year $ 67 $ 92 $ 112

(1) See note 6.

(2) Of this amount, $5 million was recorded to additional-paid-in capital in connection with converting our debt to
equity. See note 6.

(3) Channelview was deconsolidated on August 20, 2007. See notes 1 and 21.
(r) Gross Receipts Taxes.
We record gross receipts taxes for our retail energy segment on a gross basis in revenues and operations and
maintenance expense in our consolidated statements of operations. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, our retail energy
segment s revenues and operation and maintenance expense include gross receipts taxes of $98 million, $102 million

and $76 million, respectively.

(s) Sales Taxes.
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We record sales taxes collected from our taxable retail energy segment customers and remitted to the various
governmental entities on a net basis, thus there is no impact on our consolidated statements of operations.

(t) New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted Fair Value.

The FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (SFAS No. 157),
which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about

fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is to be applied prospectively, except for aspects that do not apply to us. We
adopted SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. In connection with the adoption, (a) no cumulative effect of an accounting
change will be recognized and (b) we expect to decrease our derivative liabilities and increase our income from
continuing operations before income taxes relating to
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discounting these liabilities using our own credit ratings. For non-financial assets and liabilities, the adoption of
SFAS No. 157 has been deferred until January 1, 2009.

(3) Related Party Transactions
(a) Equity Contributions/Distributions.

During 2005, we recorded non-cash contributions of $7 million from CenterPoint in settlement of certain tax matters.
See note 11(d).

(b) Indemnities and Releases.

As part of our separation from CenterPoint, we agreed to indemnify our former parent company for liabilities
associated with the business we acquired and relating to our initial public offering. See notes 11(d) and 12(b).

(4) Intangible Assets
(a) Goodwill.
The following table shows goodwill by segment and the changes:
Retail Wholesale

Energy Energy Total
(in millions)

As of January 1, 2006 $ 53 $ 334 $ 387
Changes 5 5
As of December 31, 2006 53 329 382
Changes 2) 2)
As of December 31, 2007 $ 53 $ 327 $ 380

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had $72 million and $82 million, respectively, of goodwill that is deductible
for United States income tax purposes in future periods.

Goodwill Impairment Tests. We performed impairment tests at the following dates: January 2005, March 2005, April
2005, August 2005, September 2005, April 2006 and April 2007 due to either asset sales or our annual impairment

tests. No impairments were indicated in these tests.

Estimation of our Wholesale Energy Reporting Unit s Fair Value. We estimate the fair value of our wholesale
energy reporting unit based on a number of subjective factors, including: (a) appropriate weighting of valuation
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approaches (income approach, market approach and comparable public company approach), (b) projections about
future power generation margins, (c) estimates of our future cost structure, (d) environmental assumptions,

(e) discount rates for our estimated cash flows, (f) selection of peer group companies for the public company
approach, (g) required level of working capital, (h) assumed EBITDA multiple for terminal values and (i) time
horizon of cash flow forecasts.

In determining the fair value of our wholesale energy reporting unit, we made the following key assumptions: (a) the
markets in which we operate will continue to be deregulated; (b) there will be a recovery in electricity margins over
time such that companies building new generation facilities can earn a reasonable rate of return on their investment
and (c) the long-term returns on future construction of new generation facilities will likely be driven by integrated
utilities, which we expect will have a lower cost of capital than merchant generators. As part of our process, we
modeled all of our power generation facilities and those of
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others in the regions in which we operate. Our assumptions for each of our goodwill impairment tests during 2005,
2006 and 2007 were:

Number of years used in internal cash flow analysis 15
EBITDA( multiple for terminal values (through August 2005 test and for April 2006 test) 7.5
EBITDA multiple for terminal values (for September 2005 test and April 2007 test) 8.02)
Risk-adjusted discount rate for our estimated cash flows (through April 2006 test) 9.0%
Risk-adjusted discount rate for our estimated cash flows (April 2007 test) 9.5%03)
Approximate average anticipated growth rate for demand in power 2.0%
Long-term after-tax return on investment for new investment 7.5%

(1) Defined as earnings (loss) before interest expense, interest income, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
expenses.

(2) Changed primarily due to market factors affecting peer company comparisons.

(3) Changed primarily due to capital structure of peer company comparisons.

(b) Other Intangibles.
Remaining
Weighted December 31,
Average 2007 2006
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Period
(Years) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
(in millions)
SO, emission allowances() M S 444 S 307) $ 357 % (222)
NOx emission allowances(D®3) ) 335 (188) 339 (170)
Contractual rights® 4 ()
Power generation site permits®® 27 73 (12) 73 (10)
Water rights®) 27 68 (16) 67 (14)
Other® 8 4
Total $ 928 $ (523) $ 844 $ (420)

(1) Amortized to amortization expense on a units-of-production basis. As of December 31, 2007, we have recorded
(a) SO, emission allowances through the 2039 vintage year (most of which relate to 2010 and beyond) and
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(b) NOx emission allowances through the 2039 vintage year (most of which relate to 2009 and beyond).

(2) During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we purchased $89 million, $22 million and $130 million, respectively, of SO,
emission allowances.

(3) During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we purchased $3 million, $1 million and $16 million, respectively, of NOx
emission allowances.

(4) Amortized to revenues and cost of sales, as applicable, based on the estimated realization of the fair value
established on the acquisition date over the contractual lives. As of December 31, 2007, we have no contractual
rights recorded on our consolidated balance sheet.

(5) Amortized to amortization expense on a straight-line basis over the estimated lives.

Amortization expense consists of:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Other intangibles, excluding contractual rights and obligations(1)(2) $ 115 $ 70 $ 95

Contractual rights® $ $ M $ M

Contractual obligations()®) 3 9

Net $ $ 2§ 8
F-18
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(1) Contractual obligations are in other long-term liabilities.

(2) Includes amortization of emission allowances of $110 million, $65 million and $90 million during 2007, 2006
and 2005, respectively.

(3) Amortized to revenues and cost of sales, as applicable, based on the estimated realization of the fair value
established on the acquisition date over the contractual lives.

Estimated amortization expense based on our intangibles as of December 31, 2007 for the next five years is (in
millions):

2008 $ 160
2009 13
2010 16(1)
2011 16(1)
2012 16(1)

(1) These amounts do not include expected amortization expense of emission allowances, which have not been
purchased as of December 31, 2007.

(5) Derivatives and Hedging Activities

We use derivative instruments to manage operational or market constraints, to increase return on our generation assets
and to execute our retail energy segment s supply procurement strategy. The instruments used are fixed-price
derivative contracts to hedge the variability in future cash flows from forecasted sales of power and purchases of fuel
and power. Our objective in entering into these fixed-price derivatives is to fix the price for a portion of these
transactions. See note 2(d).

As of December 31, 2006, the maximum length of time we were hedging our exposure to the variability in future cash
flows that may result from changes in commodity prices was six years. During the first quarter of 2007, we

de-designated our remaining cash flow hedges; therefore, as of December 31, 2007, we have no cash flow hedges.

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss:

December 31, 2007
Expected to be
Reclassified into
At the End Results of
of Operations
the Period in Next 12 Months
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(in millions)

Designated cash flow hedges $ $
De-designated cash flow hedges 80 31

Although we discontinued our proprietary trading business in March 2003, we have legacy positions, which will be
closed as economically feasible or in accordance with their terms. The income (loss) associated with these transactions
are:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Revenues $ 1 $ 1 $ (15)

Cost of sales 18 26 (30)

Total $ 19 $ 27 $ (45)
F-19
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The income (loss) of our energy and interest rate derivative instruments is:
2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Energy derivatives:

Hedge ineffectiveness gains (losses) $ 600 $ 69 $ 71
Other net unrealized gains (losses) 439 (162) (263)
Interest rate derivatives:

Other net unrealized losses 5 (11D (16)
Total @3 $ 440 $ (242) $ (208)

(1) As discussed above, during 2007, we de-designated our remaining cash flow hedges; the amount reflected here
subsequent to that time relates to previously measured ineffectiveness reversing due to settlement of the
derivative contracts.

(2) No component of the derivatives gain or loss was excluded from the assessment of effectiveness.

(3) Includes $0, $3 million loss and $0 for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively, recognized in our results of
continuing operations as a result of the discontinuance of cash flow hedges for forecasted transactions that we
determined were probable of not occurring.

For a discussion of our interest rate derivatives, see note 6(e).

During the second quarter of 2006, we refined our methodology for estimating fair value of derivative instruments
cleared and settled through brokers by modifying our discounting assumptions to be consistent with discounting
assumptions used in estimating fair value of exchange-traded futures contracts. This change in accounting estimate
had an impact during 2006 as follows (income (loss)):

2006
Income/Loss from
Continuing
Operations
before Income
Taxes Net Loss
(in millions)

Cash flow hedges() $ $
Mark-to-market derivatives (32)® (20)

Table of Contents 34



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Total $ (32) $ (0

(1) The impact relating to cash flow hedges was an increase in our net derivative liabilities of $9 million and a
$5 million increase in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of income taxes.

(2) This amount represented an increase in our net derivative liabilities and an increase in net unrealized losses on
energy derivatives, which were recorded $(1) million in revenues and $(31) million in cost of sales.

(3) This represents a $0.07 impact on loss per share for 2006.
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(6) Debt
(a) Overview.

Our outstanding debt:

Facilities, Bonds and Notes:
Reliant Energy:

Senior secured revolver due 2012
Senior secured term loans(B)
Senior unsecured notes due 2010
Senior unsecured notes due 20134
Senior secured notes due 2014
Senior unsecured notes due 2014
Senior unsecured notes due 2017
Convertible senior subordinated notes
due 2010 (unsecured)

Subsidiary Obligations:

Orion Power Holdings senior notes
due 2010 (unsecured)

Reliant Energy Seward, LLC
PEDFA®) fixed-rate bonds due 2036
Channelview LP®:

Term loans and revolving working
capital facility:

Floating rate debt due 2008 to 2024
Fixed rate debt due 2014 to 2024
Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC
working capital facility due 2012

Total facilities, bonds and notes

Other:

Table of Contents

Weighted
Average
Stated
Interest
Rate(1)

6.45% $

9.50
6.75
7.625
7.875

5.00

12.00

6.75

5.30

2007

December 31,

Long-Term Current

2006
Weighted
Average
Stated
Interest
Rate(1) Long-Term Current

(in millions, except interest rates)

13
671
575
725

400

500

2,886

414

41

% $ $
7.73 397 3
9.25 550
9.50 550
6.75 750
5.00 2
12.00 400
6.75 500
6.95 267
9.55 75
5.80
3,149 345
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Adjustment to fair value of debt(”) 17 11 29 10
Total other debt 17 11 29 10
Total debt $ 2903 $ 52 $ 3178 $ 355

(1) The weighted average stated interest rates are as of December 31, 2007 or 2006.

(2) These notes became unsecured in June 2007 and we called the remaining balance in July 2007. See below.

(3) These notes became unsecured in June 2007. See below.

(4) As of February 15, 2008, we repurchased $41 million subsequent to December 31, 2007.

(5) PEDFA is the Pennsylvania Economic Development Financing Authority.

F-21

Table of Contents 37



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIA

RIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(6) Channelview was deconsolidated on August 20, 2007. See notes 1 and 21.

(7) Debt acquired in the Orion Power acquisition was adjusted to fair market value as of the acquisition date.
Included in interest expense is amortization of $11 million, $9 million and $9 million for valuation adjustments

for debt for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Amounts borrowed and available for borrowing under our revolving credit agreements as of December 31, 2007 are:

Total
Committed
Credit
Reliant Energy senior secured revolver due 2012 $ 500
Reliant Energy letter of credit facility due 2014 250
Retail working capital facility due 2012 300
$ 1,050
Debt maturities as of December 31, 2007 are:
2008 $
2009
2010
2011
2012

2013 and thereafter

$

Drawn Letters Unused
Amount of Credit Amount
(in millions)
$ $ 109 $ 391
247 3
300
$ $ 356 $ 694
Reliant Energy
Reliant
Energy Consolidated
(in millions)
41 $ 41
2 402
1,984 2,484
2,027 $ 2,927

(1) As of February 15, 2008, we repurchased $41 million subsequent to December 31, 2007.

(2) Excludes Channelview LP s debt of $338 million.
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(b) Financing Activity.
2007 Financing Activity. We completed a refinancing in June 2007, the components of which included:
Downsize of:
$700 million to $500 million senior secured revolver and extension of maturity from 2009 to 2012, and

$300 million to $250 million senior secured letter of credit facility and extension of maturity from 2010 to
2014;

Issuance of:
$575 million 7.625% senior unsecured notes due 2014, and
$725 million 7.875% senior unsecured notes due 2017;
Repayment of:
$521 million 9.25% senior secured notes due 2010,
$537 million 9.50% senior secured notes due 2013, and
$400 million senior secured term loan due 2010.
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In July 2007, we called the remaining $29 million of our senior unsecured notes due 2010. In December 2007, we
repurchased $38 million of our 6.75% notes.

2006 Financing Activity. In connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure (see note 7), we completed a
refinancing in December 2006, the components of which included:

Amendment and downsize of:
$1.7 billion to $700 million senior secured revolver, and
$530 million to $400 million senior secured term loans:;
Issuance of:
$300 million letter of credit facility, and
$300 million retail working capital facility; and
Repayment of $450 million retail receivables facility.
We also amended our senior secured revolver and term loans, senior secured notes and the guarantee of our PEDFA
bonds to allow us to grant liens to Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. and affiliates (Merrill Lynch) in connection with the
credit-enhanced retail structure and the retail working capital facility.
(c) Credit Facilities and Debt.
Senior Secured Revolver and Letter of Credit Facility (the June 2007 credit facilities). We entered into the June 2007
credit facilities, which replaced the December 2006 credit facilities. The senior secured revolver bears interest at the
London Inter Bank Offering Rate (LIBOR) plus 1.75% or a base rate plus 0.75%. Our revolving credit facility and
letter of credit facility provide for the issuance of up to $500 million and $250 million of letters of credit, respectively.
The June 2007 credit facilities restrict our ability to, among other actions, (a) encumber our assets, (b) enter into
business combinations or divest our assets, (c) incur additional debt or engage in sale and leaseback transactions,
(d) pay dividends or pay subordinated debt, (e) make investments or acquisitions, (f) enter into transactions with
affiliates, (g) materially change our business, (h) repurchase capital stock or (i) utilize proceeds from asset sales.
When there are any revolving loans or revolving letters of credit outstanding under our June 2007 credit facilities, we
are required to achieve specified levels for the ratio of consolidated secured debt to adjusted net earnings (loss) before

interest expense, interest income, income taxes, depreciation and amortization (consolidated secured leverage ratio).

The June 2007 credit facilities are guaranteed by and secured by the assets and stock of some of our subsidiaries. See
note 16.
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Senior Unsecured 7.625% and 7.875% Notes. In June 2007, we issued $575 million of 7.625% senior unsecured
notes due 2014 and $725 million of 7.875% senior unsecured notes due 2017. These notes are unsecured obligations
and not guaranteed. The unsecured notes restrict our ability to encumber our assets. Upon a change of control, the
notes require that an offer to purchase the notes be made at a purchase price of 101% of the principal amount. The
proceeds of this issuance were used to repay the tendered 9.25% and 9.50% senior secured notes and a portion of the
senior secured term loan.

Senior Unsecured 9.25% and 9.50% Notes. In June 2007, we completed a tender offer to purchase for cash any and
all of the outstanding 9.25% senior secured notes due 2010 and 9.50% senior secured notes due 2013. We also
solicited consents to (a) amend the applicable indentures governing the notes to eliminate substantially all of the
restrictive covenants, (b) amend certain events of default, (c) modify other provisions contained in the indentures and
(d) release the collateral securing the notes. Approximately 94.81% of the
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2010 note holders and 97.73% of the 2013 note holders accepted the tender offer and agreed to the consents. We paid
a cash premium of $50 million and a consent solicitation fee of $21 million to the note holders who tendered during
the second quarter of 2007.

In July 2007, we called the remaining $29 million of our 2010 notes that were outstanding as of June 30, 2007. We
used cash on hand to pay the $29 million and a $1 million call premium.

Senior Secured 6.75% Notes. The senior secured notes are guaranteed by and secured by the assets and stock of some
of our subsidiaries. See note 16. If our June 2007 credit facilities become unsecured and certain credit ratios are
achieved for two consecutive quarters, the senior secured notes will become unsecured. Upon a change of control, the
notes require that an offer to purchase the notes be made at a purchase price of 101% of the principal amount. The
senior secured notes have negative covenants similar to the negative covenants in our June 2007 credit facilities.

Convertible Senior Subordinated Notes. On December 21, 2006, we completed an exchange offer for our 5.00%
convertible senior subordinated notes. Approximately 99.2% of the holders accepted the offer, resulting in $2 million
outstanding as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. We (a) issued an aggregate of 28.6 million shares of our common
stock (104.8108 shares per $1,000 principal) and paid an aggregate cash premium of $41 million ($150 per $1,000
principal) to the holders who exchanged their notes and (b) recognized a charge of $37 million for the debt conversion
expense during 2006. This represented a non-cash conversion of debt to equity of $273 million.

Orion Power Holdings Senior Notes. These notes were recorded at a fair value of $479 million upon the acquisition
of Orion Power. The $79 million premium is being amortized to interest expense over the life of the notes. The senior
notes are senior unsecured obligations of Orion Power Holdings, are not guaranteed by any of Orion Power Holdings
subsidiaries and are non-recourse to Reliant Energy. The senior notes have covenants that restrict the ability of Orion
Power Holdings and its subsidiaries to, among other actions, (a) pay dividends or pay subordinated debt, (b) incur
indebtedness or issue preferred stock, (c) make investments, (d) divest assets, (€) encumber its assets, (f) enter into
transactions with affiliates, (g) engage in unrelated businesses and (h) engage in sale and leaseback transactions. As of
December 31, 2007, conditions under these covenants were not met that allow the payment of dividends by Orion
Power Holdings. As of December 31, 2007, the adjusted net assets of Orion Power that are restricted to Reliant
Energy are $1.3 billion.

Reliant Energy Seward, LLC PEDFA Bonds. Reliant Energy Seward, LLC (Seward) partially financed the
construction of its power plant with proceeds from the issuance of tax-exempt revenue bonds by PEDFA. These bonds
are guaranteed by Reliant Energy and each guarantee is secured by the same collateral as and has covenants similar to
our senior secured notes. If our June 2007 credit facilities become unsecured and certain ratios are achieved for two
consecutive quarters, the PEDFA bonds will become secured by only certain assets of our Seward power plant. Upon
a change of control, the guarantees require that an offer to purchase the bonds be made at a purchase price of 101% of
the principal amount.

REMA Term Loans. Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic Power Holdings, LLC (REMA LLC) and its subsidiaries (REMA)

have sale-leaseback agreements with respect to three of their generating facilities. During 2005, term loans (which
provided required credit support) were paid in full and replaced with letters of credit. See note 12(a).
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Channelview LP. Channelview LP was deconsolidated on August 20, 2007. See notes 1 and 21. Channelview LP
entered into a credit agreement that financed the construction of a power plant. The credit agreement consisted of
(a) $369 million in term loans and (b) $14 million revolving working capital facility that matured in 2007.
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Retail Working Capital Facility. In connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure, on December 1, 2006, we
entered into a $300 million working capital facility agreement with Merrill Lynch. Loans bear interest at LIBOR plus
0.45% or a base rate. Borrowings under this facility will mature on the 90th day after the termination of the credit
sleeve and reimbursement agreement with Merrill Lynch. The working capital facility includes a $150 million
minimum adjusted EBITDA requirement for RERH Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries (RERH Holdings) for each
trailing four-quarter period. The covenants under the credit sleeve and reimbursement agreement with Merrill Lynch
also apply to the working capital facility. See note 7 for discussion on security for the retail working capital facility.
The obligations of RERH Holdings are non-recourse to Reliant Energy.

(d) Warrants.

In March 2003, we issued 7.8 million common stock warrants with an exercise price of $5.09 per share in connection
with a credit facility. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, 5,149,656 and 6,920,122 warrants, respectively, were
outstanding and expire in August 2008. We recorded the fair value of the warrants ($15 million) as a discount to debt
and an increase to additional paid-in capital. We amortize the debt discount to interest expense over the life of the
related debt. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, the amortization was insignificant.

(e) Interest Rate Derivative Instruments.

Historically, we have used interest rate swaps and caps to hedge a portion of the floating interest rate risk associated
with our floating rate long-term debt. Some swaps used to hedge our exposure were designated as cash flow hedges,
with the effective portion of gains and losses, net of tax, recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss. The
interest rate derivatives not designated as cash flow hedges were marked to market. We reclassify gains and losses on
the designated hedges from accumulated other comprehensive loss into interest expense during the periods in which
the interest payments being hedged occurred. See notes 2(d) and 5 for information regarding our derivatives.

Expirations. As of December 31, 2005, the LIBOR interest rate caps associated with Reliant Energy s credit facilities
and the interest rate swaps related to the Channelview credit facilities expired. During 2005, we recorded $9 million in
interest expense related to these instruments.

Terminations. In 2002, we liquidated forward-starting interest rate swaps having a notional value of $1.0 billion. As
of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we have $1 million and $4 million, respectively, of deferred losses in accumulated
other comprehensive loss related to these interest rate swaps. We are amortizing these losses into interest expense
through 2012 for the forward-starting interest rate swaps. As of December 31, 2007, an insignificant amount of
accumulated other comprehensive loss is expected to be reclassified into interest expense during the next 12 months.

(7) Credit-Enhanced Retail Structure
The credit sleeve and reimbursement agreement (the agreement) and a working capital facility agreement, providing
for revolving credit loans, each with Merrill Lynch became effective on December 1, 2006, which substantially

eliminated collateral postings for our retail energy business.

Under the agreement, Merrill Lynch provides guarantees and the posting of collateral to our counterparties in supply
transactions for our retail energy business. Cash flow activity in connection with these contracts and related collateral
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is classified as operating cash flow. During 2006, we recorded an unrealized loss on energy derivatives of $18 million
due to the differences in quantity between our contracts with Merrill Lynch and its contracts with the exchange
relating to existing financially settled supply contracts.
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We paid Merrill Lynch one-time structuring fees of $14 million ($13 million in 2006 and $1 million in 2007), which
were expensed as general and administrative costs. We also pay a fee to Merrill Lynch of $0.40 for each megawatt
hour (MWh) of power that we deliver to our retail customers. This fee ($26 million and $2 million during 2007 and
2006, respectively) is classified as interest expense. We are obligated to reimburse Merrill Lynch to the extent that any
guarantees are called upon or any collateral posted by Merrill Lynch is foreclosed upon.

The initial term of the agreement was five years; effective December 31, 2007, the term was extended by an additional
year. We are permitted to terminate at any time, subject to a make-whole payment during the first two years of the
agreement. Merrill Lynch does not have an early termination option.

In connection with the agreement, we implemented a structure so that the entities comprising our retail energy
business became subsidiaries of RERH Holdings, LLC. The agreement (a) restricts the ability of RERH Holdings to,
among other actions, (i) encumber its assets, (ii) sell certain assets, (iii) incur additional debt, (iv) pay dividends or pay
subordinated debt, (v) make investments or acquisitions or (vi) enter into certain transactions with affiliates and

(b) requires us to manage our risks related to commodity prices. Our obligations under the agreement with Merrill
Lynch and the retail working capital facility are secured by first liens on the assets of RERH Holdings. RERH
Holdings, as well as our subsidiaries Reliant Energy Trademark Trust and Reliant Energy IT Trust that provide
trademark assets and information technology services to our retail energy business, are designed to maintain the
separate nature of their assets, avoid consolidation of such assets with the bankruptcy estate of Reliant Energy in the
event Reliant Energy ever becomes subject to such a proceeding, and ensure that such assets are available first and
foremost to satisfy their creditors claims. The obligations of RERH Holdings under the agreement and the retail
working capital facility are non-recourse to Reliant Energy. See note 6(c) for discussion of the retail working capital
facility.

(8) Stockholders Equity
The following describes our capital stock activity:
Common Treasury

Stock Stock
(Shares in thousands)

As of January 1, 2005 299,684 128
Issued to benefit plans 4,877 (128)
Issued for warrants 339

As of December 31, 2005 304,900

Issued to benefit plans 3,732

Issued for warrants 390

Issued for converted debt 28,601

As of December 31, 2006 337,623

Issued to benefit plans 5,562
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(9) Earnings Per Share

Reconciliations of the amounts used in the basic and diluted earnings (loss) per common share computations are:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)
Income (loss) from continuing operations (basic) $ 358 $ (327) $ 441
Plus: Interest expense on 5.00% convertible senior subordinated notes, net of
tax (D ) 2)
Income (loss) from continuing operations (diluted) $ 358 $ (327) $ 441

(1) In December 2006, we converted 99.2% of our convertible senior subordinated notes to common stock.

(2) As we incurred a loss from continuing operations for this period, diluted loss per share is calculated the same as
basic loss per share.

2007 2006 2005
(Shares in thousands)

Diluted Weighted Average Shares Calculation:

Weighted average shares outstanding (basic) 342,467 307,705 302,409
Plus: Incremental shares from assumed conversions:

Stock options 4,885 1) )
Restricted stock 505 1) o))
Employee stock purchase plan 47 1)) )
5.00% convertible senior subordinated notes 2132 ) 1))
Warrants 4,674 1) )
Weighted average shares outstanding assuming conversion (diluted) 352,791 307,705 302,409

(1) See footnote 2 above regarding diluted loss per share.
(2) See footnote 1 above.

We excluded the following items from diluted earnings (loss) per common share due to the anti-dilutive effect:
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2007 2006 2005
(Shares in thousands, dollars in
millions)
Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings/loss per share N/A@) 35,9512)@3) 36,538(3)
Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted earnings/loss per share
because the exercise price exceeded the average market price 2,005@4) 2,536(4) 44714
Interest expense (after-tax) that would be added to income if 5.00%
convertible senior subordinated notes were dilutive N/An  $ 92 $ 9

(1) Not applicable as we included the item in the calculation of diluted earnings/loss per share.

(2) On December 21, 2006, we converted 99.2% of our convertible senior subordinated notes to common stock. See
note 6.

(3) Potential shares excluded consist of convertible senior subordinated notes, warrants, stock options, restricted
stock, performance-based shares and shares related to the employee stock purchase plan.

(4) Includes stock options.
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(10) Stock-Based Incentive Plans and Benefit Plans
(a) Stock-Based Incentive Plans.

Overview of Plans. The Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors administers our stock-based incentive
plans. The Reliant Energy, Inc. 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan and the Reliant Energy, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan permit
us to grant various stock-based incentive awards to officers, key employees and directors. Awards may include stock
options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance awards, cash awards and stock
awards.

As of December 31, 2007, 37 million shares are authorized for issuance under our stock-based incentive plans. No
more than 25% of these shares can be granted as stock-based awards other than options. We have generally issued
new shares when stock options are exercised and for other equity-based awards.

Summary. Prior to January 1, 2006, we applied the intrinsic value method of accounting for employee stock-based
incentive plans (APB No. 25). Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (SFAS No. 123R) (using the modified prospective method). SFAS No. 123R
requires compensation costs related to share-based transactions to be recognized in the financial statements based on
estimated fair values at the grant dates. Our financial statements for 2007 and 2006 reflect the impact of

SFAS No. 123R; however, our financial statements for 2005 have not been restated to reflect, and do not include, the
impact of the new standard. Our compensation expense for our stock-based incentive plans was:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)
Stock-based incentive plans compensation expense (pre-tax) $ 26 $ 30 $ 8

Income tax impact (before impact of the valuation allowances) $ $ © $3

We did not capitalize any stock-based compensation costs as an asset during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

We recorded a cumulative effect of an accounting change of $2 million ($1 million, net of tax) during the first quarter
of 2006 for the estimated future forfeitures for the unvested awards outstanding as of January 1, 2006. During the
fourth quarter of 2006, we adopted the alternative transition method to calculate excess tax benefits available to
absorb tax deficiencies recognized subsequent to the adoption. This resulted in zero excess tax benefits.

Valuation Data. Below is the description of the methods used during the indicated periods to estimate the fair value
of our various awards.
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Award:
Time-based stock options!)

Time-based restricted stock®
Time-based cash®

Performance-based stock®

Performance-based options*)

Performance-based cash(V®)

Employee stock purchase plan

After January 1, 2006
(SFAS No. 123R)

Black-Scholes option-pricing model
value on the grant date
No change

No change

Market price of our common stock
on each reporting measurement date
until accounting grant date
Black-Scholes option-pricing model
value on each reporting
measurement date until accounting
grant date

No change

Black-Scholes option-pricing model
value on the first day of the offering
period

(1) No awards were granted during 2006.

Prior to January 1, 2006
(APB No. 25)

Intrinsic value on the grant date

Market price of our common stock
on the grant date

Market price of our common stock
on each reporting measurement date
Market price of our common stock
on each reporting measurement date

Intrinsic value of option on each
reporting measurement date

Market price of our common stock
on each reporting measurement date
No compensation expense recorded

(2) Restricted stock and restricted stock units are referred to as restricted stock.

(3) These are liability-classified awards under SFAS No. 123R.

(4) No awards were granted in 2007 and 2006.

Time-Based Stock Options. We grant time-based stock options to officers, key employees and directors at an exercise
price equal to the market value of our common stock on the grant date. Generally, options vest 33.33% per year for
three years and have a term of 10 years. Beginning January 1, 2006, compensation expense is measured at fair value
on the grant date, net of estimated forfeitures, and expensed on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period

for the entire award.

Summarized time-based option activity is:
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Beginning of period
Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Expired

End of period

Exercisable at end of period
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Options

7,864,352
541,907
(2,196,713)(D)
(49,930)
(413,862)

5,745,7540)3)
5,243,775

F-29

Average
Exercise
Price

$ 1398

18.36

9.43
16.26
26.54

15.21

14.90

Average
Remaining
Contractual
Term (Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in
millions)

$ 37

71

67
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(1) Received proceeds of $21 million. Intrinsic value was $26 million on the exercise dates. No tax benefits were
realized in 2007 due to our net operating loss carryforwards.

(2) We estimate that 115,798 of these will be forfeited.

(3) As of December 31, 2007, the total compensation cost related to nonvested time-based stock options not yet
recognized and the weighted-average period over which it is expected to be recognized is $2 million and
2 years, respectively.

2006 2005
(in millions,
except per unit

amounts)
Weighted average grant date fair value of the time-based options granted $ $ 7.18
Proceeds from exercise of time-based options 16 29
Intrinsic value of exercised time-based options 8 17
Tax benefits realized (1 1

(1) None realized due to our net operating loss carryforwards.

Our time-based stock option awards are based on the following weighted average assumptions and resulting fair value.
No time-based stock options awards were granted during 2006.

2007
Expected term in years) 6
Estimated volatility® 31.04%
Risk free interest rate 4.63%
Dividend yield 0%
Weighted-average fair value $ 732

(1) The expected term is based on a binomial lattice model.
(2) We estimate volatility based on historical and implied volatility of our common stock.
Time-Based Restricted Stock Awards. We grant time-based restricted stock awards to officers, key employees and

directors. In general, these awards vest, subject to the participant s continued employment, three years from the grant
date. Beginning January 1, 2006, compensation expense is measured at fair value on the grant date, net of estimated
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Summarized restricted stock award activity is:

2007
Weighted

Average Grant

Shares Date Fair Value

Beginning of period 1,095,469 $ 9.95
Granted 456,776 18.91
Vested (429,779)H 8.85
Forfeited (75,063) 13.71
End of period 1,047,403(2) 14.04

December 31, 2007 total compensation cost related to nonvested time-based
restricted stock awards not yet recognized $ 6 million

Weighted average period over which the nonvested time-based restricted
stock is expected to be recognized 2 years

(1) Based on the market price of our common stock on the vesting date, $9 million in fair value vested.

(2) We estimate that 133,415 of these will be forfeited.

2006 2005
(in millions, except per
unit amounts)

Fair value of time-based restricted stock that vested based on market price of our common
stock on the vesting date $ 11 $ 9
Weighted-average grant date fair value of time-based restricted stock granted 11.64 12.65

Time-Based Cash Awards. We grant time-based cash awards (cash units with each cash unit having an equivalent fair
market value of one share of our common stock on the vesting date) to officers and key employees. In general, these
awards vest, subject to the participant s continued employment, three years from the grant date. Compensation expense
is measured at fair value on each financial reporting measurement date, net of estimated forfeitures, and expensed on a
straight-line basis over the requisite service period. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had $8 million liability

and $7 million liability, respectively, recorded for these awards.
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During 2007, 392,126 time-based cash awards vested and were paid in the amount of $8 million. During 2006 and
2005, no time-based cash awards vested and we did not pay cash for any stock-based liabilities. As of December 31,
2007, the total compensation cost related to nonvested time-based cash awards not yet recognized is $6 million and
the weighted-average period over which it is expected to be recognized is two years.

Performance-Based and Market-Based Awards. We grant performance-based and market-based awards to officers
and key employees. The number of performance-based awards earned is determined at the end of each performance
period. As of December 31, 2007, there were no outstanding performance-based or market-based awards. Beginning
January 1, 2006, compensation expense is measured at fair value, net of estimated forfeitures, at each reporting
measurement date preceding the grant date for accounting purposes. We have broadly interpreted the criteria for
determining if the service inception date precedes the grant date for our performance-based awards under

SFAS No. 123R. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we had $0 and $15 million liability, respectively, recorded for
these awards.

During February 2007, the compensation committee of our board of directors granted stock-based compensation
awards to 47 of our officers under the Reliant Energy, Inc. 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan. The
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committee granted 345,358 market-based cash units, 429,221 time-based stock options (included in the time-based
stock options disclosures above) and 200,314 time-based restricted stock units (included in the time-based restricted
stock award disclosures above). Our common stock closed at $23 or higher for 20 consecutive trading days on June 1,
2007. Accordingly, all of the outstanding market-based cash units (326,048) vested according to their terms and we
recognized expense and paid in cash of $8 million during 2007 related to these units.

The Compensation Committee granted the 2004-2006 performance-based awards through the Key Employee Award
Program (the Key Employee Program) established under the Reliant Energy, Inc. 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
Under the Key Employee Program, each performance-based award represented a targeted award of (a) 16,000 shares
of performance-based stock, (b) 68,000 performance-based stock options and (c) 16,000 cash units with each cash unit
having an equivalent fair market value of one share of our common stock on the vesting date. The three-year
performance period ended on December 31, 2006. On January 26, 2007, the Compensation Committee determined the
payout percentage was 80%.

Summarized performance-based stock award activity of the Key Employee Program based on the 80% achievement
is:

2007
Reporting
Measurement
Shares Date Fair Value
Beginning of period 1,004,800  $ 14.48
Vested (1,004,800) 14.48
End of period N/A

(1) Based on the market price of our common stock on the vesting date, $15 million in fair value vested.

Summarized performance-based option activity of the Key Employee Program is:

2007
Weighted
Average
Weighted Remaining
Average Contractual  Aggregate

Exercise Term Intrinsic
Options Price (Years) Value
(in
millions)
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Beginning of period 4,270,400 $ 836 7 9% 25
Exercised (1,366,600)(D) 8.40

End of period 2,903,800 8.33 6 52
Exercisable at end of period 2,903,800 8.33 6 52
Weighted average grant date fair value N/A

(1) Received proceeds of $11 million, intrinsic value was $19 million on the exercise dates. No tax benefits were
realized in 2007 due to our net operating loss carryforwards.
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Our option awards under the Key Employee Program are based on the following weighted average assumptions and
resulting fair values for 2007 and 2006:

Expected term in years) 3
Estimated volatility® 31.21%
Risk-free interest rate 4.9%
Dividend yield 0%
Weighted-average fair value $ 752

(1) The expected term is based on a projection of exercise behavior considering the contractual terms and the
participants of the option awards.

(2) We estimated volatility based on historical and implied volatility of our common stock.

The performance-based cash units under the Key Employee Program (1,004,800) vested and we paid $15 million in
cash during 2007 related to these units.

Other than the performance-based and market-based awards that vested in 2007, there were no other material
performance-based or market-based awards that vested in 2007, 2006 and 2005.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. We have 18 million shares of authorized common stock reserved and approved for
issuance under the Reliant Energy, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP). Under the ESPP, substantially all
employees can purchase our common stock through payroll deductions of up to 15% of eligible compensation during
semiannual offering periods commencing on January 1 and July 1 of each year. The share price paid by participants
equals 85% of the lesser of the average market price on the first or last business day of each offering period.

The estimated fair value of the discounted share price element in our ESPP is based on the following weighted
average assumptions:

2007 2006 20051
Expected term in years 0.5 0.5 0.5
Estimated volatility® 21.32% 42.96% 32.97%
Risk-free interest rate 5.07% 4.74% 2.94%
Dividend yield 0% 0% 0%
Weighted-average fair value $ 387 $ 3.02 $ 3.25

(1) Because we applied APB No. 25 during 2005, this was only used for pro-forma data.
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(2) We estimated volatility based on the historical volatility of our common stock.

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we issued 786,458 shares, 859,549 shares and 838,120 shares, respectively, under the
ESPP and received $9 million, $8 million and $8 million, respectively, from the sale of shares to employees.
Approximately 10 million reserved unissued shares were available under the ESPP as of December 31, 2007.
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Pro-forma Data for 2005. If employee stock-based compensation costs had been expensed based on the fair value
(determined using the Black-Scholes model and market price of our common stock) method of accounting applied to
all stock-based awards, our pro forma results would be:

2005
(in millions, except
per-share amounts)

Net loss, as reported $ (331)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense included in reported net loss, net of

related tax effects 5
Deduct: Total stock-based employee compensation expense determined under fair value

based method for all awards, net of related tax effects (17
Pro forma net loss $ (343)
Loss per share:

Basic and diluted, as reported $ (1.09)
Basic and diluted, pro forma $ (1.13)

We used the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions and resulting fair
values:

Options
2005
Expected term in years 5
Estimated volatility" 45.75%
Risk-free interest rate 4.18%
Dividend yield 0%
Weighted-average fair value $ 572

(1) We estimated volatility based on an equal weighting of historical and implied volatility of our common stock.

Classification. Through December 31, 2005, our accruals for our stock-based incentive awards were recorded as
liabilities. Beginning January 1, 2006, for stock-based equity awards, we reclassified our accrual of $23 million to
equity, of which $5 million was classified as temporary equity stock-based compensation based on the redemption
amount of the award as of the grant date, and the remainder was classified as additional paid-in capital in stockholders
equity. Some of our stock-based equity awards provide for the settlement of the award in cash by us pursuant to
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change of control provisions and we do not believe it is probable these awards will become redeemable.

Other. We did not use cash to settle equity instruments granted under stock-based compensation plans during 2007,
2006 or 2005. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, there were no significant modifications to our outstanding stock-based
awards.

(b) Pension and Postretirement Benefits.

Benefit Plans. We sponsor multiple defined benefit pension plans. We provide subsidized postretirement benefits to
some bargaining employees but generally do not provide them to non-bargaining employees.

Effective December 31, 2006, we adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. This statement requires recognition of the
funded status of plans, measured as of year end. We already use the required measurement date. The adoption did not
have a material effect on any individual line item of our consolidated balance sheet
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as of December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2007, $0 and $2 million of net actuarial loss and net prior service costs,
respectively, in accumulated other comprehensive loss are expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost

during the next 12 months.

Our benefit obligations and funded status are:

Change in Benefit Obligation
Beginning of year

Service cost

Interest cost

Benefits paid

Actuarial gain

End of year

Change in Plan Assets
Beginning of year
Employer contributions
Benefits paid

Actual investment return

End of year

Funded status

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are:

Current liabilities
Noncurrent liabilities

Net amount recognized

Table of Contents

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
2007 2006 2007 2006
(in millions)

$ 90 $ 82 $ 73 $ 67

6 6 2 2
5 5 4 4
() 2

(1) ey (1)

$ 98 $ 90 $ 78 $ 73

$ 59 $ 50 $ $
14 4
3) (2)
5 7

$ 75 $ 59 $ $

$ (23) $ 3D $ (78 $ (73)

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
December 31, December 31,

2007 2006 2007 2006
(in millions)

$ $ $ @ §$
(23) €2y (76) (72)

$ 23 $ 3 $ (78 $ (73
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The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans was $87 million and $81 million as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. All pension plans have accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets.
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Net benefit costs are:
Postretirement
Pension Benefits

2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Service cost $ 6 $ 6 $ 6 $2 $ 2 §$ 2
Interest cost 5 5 4 4 4 4
Expected return on plan assets 4 4) 3)
Net amortization 1 1 1 2
Net benefit cost $ 8 $ 8 $ 8 $6 $§ 6 § 8
Assumptions. The significant weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations are:
Postretirement
Pension Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2007 2006
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
The significant weighted average assumptions used to determine the net benefit costs are:
Pension Postretirement Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% N/A N/A N/A

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we developed our expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets based
on third party models. These models consider expected inflation, current dividend yields, expected corporate earnings
growth and risk premiums based on the expected volatility of each asset category. We weight the expected long-term
rates of return for each asset category to determine our overall expected long-term rate of return on pension plan
assets. In addition, we review peer data and historical returns.
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Our assumed health care cost trend rates used to measure the expected cost of benefits covered by our postretirement
plans are:

2007 2006 2005
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 8.3% 9.0% 9.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to gradually decline (ultimate
trend rate) 5.5% 5.5% 5.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 2015 2011

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for our health care plans. A
one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects as of
December 31, 2007:

One-Percentage
Point
Increase  Decrease
(in millions)

Effect on service and interest cost $ 1 $ (D)
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 10 ©)
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Plan Assets. Our pension weighted average asset allocations and target allocation by asset category are:

Percentage of Plan

Assets Target
as of December 31, Allocation
2007 2006 2008

Domestic equity securities 49% 50% 50%
International equity securities 10 11 10
Global equity securities 10 11 10
Debt securities 31 28 30
Total 100% 100% 100%

In managing the investments associated with the pension plans, our objective is to exceed, on a net-of-fee basis, the
rate of return of a performance benchmark composed of the following indices:

Asset Class Index Weight
Domestic equity securities Wilshire 5000 Index 50%
International equity securities MSCI All Country World Ex-U.S. Index 10
Global equity securities MSCI All Country World Index 10
Debt securities Lehman Brothers Aggregate Bond Index 30
100%

As a secondary measure, we compare asset performance to the returns of a universe of comparable funds, where
applicable, over a full market cycle. Our Benefits Committee reviews plan asset performance each quarter by
comparing the actual quarterly returns of each asset class to its related benchmark. Our plan assets have generally
performed in accordance with the benchmarks.

Cash Obligations. We expect pension cash contributions to approximate $2 million during 2008. Expected benefit

payments for the next ten years, which reflect future service as appropriate, are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
(in millions)

2008 $ 3 $ 2
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2009 3 3
2010 4 3
2011 4 4
2012 5 5
2013-2017 39 33

(c) Savings Plan.

We have employee savings plans under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. Our savings plans
benefit expense, including the matching contributions of generally up to 6% and discretionary contributions, was
$24 million, $19 million and $19 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

We sponsor non-qualified deferred compensation plans for key and highly compensated employees. Our obligations
under these plans were $41 million and $39 million and related rabbi trust investments were $29 million and

$28 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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(d) Other Employee Matters.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 29% of our employees are subject to collective bargaining arrangements.
Approximately 4% of our employees are subject to collective bargaining arrangements that will expire in 2008.

(11) Income Taxes
(a) Summary.

Our income tax expense (benefit) is:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Current:
Federal $ $ $ 7
State 16 30 19
Total current 16 30 26
Deferred:
Federal 121 (19) (305)
State () (133) 26
Total deferred 119 (152) 279)
Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations $ 135 $ (122) $ (253)
Income tax expense (benefit) from discontinued operations $ $ B $ (68

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate for our continuing operations
is:

2007 2006 2005
Federal statutory rate 35% (35% (35%
Additions (reductions) resulting from:
Federal tax uncertainties (D) 3 1
Federal valuation allowance(D) @) 15(2)
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes 203) (12)® 4
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Capital loss valuation allowances

Debt conversion expense 3
Changes in estimates of deferred tax assets and liabilities

Other, net (2) (1)
Effective rate 27% 27 %

(1) Our changes to the federal valuation allowance are recorded at Reliant Energy, Inc.
(2) Of this percentage, $18 million (4%) relates to the reduction of net deferred tax assets.

(3) Of this percentage, $18 million (4%) relates to a decrease in our state valuation allowances.

(12)

36)%

(4) Of this percentage, $40 million (9%) relates to Pennsylvania state law changes, which effectively decreased all

limitations to use net operating losses in that state.
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December 31,
2007 2006

(in millions)

Deferred tax assets:

Current:

Derivative liabilities, net $ 86 $ 275
Western states settlement 13
Allowance for doubtful accounts 13 13
Employee benefits 7 4
Federal valuation allowance (10)
State valuation allowances (15)
Other 9 4
Total current deferred tax assets 115 284
Non-current:

Employee benefits 68 73
Net operating loss carryforwards 629 620
Capital loss carryforwards 9
Environmental reserves 11 11
Derivative liabilities, net 42 92
Other 62 44
Federal valuation allowance (14) (50)
State valuation allowances 67) (70)
Other valuation allowances (22) (18)
Total non-current deferred tax assets 718 702
Total deferred tax assets $ 833 $ 986

Deferred tax liabilities:

Current:

Other $ $ 09
Total current deferred tax liabilities 9
Non-current:

Depreciation and amortization 653 622
Other 12 6
Total non-current deferred tax liabilities 665 628
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Total deferred tax liabilities $ 665 $ 637

Accumulated deferred income taxes, net $ 168 $ 349
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(b) Tax Attribute Carryovers.

Statutory
December 31, Carryforward Expiration
2007 Period Year(s)

(in millions) (in years)
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards:
Federal $ 1,284 20 2022 through 2027
State 3,257 5to 20 2008 through 2027
Foreign 64 7to 10 2008 through 2014
Capital Loss Carryforwards 26 5 2012
Charitable Contribution Carryforwards 4 5 2009 through 2012
State Tax Credit Carryforwards 6 1to20 2008 through 2027

(c) Valuation Allowances.

We assess our future ability to use federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards, capital loss
carryforwards and other deferred tax assets using the more-likely-than-not criteria. These assessments include an
evaluation of our recent history of earnings and losses, future reversals of temporary differences and identification of
other sources of future taxable income, including the identification of tax planning strategies in certain situations.

Our valuation allowances for deferred tax assets are:

Capital,
Foreign
and Other,
Federal State Net
(in
millions)

As of January 1, 2005 $ $ 96 $ 138
Changes in valuation allowance ) 117D
As of December 31, 2005 95 21
Changes in valuation allowance 5002 (14) 3
Changes in valuation allowance included in
accumulated other comprehensive loss 10
Other, net 4
As of December 31, 2006 60 85 18
Changes in valuation allowance (B7HB® (18)® 4
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Changes in valuation allowance included in

accumulated other comprehensive loss 4
Channelview deconsolidation 13)®
As of December 31, 2007 $ 14 $ 67 $ 22

(1) Net decrease is primarily due to net capital gains recorded during the year and the identification of various tax
planning strategies with respect to the sale of assets. Of the capital loss carryforward impact of $120 million,
$82 million is recorded in continuing operations and $38 million is recorded in discontinued operations.

(2) Net increase is primarily due to our recent history of losses and the change in our net federal deferred tax assets.

(3) During 2007, we submitted a revision to taxable income to the Internal Revenue Service filed in our 2003
federal income tax return, which resulted in an increase in our net deferred tax assets related to our net operating
losses, which was offset by an increase in our valuation allowance of $19 million.

(4) Net decrease is primarily due to 2007 pre-tax income.

(5) Channelview was deconsolidated on August 20, 2007. See notes 1 and 21.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(d) Adoption of FIN 48 and Tax Uncertainties.

Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes, (FIN 48). This interpretation addresses whether (and when) tax benefits claimed in our
tax returns should be recorded in our financial statements. Pursuant to FIN 48, we may only recognize the tax benefit
for financial reporting purposes from an uncertain tax position when it is more-likely-than-not that, based on the
technical merits, the position will be sustained by taxing authorities or the courts. The recognized tax benefits are
measured as the largest benefit having a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a
taxing authority. FIN 48 also provides guidance for derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, disclosures,
transition rules and related matters. We classify accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain income tax

positions in income tax expense/benefit.

In connection with the adoption, we recognized the following in our consolidated financial statements:

Goodwill
Other long-term liabilities
Retained deficit

Our unrecognized tax benefits changed as follows:

Beginning of year (immediately after adoption)
Increases related to prior years

Decreases related to prior years

Increases related to current year

Settlements

Lapses in the statute of limitations

End of year

Adoption Effect on
January 1, 2007
Increase (Decrease)
(in millions)

$ 2

27)
(25)

2007
(in millions)

$ 4
11

11
3)

We have the following in our consolidated balance sheet (included in other long-term liabilities):
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(Immediately After December 31,
Adoption) 2007
(in millions)

Interest and penalties(!) $ 3 $

(1) The activity during 2007 was insignificant.

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we recognized $(2) million, $6 million and $1 million, respectively, of income tax
expense (benefit) due to changes in interest and penalties for federal and state income taxes.

We have the following years that remain subject to examination or are currently under audit for our major tax
jurisdictions:

Subject to
Examination Currently Under Audit
Federal 1997 to 2007 1997 to 2005
Texas 2000 to 2007 2000 to 2005
Pennsylvania 2004 to 2007 2006
California 2003 to 2007 2003 to 2006
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We expect to continue discussions with taxing authorities regarding tax positions related to the following, and believe
it is reasonably possible some of these matters could be resolved during 2008; however, we cannot estimate the range
of changes that might occur:

$177 million payment to CenterPoint during 2004 related to our residential customers;

$351 million charge during 2005 to settle certain civil litigation and claims relating to the Western states
energy crisis (see note 14(a)); and

the timing of tax deductions as a result of negotiations with respect to California-related revenue, depreciation,
emission allowances and certain employee benefits.

Agreement with CenterPoint. We ceased being a member of the CenterPoint consolidated tax group as of

September 30, 2002 and could be limited in our ability to use tax attributes related to periods through that date.
CenterPoint s income tax returns for the 1997 to 2002 tax reporting periods are under audit by federal and state taxing
authorities. We have a tax allocation agreement that addresses the allocation of taxes pertaining to our separation from
CenterPoint. This agreement provides that we may carry back net operating losses generated subsequent to

September 30, 2002 to tax years when we were part of CenterPoint s consolidated tax group. Any such carryback is
subject to CenterPoint s consent and any existing statutory carryback limitations. For items relating to periods prior to
September 30, 2002, we will (a) recognize any net costs incurred by CenterPoint for temporary differences up to

$15 million (of which $0 has been recognized through December 31, 2007) as an equity contribution and

(b) recognize any net benefits realized by CenterPoint for temporary differences up to $1 million as an equity
distribution. Generally, amounts for temporary differences in excess of the $15 million and $1 million thresholds will
be settled in cash between us and CenterPoint. Pursuant to this agreement, generally, taxes related to permanent
differences are the responsibility of CenterPoint. As of December 31, 2007, we cannot predict the amount of any
contingent liabilities or assets that we may incur or realize under this agreement.

(12) Commitments
(a) Lease Commitments.

REMA Leases. One of our subsidiaries, REMA, entered into sale-leaseback transactions, under operating leases that
are non-recourse to us. We lease 16.45% and 16.67% interests in the Conemaugh and Keystone facilities, respectively.
The leases expire in 2034 and we expect to make payments through 2029. We also lease a 100% interest in the
Shawville facility. This lease expires in 2026 and we expect to make payments through that date. At the expiration of
these leases, there are several renewal options related to fair market value. REMA LLC s subsidiaries guarantee the
lease obligations and we have pledged the equity interests in these subsidiaries as collateral. We provide credit support
for REMA s lease obligations in the form of letters of credit under the June 2007 credit facilities. See note 6. During
2007, 2006 and 2005, we made lease payments under these leases of $65 million, $64 million and $75 million,
respectively. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, we have recorded a prepaid lease of $59 million in other current
assets and $270 million and $264 million, respectively, in noncurrent assets. REMA operates the Conemaugh and
Keystone facilities under agreements that could terminate annually with one year s notice and received fees of

$10 million, $9 million and $9 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These fees, which are recorded in
operation and maintenance expense, are primarily to cover REMA s administrative support costs of providing these
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services.

REMA s ability to pay dividends or pay subordinated obligations is restricted by conditions within the lease
documents. As of December 31, 2007, REMA was not limited by these restrictions.

Tolling Agreements. As of December 31, 2007, we have a tolling arrangement that extends through 2012. This
arrangement, which qualifies as an operating lease, entitles us to purchase and dispatch electric
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generating capacity. We paid $39 million, $63 million and $64 million in tolling payments during 2007, 2006 and
2005, respectively, related to this tolling arrangement and one that expired in 2007.

Office Space Lease. In 2003, we entered into a long-term operating lease for our corporate headquarters. The lease
expires in 2018 and is subject to two five-year renewal options.

Cash Obligations Under Operating Leases. Our projected cash obligations under non-cancelable long-term operating
leases as of December 31, 2007 are:

REMA
Leases OtherW® Total
(in millions)

2008 $ 62 $ 76 $ 138
2009 63 78 141
2010 52 76 128
2011 63 66 129
2012 56 34 90
2013 and thereafter 763 137 900
Total $ 1,059 $ 467 $ 1,526

(1) Includes tolling arrangement, rental agreements for office space and capacity commitments accounted for as
leases.

(2) Excludes projected sublease income on office space of $48 million.

Operating Lease Expense. Total lease expense for all operating leases was $135 million, $156 million and
$152 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(b) Guarantees and Indemnifications.
We have guaranteed some non-qualified benefits of CenterPoint s existing retirees at September 20, 2002. The
estimated maximum potential amount of future payments under the guarantee was approximately $55 million as of

December 31, 2007 and no liability is recorded in our consolidated balance sheets for this item.

In addition, we are also required to indemnify CenterPoint for certain liabilities relating to the initial public offering of
our common stock.

We also guarantee the $500 million PEDFA bonds, which are included in our consolidated balance sheet as
outstanding debt. Our guarantees are secured by guarantees from some of our subsidiaries. The guarantees require us
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to comply with covenants substantially identical to those in the 6.75% senior secured notes indenture. The PEDFA
bonds will become secured by certain assets of our Seward power plant if the collateral supporting both the

6.75% senior secured notes and our guarantees are released. Our maximum potential obligation under the guarantees
is for payment of the principal of $500 million and related interest charges at a fixed rate of 6.75%.

We have guaranteed payments to a third party relating to energy sales from El Dorado Energy, LLC, a former
investment. The estimated maximum potential amount of future payments under this guarantee was approximately
$21 million as of December 31, 2007 and no liability is recorded in our consolidated balance sheets for this item.

We enter into contracts that include indemnification and guarantee provisions. In general, we enter into contracts with
indemnities for matters such as breaches of representations and warranties and covenants contained in the contract
and/or against certain specified liabilities. Examples of these contracts include asset sales agreements, retail supply
agreements, service agreements and procurement agreements.
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In our debt agreements, we typically indemnify against liabilities that arise from the preparation, entry into,
administration or enforcement of the agreement.

Except as otherwise noted, we are unable to estimate our maximum potential exposure under these agreements until
an event triggering payment occurs. We do not expect to make any material payments under these agreements.

Reliant Energy has issued guarantees in conjunction with certain performance agreements and commodity and
derivative contracts and other contracts that provide financial assurance to third parties on behalf of a subsidiary or an
unconsolidated third party. The guarantees on behalf of subsidiaries are entered into primarily to support or enhance
the creditworthiness otherwise attributed to a subsidiary on a stand-alone basis, thereby facilitating the extension of
sufficient credit to accomplish the relevant subsidiary s intended commercial purposes.

The following table details Reliant Energy s various guarantees:

December 31, 2007
Stated
Carrying
Maximum Amount
Potential of Liability
Amount of Assets Held Recorded on
Future Amount As
Type of Guarantee Payments Utilized™® Collateral Balance Sheet
(in millions)
Commodity obligations® $ 3,173 $ 196 $ $
Standby letters of credit® 302 302
Payment and performance obligations
under service contracts and leases® 35
Non-qualified benefits of
CenterPoint s retires) 55 55
Total guarantees $ 3,565 $ 553 $ $

(1) This represents the estimated portion of the maximum potential amount of future payments that is utilized as of
December 31, 2007. For those guarantees related to obligations that are recorded as liabilities by our
subsidiaries, this includes the recorded amount.

(2) Reliant Energy has guaranteed the performance of certain of its wholly-owned subsidiaries commodity
obligations. These guarantees were provided to counterparties in order to facilitate physical and financial
agreements in electricity, gas, oil, transportation and related commodities and services. Some of these
guarantees have varying expiration dates and some can be terminated by Reliant Energy upon notice.
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(3) Reliant Energy has outstanding standby letters of credit, which guarantee the performance of certain of its
wholly-owned subsidiaries. As of December 31, 2007, these letters of credit expire on various dates through
2008.

(4) Reliant Energy has guaranteed the payment obligations of certain wholly-owned subsidiaries arising under
long-term service agreements and leases for certain facilities. As of December 31, 2007, these guarantees expire
over varying years through 2018.

(5) See above.

Unless otherwise noted, failure by the primary obligor to perform under the terms of the various agreements and
contracts guaranteed may result in the beneficiary requesting immediate payment from Reliant Energy. To the extent
liabilities exist under the various agreements and contracts that Reliant Energy guarantees, such liabilities are recorded
in Reliant Energy s subsidiaries balance sheets as of December 31, 2007. We do not expect Reliant Energy to make
any material payments under these provisions.
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(c) Other Commitments.

Property, Plant and Equipment Commitments. As of December 31, 2007, we have contractual commitments to spend
approximately $296 million on plant and equipment relating primarily to SO, emissions reductions.

Fuel Supply, Commodity Transportation, Purchased Power and Electric Capacity Commitments. We are a party to
fuel supply contracts, commodity transportation contracts and purchased power and electric capacity contracts of
various quantities and durations that are not classified as derivative assets and liabilities. These contracts are not
included in our consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2007. Minimum purchase commitment obligations
under these agreements are as follows as of December 31, 2007:

Purchased Power

Fuel Transportation And Electric
Capacity
Commitments Commitments Commitments
Fixed Variable Fixed Fixed Variable
Pricing  Pricing® Pricing Pricing Pricing®

(in millions)

2008 $ 81 $ 7 $ 87 $ 67 $ 13
2009 60 8 75 74 11
2010 37 8 73 13
2011 21 9 75 13
2012 22 9 71 13
2013 and thereafter 101 86 502 7
Total $ 322 $ 127 $ 883 $ 187 $ 24

(1) For contracts with variable pricing components, we estimated prices based on assumptions on escalations per the
contractual terms.

(2) For contracts with variable pricing components, we estimated prices based on forward commodity curves as of
December 31, 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, the maximum remaining terms under any individual fuel supply contract is 13 years, any
transportation contract is 15 years and any purchased power and electric capacity contract is seven years.

Sales Commitments. As of December 31, 2007, we have sales commitments, including electric energy and capacity

sales contracts, which are not classified as derivative assets and liabilities. The estimated minimum sales commitments
over the next five years under these contracts are as follows:
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Retail Energy

Fixed

Variable

Pricing» Pricing®

$ 854 $

526
213
64
27

$ 1,684 $

2,071
1,517
1,130
859
573

6,150

(in millions)

$

Wholesale
Energy

344
508
291
126
158

1,427

(1) In connection with our credit-enhanced retail structure, we estimate the fees under these sales commitments to
be $15 million, $10 million, $7 million, $5 million and $3 million during 2008, 2009, 2010, 2011 and 2012,

respectively.

(2) For contracts with variable pricing components, we estimated prices based on forward commodity curves as of

December 31, 2007.
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Naming Rights to Houston Sports Complex. We acquired the naming rights, including advertising and other benefits,
for a football stadium and other convention and entertainment facilities included in the stadium complex. Pursuant to
this agreement, we are required to pay $10 million per year from 2002 through 2032.

Long-term Power Generation Maintenance Agreements. We have entered into long-term maintenance agreements
that cover some periodic maintenance, including parts, on power generation turbines. The long-term maintenance
agreements terminate from 2011 to 2036 based on turbine usage. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we incurred expenses
of $9 million, $17 million and $16 million, respectively. Estimated cash payments over the next five years for these
agreements are as follows (in millions):

2008 $ 14
2009 10
2010 27
2011 28
2012 40
2013 and thereafter 585
Total $ 704

(13) Contingencies

We are party to many legal proceedings, some of which may involve substantial amounts. Unless otherwise noted, we
cannot predict the outcome of the matters described below.

(a) Pending Electricity and Natural Gas Litigation.

The following proceedings relate to alleged conduct in the electricity and natural gas markets. In 2005 and 2006, we
settled a number of proceedings that were pending in California and other Western states; however, a number of other
proceedings remain pending.

Electricity Actions. In February 2005, our one remaining lawsuit relating to our participation in alleged conduct to
increase electricity prices in violation of antitrust laws, unfair competition laws and similar laws was dismissed in our
favor from an order of the United States District Court. In January 2008, the United States Court of Appeals for the
Ninth Circuit affirmed the decision to dismiss this case.

Natural Gas Actions. We are party to approximately 30 lawsuits, several of which are class action lawsuits, in state
and federal courts in California, Colorado, Kansas, Missouri, Nevada, Tennessee and Wisconsin. These lawsuits relate
to alleged conduct to increase natural gas prices in violation of antitrust and similar laws. The lawsuits seek treble or
punitive damages, restitution and/or expenses. The lawsuits also name a number of unaffiliated energy companies as
parties. In September 2007, the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals issued decisions in a number of the gas cases in which
we are a defendant. The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals reversed a series of lower court decisions holding that the
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filed rate doctrine barred the plaintiff s claims in those cases. As a result of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals rulings,
these cases have been remanded for further proceedings at the trial court level.

One of the natural gas cases is a case filed by the Los Angeles Department of Water and Power (LADWP) in the
California Superior Court in 2004. The lawsuit alleges that we conspired to manipulate natural gas prices in breach of
our supply contract with LADWP and in violation of California s antitrust laws and the California False Claims Act.
The lawsuit seeks treble damages for the alleged overcharges (estimated to be $218 million) for gas purchased by
LADWP, interest and legal costs. The lawsuit also seeks (a) a determination that an extension of the contract with
LADWP was invalid in that the required municipal
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approvals for the extension were allegedly not obtained and (b) a return of all money paid by LADWP during that
period (estimated to be $681 million).

(b) Environmental Matters.

New Source Review Matters. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and various states are
investigating compliance of coal-fueled electric generating stations with the pre-construction permitting requirements
of the Clean Air Act known as New Source Review. In 2000 and 2001, we responded to the EPA s information
requests related to five of our stations, and in December 2007, we received supplemental requests for two of those
stations. The EPA has agreed to share information relating to its investigations with state environmental agencies.

In December 2007, the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) filed suit against us in the
United States District Court in Pennsylvania, alleging that New Source Review violations occurred at one of our
power plants located in Pennsylvania. The suit seeks installation of best available control technologies for each
pollutant, to enjoin us from operating the plant if it is not in compliance with the Clean Air Act and civil penalties.
The allegations are based on projects occurring prior to our ownership of the facility and the suit names three past
owners of the plant as defendants. We believe we are indemnified by or have the right to seek indemnification from
the prior owners for losses and expenses that we may incur.

We are unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the EPA s investigation or the NJDEP s suit, but a final finding that
we violated the New Source Review requirements could result in significant capital expenditures associated with the
implementation of emissions reductions on an accelerated basis and possible penalties.

Ash Disposal Site Closures. We are responsible for environmental costs related to the future closures of seven ash
disposal sites. We recorded the estimated discounted costs associated with these environmental liabilities as part of
our asset retirement obligations. See note 2(0).

Remediation Obligations. We are responsible for environmental costs related to site contamination investigations and
remediation requirements at four power plants in New Jersey. We recorded the estimated liability for the remediation
costs of $8 million and $7 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Conemaugh Actions. In April 2007, the PADEP filed suit against us in the Court of Common Pleas of Indiana

County, Pennsylvania. In addition, in April 2007, PennEnvironment and the Sierra Club filed a citizens suit against us
in the United States District Court, Western District of Pennsylvania. Each suit alleges that the Conemaugh plant is in
violation of its water discharge permit and related state and federal laws and seeks civil penalties, remediation and to
enjoin violations. The Conemaugh plant is jointly leased by us and seven other companies and is governed by a
consent order agreement with the PADEP. We are confident that the Conemaugh plant has operated and will continue
to operate in material compliance with the consent order agreement, its water discharge permit and related state and
federal laws. However, if PADEP or PennEnvironment and the Sierra Club are successful, we could incur significant
capital expenditures associated with the implementation of discharge reductions on an accelerated basis and possible
penalties.

(c) Other.
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PUCT Cases. There are various proceedings pending before the state district court in Travis County, Texas, seeking
reviews of the Public Utility Commission of Texas (PUCT) orders relating to the fuel factor component used in our

price-to-beat tariff. These proceedings pertain to the same issues affirmed by a district court in Travis County and later
by the Travis County Court of Appeals in 2004 in a separate proceeding.
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CenterPoint Indemnity. We have agreed to indemnify CenterPoint against certain losses relating to the lawsuits
described in note 13(a) under Pending Electricity and Natural Gas Litigation Natural Gas Actions. We have also
agreed to indemnify CenterPoint against losses relating to an alleged breach of fiduciary duties in violation of the
Employee Retirement Income Security Act in a class action lawsuit in the United States District Court for the

Southern District of Texas. The lawsuit seeks monetary damages and restitution. In January 2006, the court granted
CenterPoint s motion for summary judgment and dismissed the case with prejudice. The court s decision is on appeal to
the United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit.

Texas Franchise Audit. The state of Texas has issued preliminary audit findings indicating an estimated tax liability
of approximately $75 million (excluding any interest and penalties) relating primarily to the sourcing of receipts for
2000 through 2005. We plan to contest any proposed audit assessment related to this issue.

Sales Tax Contingencies. We have some estimated sales tax exposure related to tax-exempt customers. As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, we have $19 million and $28 million, respectively, accrued in current and noncurrent
liabilities relating to these contingencies.

(14) Settlements and Other Charges
(a) Western States and Similar Settlements.

In August 2005, we entered into an agreement, which the FERC approved in December 2005, with the states of
California, Oregon and Washington, California s three largest investor-owned utilities and a number of other parties
that resolves as to the settling parties a number of the regulatory and civil proceedings and claims related to the
Western states energy crisis of 2000 and 2001.

Although the settlement resolves a number of the regulatory and civil proceedings relating to the Western states
energy crisis of 2000 and 2001, it did not resolve the Western states electricity and natural gas proceedings described
in note 13(a).

Additionally, in December 2005, we agreed in principle to settle the class action lawsuits filed in New York involving
allegations of manipulation of NYMEX natural gas contracts (the Cornerstone settlement). The settlement was
approved in May 2006.

During 2005, we recorded charges of $359 million, which include cash payments of $160 million during 2006. As part
of the settlement, we waived claims to and transferred our interest in our receivables for power deliveries from
January 1, 2000 to June 20, 2001, as well as the interest owed on those receivables. The components of the settlement
charge are (in millions):

Accounts receivable related to the period from October 2000 through June 2001, excluding estimated

refund obligation $ 268
Estimated refund obligation (87)
Discount (14)
Interest receivable 41
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Cash payments 150
Cornerstone settlement 8
Other (7N
Total $ 3590

(1) The settlement also included undertakings not involving the payment of cash or the waiver of rights to
receivables.
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Prior to reaching a settlement in August 2005, we regularly adjusted our estimated refund obligation, credit reserve
and receivables (netted in revenues) and interest income (recorded in interest income) related to these energy sales in
California as new information was obtained or events occurred (income (loss)):

2005
(in millions)

Estimated refund obligation $
Discount (1)
Interest receivable

Net impact $ 7

In December 2006, we reached a settlement of the 12 class action natural gas cases pending in state court in
California. The settlement required us to pay $35 million, which we expensed during 2006 and paid during 2007. The
settlement does not include similar cases filed by individual plaintiffs and cases filed in jurisdictions other than
California, which we continue to vigorously defend.

Criminal Proceeding Reliant Energy Services. In March 2007, Reliant Energy Services, Inc. entered into a Deferred
Prosecution Agreement in resolution of its April 2004 indictment for alleged violations of the Commodity Exchange
Act, wire fraud and conspiracy charges. As part of the agreement, Reliant Energy Services, Inc. paid and expensed a
$22 million penalty in March 2007. The agreement has a term of two years.

(b) Nevada Power.

In August 2005, we entered into a settlement agreement with Nevada Power Company resolving (a) a complaint filed
by Nevada Power Company with the FERC seeking to revise the prices of long-term forward power contracts and

(b) an arbitration claim relating to our alleged participation in an unlawful conspiracy to increase the price of natural
gas in Nevada from 2001 to 2002. We recognized a charge of $8 million during 2005.

(c) Shareholder Class Action Lawsuits.

In July 2005, we reached a settlement agreement related to the class action lawsuits against us for claims alleging
violations of securities laws. The settlement agreement provides for a total settlement payment by us of $68 million,
of which $61.5 million is covered by director and officer insurance policies. In addition, Deloitte & Touche LLP, our
independent auditor at the time and a defendant in the litigation, agreed to make a payment of $7 million. The
settlement also includes releases to all claims asserted by the plaintiffs against some of our former officers. During
2005, we recognized a charge of $8 million related to the settlement and associated legal expenses.
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(15) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable, margin deposits and derivative assets
and liabilities approximate their carrying amounts. Values of our debt (see note 6) are:

December 31,
2007 2006
Carrying Carrying
Value Fair Value® Value Fair Value®
(in millions)

Fixed rate debt $ 2,955 $ 2,963 $ 2,866 $ 2,987
Variable rate debt 667 669
Total debt $ 2,955 $ 2,963 $ 3,533 $ 3,656

(1) We based the fair values of our fixed rate and variable rate debt on (a) incremental borrowing rates for similar
borrowing arrangements or (b) information from market participants.

(16) Supplemental Guarantor Information

Our wholly-owned subsidiaries are either (a) full and unconditional guarantors, jointly and severally, or

(b) non-guarantors of the senior secured notes. The primary guarantors are: Reliant Energy California Holdings, LLC;
Reliant Energy Northeast Holdings, Inc.; Reliant Energy Power Generation, Inc. and Reliant Energy Services, Inc.
The primary non-guarantors are: Channelview (deconsolidated on August 20, 2007), Orion Power, REMA and RERH
Holdings.

Some of Reliant Energy s subsidiaries have effective restrictions on their ability to pay dividends or make
intercompany loans and advances under their financing arrangements or other third party agreements. The amounts of
restricted net assets of Reliant Energy s consolidated and unconsolidated subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 are
approximately $1.5 billion and $83 million, respectively. These restrictions are on the net assets of Orion Power and
RERH Holdings and our net investment in and receivables from Channelview.

During 2007, Reliant Energy received cash dividends from RERH Holdings for $437 million. During 2006 and 2005,
Reliant Energy received cash dividends from Orion Power for $209 million and $340 million, respectively. During
2006, Reliant Energy received cash dividends from Reliant Energy Services, Inc. for $475 million.
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations.

Reliant
Energy

Revenues $

Cost of sales

Operation and maintenance
Selling, general and
administrative

Western states and similar
settlements

Gains on sales of assets and
emission allowances, net
Depreciation and amortization

Total
Operating income (loss)

Income of equity investment, net

Income (loss) of equity

investments of consolidated

subsidiaries 271

Debt extinguishments (73)
Interest expense (234)
Interest income 11

Interest income

(expense) affiliated companies,

net 340

Total other income (expense) 315
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes 315

Income tax expense (benefit) (50)

Income (loss) from continuing
operations 365

Table of Contents

2007

Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments()

$

3,662

3,298
187

24
22

A7)
157

3,671

&)

(35)

(255)

(275)

(284)
(113)

(171)

(in millions)

9,756

7,557
701

355

©)
267

8,871

885

(80)

(85)

(149)

736
298

438

$ (2,209)

(2,198)
)

(6)

(2,209)

(274)

(274)

(274)

(274)

Consolidated

$

11,209

8,657
883

373
22

(26)
424

10,333

876

(73)
(349)

(383)

493
135

358
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Income from discontinued
operations

Net income (loss)
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365 % (171)  $ 445
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(274)

$

365
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Revenues

Cost of sales

Operation and maintenance

Selling, general and
administrative

(Gain) loss on sales of
receivables

Western states and similar

settlements

Gains on sales of assets and

emission allowances, net

Depreciation and amortization

Total

Operating income (loss)

Income of equity investment, net

Income (loss) of equity

investments of consolidated

subsidiaries

Debt conversions
Interest expense
Interest income
Interest income

(expense) affiliated companies,

net

Total other expense

Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

Income (loss) from continuing

operations

Table of Contents

Reliant
Energy

ey

(189)
(37)
(299)

267

(256)

(257)

(323)
&)

Guarantors

8,811

8,734
177

9
7
35

21)
152

9,093

(282)

&)

(35)

(296)

(307)

(589)
(230)

(359)
2)

$

2006

9,805

8,439
658

373

(7

(138)
221

9,546

259

(94)

29

(56)

203
42

161

$

Non-Guarantors Adjustments()
(in millions)

(7,739)

(7,737)
2)

(7,739)

194

194

194

194

Consolidated

$ 10,877

9,436
833

383

35

(159)
373

10,901
24)

6

(37
(428)

(425)

(449)
(122)

(327)
2
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Income (loss) from discontinued
operations

Income (loss) before cumulative

effect of accounting change (328) (361) 166 194 (329)

Cumulative effect of accounting

change, net of tax 1 1

Net income (loss) $ (328) $ 360) $ 166 $ 194 $ (328)
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Revenues

Cost of sales

Operation and maintenance
Selling, general and
administrative

Loss on sales of receivables
Western states and similar
settlements

Gains on sales of assets and
emission allowances, net
Depreciation and amortization

Total
Operating income (loss)

Income of equity investments,
net

Income (loss) of equity
investments of consolidated
subsidiaries

Other, net

Interest expense

Interest income

Interest income

(expense) affiliated companies,
net

Total other expense
Income (loss) from continuing
operations before income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Income (loss) from continuing
operations
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Reliant
Energy

ey

(1)

(193)

(278)

144

(326)

(325)
12

(337)
6

Guarantors

$

8,518

8,754
171

9
8

359

(7
165

9,459

(941)

26

96
(23)
(35)

20

(170)

(86)

(1,027)
(456)

(571)
130

2005

Non-Guarantors Adjustments™®

$

(in millions)
7,893

6,311
565

291
®)

(164)
274

7,269

624

3)

(86)

26

(61)

563
185

378
(85)

$

(6,699)

(6,698)
1

(7

3
7

(6,694)

&)

100

100

89
60

Consolidated

$ 9,712

8,366
737

293

359

(168)
446

10,033

(321)

26

(23)
(399)

(373)

(694)
(253)

(441)
111
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Income (loss) from discontinued
operations

Income (loss) before cumulative

effect of accounting change (331) (441) 293 149 (330)
Cumulative effect of accounting

change, net of tax (D )
Net income (loss) $ 331 $ 441) $ 292 $ 149 $ (331)

(1) These amounts relate to either (a) eliminations and adjustments recorded in the normal consolidation process or
(b) reclassifications recorded due to differences in classifications at the subsidiary levels compared to the
consolidated level.
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Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheets.

Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts and notes receivable, principally

customer, net

Accounts and notes receivable affiliated
companies

Inventory

Derivative assets

Investment in and receivables from
Channelview, net

Other current assets

Current assets of discontinued operations

Total current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Other Assets:

Goodwill and other intangibles, net
Notes receivable affiliated companies
Equity investments of consolidated
subsidiaries

Derivative assets

Other long-term assets

Total other assets

Total Assets

Reliant

December 31, 2007

Energy Guarantors Non-GuarantorsAdjustments® Consolidated

ASSETS
$ 490 $ 1
1
11 252
2,009 368
148
73
1 82
19 160
2,530 1,085
2,870
184
2,365 656
2,212 304
12
55 860
4,632 2,016
$ 7,162 § 5971

(in millions)

$ 264§

831
328

137
141

197

1,902

2,353

482
68

78
356
984

$ 5239 $

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt and
short-term borrowings
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(11

(2,705)

A7)

(2,733)

119
(3,089)

(2,516)
(696)
(6,182)

(8,915)

$

755

1,083

285
214

83
359

2,784

5,223

785

90
575

1,450

9,457

52
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Accounts payable, principally trade 68 624 (5) 687

Accounts and notes payable affiliated

companies 103 2,223 379 (2,705)

Derivative liabilities 62 375 437

Other current liabilities 11 182 256 (23) 426

Total current liabilities 155 2,535 1,645 (2,733) 1,602

Other Liabilities:

Notes payable affiliated companies 2,213 876 (3,089)

Derivative liabilities 25 162 187

Other long-term liabilities 539 152 284 (696) 279

Long-term liabilities of discontinued

operations 4 4

Total other liabilities 539 2,390 1,326 (3,785) 470

Long-term Debt 1,986 500 417 2,903

Commitments and Contingencies

Temporary Equity Stock-based

Compensation 5 5

Total Stockholders Equity 4,477 546 1,851 (2,397) 4,477

Total Liabilities and Stockholders

Equity 7,162 $ 5971 $ 5,239 (8,915 $ 9,457
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Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash

Accounts and notes receivable, principally

customer, net

Accounts and notes receivable affiliated

companies
Inventory
Derivative assets
Other current assets

Current assets of discontinued operations

Total current assets
Property, Plant and Equipment, net

Other Assets:

Goodwill and other intangibles, net
Notes receivable affiliated companies
Equity investments of consolidated
subsidiaries

Derivative assets

Other long-term assets

Total other assets

Total Assets

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS

Current Liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt and
short-term borrowings

Accounts payable, principally trade
Accounts and notes payable affiliated
companies

Table of Contents

Reliant

December 31, 2006

Energy Guarantors Non-GuarantorsAdjustments() Consolidated

ASSETS
$ 28 $ 24 $
10 264
1,737 418

144

61

7 529

2,040 1,440

3,044

182

3,249 789

1,377 328

77

76 730

4,702 2,106
$ 6742 $ 6590 $

$
224

2,021

(in millions)

154§
25

779
259
131
429
354
2,133
2,698
505
94

5

127
400
1,131

5962 %

EQUITY

352 $
444

393

©)

(2,414)

A7)

(2,440)

119
(4,132)

(1,710)
(564)
(6,287)

(8,727)

3)

(2,414)

$ 464
25

1,044
275
490
873

3,173

5,742

806

204
642

1,652

$ 10,567

$ 355
665
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Derivative liabilities

Other current liabilities

Current liabilities of discontinued
operations

Total current liabilities

Other Liabilities:

Notes payable affiliated companies
Derivative liabilities

Other long-term liabilities

Total other liabilities

Long-term Debt

Commitments and Contingencies
Temporary Equity Stock-based
Compensation

Total Stockholders Equity

Total Liabilities and Stockholders
Equity

Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

238

55 159

58 2,642

3,251

77

484 167

484 3,495

2,248 501
2

3,950 (48)

$ 6742 $ 6590 §

927
313

3
2,432
881
344
237

1,462

429

1,639

5962 $

(23)

(2,440)

(4,132)
(564)

(4,696)

(1,591)

(8,727)

1,165
504

2,692

421
324

745

3,178

2
3,950

$ 10,567

(1) These amounts relate to either (a) eliminations and adjustments recorded in the normal consolidation process or
(b) reclassifications recorded due to differences in classifications at the subsidiary levels compared to the

consolidated level.
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Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows.

2007
Reliant
Energy Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments) Consolidated
(in millions)

Cash Flows from Operating
Activities:
Net cash provided by (used in)
continuing operations from operating
activities $ 146  $ (114)  $ 613 $ 110  $ 755
Net cash provided by discontinued
operations from operating activities 7 7
Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities 146 (114) 620 110 762
Cash Flows from Investing
Activities:
Capital expenditures 27 (162) (189)
Investments in, advances to and from
and distributions from subsidiaries,
net® 346 (6) (279) (61)
Proceeds from sales of assets, net 82 82
Net purchases of emission
allowances 42) 43) (85)
Restricted cash (D 8 7
Other, net 6 6

Net cash provided by (used in)

continuing operations from investing

activities 346 12 (476) (61) (179)
Net cash provided by discontinued

operations from investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in)

investing activities 346 12 (476) (61) (179)
Cash Flows from Financing

Activities:

Proceeds from long-term debt 1,300 1,300
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Payments of long-term debt (1,526) (10) (1,536)

Increase in short-term borrowings

and revolving credit facilities, net 7 7

Changes in notes with affiliated

companies, net®) 80 31 (49)

Payments of debt extinguishment

costs (73) (73)

Proceeds from issuances of stock 41 41

Payments of financing costs 3D 3D

Other, net 1 (D

Net cash provided by (used in)

financing activities (288) 79 (34) 49) (292)

Net Change in Cash and Cash

Equivalents 204 (23) 110 291

Cash and Cash Equivalents at

Beginning of Period 286 24 154 464

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End

of Period $ 490 $ I 3 264 $ $ 755
F-56
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Cash Flows from Operating
Activities:

Net cash provided by continuing
operations from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in)
discontinued operations from
operating activities

Net cash provided by operating
activities

Cash Flows from Investing
Activities:
Capital expenditures

Investments in, advances to and from

and distributions from subsidiaries,
net®

Proceeds from sales of assets, net
Net proceeds from sale of emission
allowances

Restricted cash

Other, net

Net cash provided by (used in)
continuing operations from investing
activities

Net cash provided by discontinued
operations from investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing
Activities:

Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments of long-term debt
Increase (decrease) in short-term
borrowings and revolving credit

Table of Contents

Reliant
Energy

13

1,059

1,059

712

1,771

400
(852)
(383)

2006

Guarantors Non-Guarantors® Adjustments)) Consolidated

$ 414 $

(7N

407

(24)

(468)

88

(403)

(403)

(in millions)

906

(50)

856

(73)

(216)

94

(192)

968

776

(14)
(442)

$ 1,330

(54)

1,276

o7

(375)

182

(375) 89

(712) 968

(1,087) 1,057

400
(866)
(825)
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facilities, net
Changes in notes with affiliated

Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

companies, net® (16) (359) 375

Premium paid for conversion of

senior subordinated notes (36) (36)

Proceeds from issuances of stock 25 25

Payments of financing costs (17 (17

Net cash used in continuing

operations from financing activities (863) (16) (815) 375 (1,319)

Net cash used in discontinued

operations from financing activities (638) (712) 712 (638)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,501) (16) (1,527) 1,087 (1,957)

Net Change in Cash and Cash

Equivalents 283 (12) 105 376

Cash and Cash Equivalents at

Beginning of Period 3 36 49 88

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End

of Period $ 286 $ 24 154 % 464
F-57
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Cash Flows from Operating
Activities:

Net cash provided by (used in)
continuing operations from operating
activities

Net cash provided by discontinued
operations from operating activities

Net cash provided by (used in)
operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing
Activities:

Capital expenditures

Investments in, advances to and from
and distributions from subsidiaries,
net®

Proceeds from sales of assets, net
Net sales (purchases) of emission
allowances

Restricted cash

Other, net

Net cash provided by (used in)
continuing operations from investing
activities

Net cash provided by discontinued
operations from investing activities

Net cash provided by (used in)
investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing
Activities:

Proceeds from long-term debt
Payments of long-term debt

Increase in short-term borrowings and
revolving credit facilities, net
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Reliant
Energy

$ 95)

13

(82)

(460)

(460)

110

(350)

299
(109)

184

2005

Guarantors Non-Guarantors Adjustments() Consolidated

$

(1,989) $

8

(1,981)

(49)

77

(49)

(14)

51

37

(1)

(in millions)

974  §

172

1,146

(33)

(341)
72

137
14

(151)

80

(71)

(38)

223

$ (1,110)

193

917)

(82)

800
149

88
14

800 175

(110) 131

690 306

299
(148)

407

108



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Changes in notes with affiliated
companies, net®

Proceeds from issuances of stock
Payments of financing costs

Net cash provided by (used in)
continuing operations from financing
activities

Net cash used in discontinued
operations from financing activities

Net cash provided by (used in)
financing activities

Net Change in Cash and Cash
Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents at
Beginning of Period

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of
Period $

37
(1)

410

410

(22)

25

1,956

1,955

1,955

11

25

36

F-58

(1,156)

(971)

(110)

(1,081)

(6)

55

49

(800)

(800)

110

(690)

37
(1)

594

594

a7

105

88
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(1) These amounts relate to either (a) eliminations and adjustments recorded in the normal consolidation process or
(b) reclassifications recorded due to differences in classifications at the subsidiary levels compared to the

consolidated level.

(2) Net investments in, advances to and from and distributions from subsidiaries are classified as investing

activities.

(3) Net changes in notes with affiliated companies are classified as financing activities for subsidiaries of Reliant

Energy and as investing activities for Reliant Energy.

(4) Reliant Energy converted intercompany notes payable of a guarantor subsidiary of $753 million to equity during

2007.

(5) During 2006, Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LL.C, a non-guarantor, made a non-cash capital distribution
(related to intercompany receivables) of $1.9 billion to Reliant Energy.

(17) Unaudited Quarterly Information

Revenues

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Net income (loss)

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)
Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations

Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Net income (loss)

Table of Contents

2007
First Second Third
Quarter Quarter Quarter

(in millions, except per share amounts)
$ 2,362 $ 2,650 $ 3,544 $

260 (281) 160

(1) (2) 2

259 (283) 162
$ 0.77 $ 0.82) $ 0.47 $

(0.01) (0.01)

$ 0.76 $ 0.83) $ 0.47 $
$ 0.75 $ 0.82) $ 0.45 $

(0.01) (0.01) 0.01
0.74 $ 0.83) $ 0.46 $

F-59

Fourth
Quarter

2,653
219

8

227

0.64
0.02

0.66
0.62
0.02

0.64
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Revenues

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations
Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
accounting change

Net income (loss)

Basic Earnings (Loss) Per Share:

Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
accounting change

Cumulative effect of accounting change,
net of tax

Net income (loss)

Diluted Earnings (Loss) Per Share:
Income (loss) from continuing operations
Income (loss) from discontinued operations

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of
accounting change

Cumulative effect of accounting change,
net of tax

Net income (loss)

First

Quarter

$

$

2,453
(139)
5

(134)
(133)

(0.46)
0.02

(0.44)

(0.44)

(0.46)
0.02

(0.44)

(0.44)

Second
Quarter

2006

Third
Quarter

(in millions, except per share amounts)

$

2,775
23
)

14
14

0.07
(0.02)

0.05

0.05

0.07
(0.02)

0.05

0.05

$

$

3,305
(154)
(1)

(155)
(155)

(0.50)

(0.50)

(0.50)

(0.50)

(0.50)

(0.50)

$

$

Fourth
Quarter

2,344
(37
3

(54)
(54)

(0.18)
0.01

(0.17)

(0.17)

(0.18)
0.01

(0.17)

(0.17)

Variances in revenues and gross margin from quarter to quarter were primarily due to (a) seasonal fluctuations in
demand for electric energy and energy services and (b) changes in energy commodity prices, including unrealized
gains/losses on energy derivatives. During 2007, we recognized $445 million in unrealized gains on energy
derivatives ($522 million gain in the first quarter, $326 million loss in the second quarter, $28 million loss in the third
quarter and $277 gain in the fourth quarter). During 2006, we incurred $231 million in unrealized losses on energy
derivatives ($23 million gain in the first quarter, $52 million gain in the second quarter, $355 million loss in the third
quarter and $49 million gain in the fourth quarter). On August 20, 2007, we deconsolidated Channelview. See notes 1

and 21.
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Changes in net income (loss) from quarter to quarter were primarily due to:
seasonal fluctuations in demand for electric energy and energy services;
changes in energy commodity prices, including unrealized gains/losses on energy derivatives; and

timing of maintenance expenses.
F-60
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RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
In addition, net income (loss) changed from quarter to quarter in 2007 by (amounts are pre-tax unless indicated
otherwise):

$73 million of debt extinguishments expenses ($71 million in the second quarter and $1 million in each of the
third and fourth quarters);

$41 million write-off of deferred financing costs ($39 million in the second quarter and $1 million in each of
the third and fourth quarters);

$37 million change in income tax expense/benefit due to our federal valuation allowance ($1 million increase
during the first quarter, $21 million increase during the second quarter, $22 million decrease during the third

quarter and $37 million decrease during the fourth quarter);

$29 million charge for early retirements in depreciation expense ($15 million in the first quarter, $13 million in
the second quarter and $1 million in the third quarter);

$24 million gain on sales of equipment ($18 million in the third quarter and $6 million in the
fourth quarter); and

$22 million charge for Reliant Energy Services, Inc. resolution of criminal indictment in the first quarter.
Also, net income (loss) changed from quarter to quarter in 2006 by (amounts are pre-tax unless indicated otherwise):

$159 million gain on sales of emission allowances ($151 million gain in the first quarter, $5 million gain in the
second quarter and $3 million gain in the third quarter);

$68 million change in income tax expense/benefit due to our federal valuation allowance ($70 million increase
during the first quarter, $20 million increase during the second quarter, $30 million decrease during the third
quarter and $8 million increase during the fourth quarter);

$40 million income tax benefit in the fourth quarter related to Pennsylvania state law changes;

$37 million charge for the debt conversion expense during the fourth quarter; and

$35 million charge related to the settlement of certain class action natural gas cases relating to the Western
states energy crisis during the third quarter.

(18) Reportable Segments
We have two principal business segments:

Retail energy provides electricity and energy services to more than 1.8 million retail electricity customers in
Texas, including residential and small business customers and commercial, industrial and

Table of Contents 114



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

governmental/institutional customers. Our next largest market is the PIM market, where we serve commercial,
industrial and governmental/institutional customers. We regularly evaluate entering additional markets.

Wholesale energy provides electricity and energy services in the competitive wholesale energy markets in the
United States through our ownership and operation of or contracting for power generation capacity. As of
December 31, 2007, we had approximately 16,000 MW of power generation capacity.

We also have unallocated corporate functions and other investments.

Our segments are the strategic operating units under which we manage our business, including the allocation of
resources and assessment of performance. We use contribution margin, including historical and

F-61
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

operational wholesale hedges and unrealized gains/losses on energy derivatives to evaluate our business segments
because we use that measure in organizing and managing our business. Our segment measure is defined as total
revenues less (a) cost of sales, (b) operation and maintenance, (c) selling and marketing and (d) bad debt expense. We
manage the costs not included in our segment measure (other general and administrative, depreciation, amortization,

interest and income taxes) on a company-wide basis.

The accounting policies of our segments are described in note 2. We account for intersegment revenues at current

market prices.

Financial data for our segments are as follows:

Retail
Energy

2007:

Revenues from external customers(! $ 8,173
Intersegment revenues

Contribution margin, including historical

and operational wholesale hedges and

unrealized gains/losses on energy

derivatives®®) 942
Expenditures for long-lived assets(® 14
Equity investment as of December 31,

2007

Total assets as of December 31, 2007 1,778
2006:

Revenues from external customers(! $ 8,197
Intersegment revenues

Contribution margin, including historical

and operational wholesale hedges and

unrealized gains/losses on energy

derivatives®©®) 250
Expenditures for long-lived assets(® 9
Equity investment as of December 31,

2006

Total assets as of December 31, 2006 1,984
2005:

Revenues from external customers(! $ 7,045
Intersegment revenues

Contribution margin, including historical 342
and operational wholesale hedges and

unrealized gains/losses on energy

Table of Contents

Wholesale
Energy

$ 3,036
394

524s)
159

25
7,492

$  2,679s)
571

146(10)
78

25
8,402

$ 2661
625
11002

Other
Operations

(in millions)

13

Eliminations
$
407)
(6)
(894)
$
(572)
(667)
$
(625)

Consolidated

$

11,209

1,467
189

25
9,457

10,877

397
97

25
10,567

9,712

456
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derivatives®D

Expenditures for long-lived assets(© 9 66 7 82
Equity investments as of December 31,

2005 30 30
Total assets as of December 31, 2005 2,762 9,871 1,691(7) (755) 13,569

(1) Substantially all revenues are in the United States.
(2) Includes $127 million from affiliates.

(3) Revenues less (a) cost of sales, (b) operation and maintenance, (c) selling and marketing and (d) bad debt
expense.

(4) Includes $438 million, $7 million and $445 million in retail energy, wholesale energy and consolidated,
respectively, results relating to unrealized gains on energy derivatives, which is a non-cash item.

(5) Includes $(92) million relating to historical and operational wholesale hedges.

(6) Long-lived assets include net property, plant and equipment, net goodwill, net other intangibles and equity
investments. All of our long-lived assets are in the United States.

(7) Other operations include discontinued operations of $2 million, $2 million and $1,084 million as of
December 31, 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(8) Includes $1.2 billion in revenues from a single counterparty, which represented 11% of our consolidated
revenues and 45% of our wholesale energy segment s revenues. As of December 31, 2006, $16 million was

outstanding from this counterparty.

(9) Includes $(287) million, $56 million and $(231) million in retail energy, wholesale energy and consolidated,
respectively, results relating to unrealized gains (losses) on energy derivatives, which is a non-cash item.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(10) Includes $(376) million relating to historical and operational wholesale hedges.

(11) Includes $(69) million, $(123) million and $(192) million in retail energy, wholesale energy and consolidated,
respectively, results relating to unrealized losses on energy derivatives, which is a non-cash item.

(12) Includes $(484) million relating to historical and operational wholesale hedges.
2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Contribution margin, including historical and operational wholesale hedges and

unrealized gains/losses on energy derivatives $ 1,467 $ 397 $ 456

Other general and administrative 171 172 140

Western states and similar settlements 22 35 359

Gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net (26) (159) (168)
Depreciation and amortization 424 373 446

Operating income (loss) 876 24) (321)
Income of equity investments, net 5 6 26

Debt extinguishments and conversions (73) 37

Other, net (23)
Interest expense (349) (428) (399)
Interest income 34 34 23

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income taxes 493 (449) (694)
Income tax expense (benefit) 135 (122) (253)
Income (loss) from continuing operations 358 (327) 441)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 7 2) 111

Income (loss) before cumulative effect of accounting changes 365 (329) (330)
Cumulative effect of accounting changes, net of tax 1 1
Net income (loss) $ 365 $ (328) $ (331)

(19) Impairment of Cost Method Investment

During 2005, we recorded a non-cash charge of $23 million (recorded in other, net) for the impairment of our
investment in a communications services company. The impairment charge was based on an internal valuation of
projected future cash flows and earnings conducted in connection with the preparation of our interim financial
statements. As of December 31, 2007, our remaining non-energy investments have a net book value of $2 million and
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are included in other long-term assets.
(20) Sales of Assets and Emission Allowances

We included the following (all from our wholesale energy segment) in our results of operations through the date of
sale.

Property, Plant and Equipment. We sold some property, plant and equipment that was primarily held in storage for
$82 million during 2007 for gains of $25 million.

Emission Allowances. We sold emission allowances during 2007, 2006 and 2005 for gains of $1 million, $159 million
and $160 million, respectively.

REMA Hydropower Plants. Two hydropower plants sold for $42 million in April 2005 for a gain of $12 million.

Landfill-gas Fueled Power Plants. Our landfill-gas fueled power plants sold for $28 million in July 2005 for a loss of
$4 million.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

El Dorado Investment. Our 50% interest in El Dorado Energy, LLC sold for $132 million in July 2005 and we
received $76 million after adjustment for net project debt. We recognized a gains on the disposal of $25 million
(recorded in income of equity investments, net) during 2005.

(21) Channelview s Bankruptcy Filings

On August 20, 2007, Channelview filed voluntary petitions in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of
Delaware for reorganization under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code. The bankruptcy cases are being jointly
administered, with Channelview managing its business in the ordinary course as debtors-in-possession subject to the
supervision of the bankruptcy court.

Under Channelview LP s credit agreement, the partnership was required to maintain a working capital requirement of
$14 million. The covenant was previously met by a $14 million revolving working capital facility. That facility
matured on August 15, 2007. Failure to meet the working capital requirement would eventually have constituted an
event of default. Channelview LP filed for bankruptcy protection to prevent the lenders from exercising their

remedies, including foreclosing on the project. During 2007, we incurred $3 million in selling, general and
administrative expenses related to these bankruptcy filings and associated costs, which do not include the
reorganization costs that Channelview incurred subsequent to August 19, 2007. Channelview LP s debt is non-recourse
to Reliant Energy and the bankruptcy filings did not cause a default under any of our other debt.

As a result of the bankruptcies, we deconsolidated Channelview s financial results beginning August 20, 2007, and
began reporting our investment in Channelview using the cost method. The following table contains certain combined
financial information of Channelview:

December 31,
2007 2006
(in millions)

Property, plant and equipment, net $ 356 $ 368
Secured debt obligations, including accrued interest 340 343
Payables to Reliant Energy and its subsidiaries, net 96 72

In February 2008, we entered into an agreement to sell our Channelview cogeneration assets and assign related
contracts for $468 million. The sale is subject to closing conditions, including the approval of the bankruptcy court.
We expect to close in the second or third quarter of 2008.

The sale is expected to resolve the bankruptcy proceedings and provide value to us for our equity interest. Proceeds
from the sale will be used to settle the claims of secured creditors (approximately $379 million of debt, accrued
interest and make-whole payments as of January 31, 2008), the claims of unsecured creditors (approximately

$29 million as of January 31, 2008), and a cash sharing agreement (amount subject to a bankruptcy court ruling).
Residual proceeds will be retained by us.

Table of Contents 120



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Any gain or loss on the sale will depend on the net proceeds received. It is reasonably possible an impairment could
be recognized if the net proceeds and remaining assets (including cash and working capital) do not exceed our net
investment in and receivables from Channelview ($83 million as of December 31, 2007, classified as current assets).

(22) Discontinued Operations

(a) New York Plants.

General. In February 2006, we closed on the sale of our three remaining New York plants with an aggregate net
generating capacity of approximately 2,100 MW for $979 million. During the third quarter of 2005, we began to
report the results of the New York plants as discontinued operations. These plants were a part of our wholesale energy

segment.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Use of Proceeds. We applied $952 million of cash proceeds, which is net of estimated city, state and transfer taxes
and transaction costs, to pay down our senior secured term loans.

Assumptions Related to Debt, Deferred Financing Costs and Interest Expense on Discontinued Operations. Based on
our contractual obligation (at the time the purchase and sale agreement was executed) to utilize a portion of the net
proceeds from the sale to prepay debt, we classified $638 million of debt as discontinued operations. We have also
classified as discontinued operations the related deferred financing costs and interest expense on this debt. We
allocated $15 million and $39 million of related interest expense during 2006 and 2005, respectively, to discontinued
operations. No interest was allocated to discontinued operations subsequent to the closing.

(b) Ceredo Plant.

In 2005, we sold our 505 MW Ceredo power plant for $100 million. We used the net cash proceeds of $100 million to
pay down a portion of our senior secured term loans. During the third quarter of 2005, we began to report results of
Ceredo s operations as discontinued operations effective January 1, 2005. The plant was a part of our wholesale energy
segment.

(c) European Energy.

In 2003, we sold our European energy operations, which formerly were a reportable segment. We have reported the
results of our European energy operations as discontinued operations since the first quarter of 2003.

In addition to the initial cash proceeds, we are entitled to receive a significant portion of any cash distributions in
excess of Euro 110 million received by the purchaser from the former coordinating body for the Dutch electricity
sector as contingent consideration for the sale. We received payments of $52 million during 2005.

(d) All Discontinued Operations.

The following summarizes certain financial information of the businesses reported as discontinued operations:

New

York Ceredo European

Plants Plant Energy Total
2006
Revenues $ 108 $ $ $ 108
Loss before income tax expense/benefit (ML 7
2005
Revenues $ 996 $ $ $ 996
Income (loss) before income tax expense/benefit 182 Q27 52 43

(1) Includes an additional pre-tax loss on disposal of $16 million primarily due to changes in derivative assets not
terminated as of the date of sale. The cumulative pre-tax loss on disposal through December 31, 2006 was
$255 million.
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(2) Includes $239 million estimated loss on disposal.
(3) Includes $27 million loss on disposal.

Subsequent to the sale of our New York plants in February 2006, we continue to have (a) insignificant settlements
with the independent system operator and (b) property tax settlements. These amounts are classified as discontinued
operations in our results of operations. We recognized $7 million of income before income taxes from discontinued
operations during 2007. In addition, we have some amounts on our consolidated balance sheets classified as
discontinued operations relating to these settlements and other insignificant items.
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Column A

Description

2007

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserves deducted from

derivative assets
2006

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserves deducted from derivative assets
Reserves for severance

2005

Allowance for doubtful accounts
Reserves deducted from derivative assets 87,323
Reserves for severance

Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

RELIANT ENERGY, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

SCHEDULE II VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

2007, 2006 and 2005
Column B Column C Column D
Additions
Balance
at Charged Charged Deductions
Beginning to to Other from
of Period Income Accounts®  Reserves®
(thousands of dollars)
$ 33,332 $ 78,588 $ $ (75,196)
126,710 (58,310) (159)
34,054 86,961 (87,683)
197,384 (68,240) (2,434)
1,860 3,845 (5,705)
41,636 57,817 (65,399)
128,306 33 (18,278)
1,325 8,664 (8,129)

(1) Represents charges to accumulated other comprehensive income/loss.

Column E

Balance at
End
of Period

$ 36,724
68,241
33,332

126,710

34,054
197,384
1,860

(2) Deductions from reserves represent losses or expenses for which the respective reserves were created. In the
case of the allowance for doubtful accounts, such deductions are net of recoveries of amounts previously written

off.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Members
RERH Holdings, LLC:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of RERH Holdings, LLC and subsidiaries (the
Company), as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, members equity
and comprehensive income, and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of RERH Holdings, LLC and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results of
their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting

principles.

As discussed in note 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its accounting for income tax
uncertainties in 2007.

KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 25, 2008
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RERH HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2007 2006
(thousands of dollars)
Revenues:
Electricity sales and services revenues (including $(70) and $227 unrealized
gains(losses)) $ 7,978,078 $ 7,460,341
Expenses:
Cost of sales (including $443,218 and $(394,902) unrealized gains (losses)) 6,368,557 2,790,009
Cost of sales affiliates 236,762 3,937,469
Operation and maintenance 225,261 206,397
Operation and maintenance affiliates 19,271 25917
Selling, general and administrative 211,372 231,692
Selling, general and administrative affiliates 68,876 70,060
Depreciation and amortization 23,947 29,490
Total operating expense 7,154,046 7,291,034
Operating Income 824,032 169,307
Other Income (Expense):
Other, net 699 22
Interest expense (29,476) (28,198)
Interest income 15,166 2,481
Interest income (expense), net affiliates (6,579) 104,427
Total other income (expense) (20,190) 78,732
Income Before Income Taxes 803,842 248,039
Income tax expense 309,135 96,180
Net Income 494,707 $ 151,859
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F-68
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,

2007

2006

(thousands of dollars)

ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 226,200
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue, principally customer, net of allowance

of $34,947 and $29,386 776,115
Accumulated deferred income taxes 94,744
Derivative assets 128,935
Prepayments and other current assets 21,171
Total current assets 1,247,165
Property, Plant and Equipment, net 43,487
Other Assets:

Goodwill, net 31,631
Derivative assets 75,660
Other 22,969
Total other assets 130,260
Total Assets $ 1,420,912

LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Accounts payable, principally trade $ 486,746
Payable to affiliates, net 40,437
Retail customer deposits 62,676
Other taxes payable 46,634
Taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc. 21,188
Accrual for transmission and distribution charges 74,393
Derivative liabilities 336,440
Other 90,569
Total current liabilities 1,159,083
Other Liabilities:

Derivative liabilities 38,011
Other 33,833
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$ 136,017
13,000

732,975
206,795
422,098
41,603
1,552,488
54,340
31,631
127,028
47,434
206,093

$ 1,812,921

$ 396,728
38,970
67,068
53,585

60,654
904,108
75,497
1,596,610

225,997
19,043
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Total other liabilities 71,844 245,040
Commitments and Contingencies Members Equity:
Members equity 189,985 (28,729)
Total members equity 189,985 (28,729)
Total Liabilities and Members Equity $ 1,420,912 $ 1,812,921

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RERH HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Net changes in energy derivatives

Non-cash federal income tax contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net
Other, net

Changes in other assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable and unbilled revenue, net
Receivables/payables affiliates

Margin deposits, net

Net derivative assets and liabilities

Accounts payable

Other current assets

Other current liabilities

Other assets

Retail customer deposits

Taxes payable/receivable

Other taxes payable

Accrual for transmission and distribution charges

Taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc. and related accrued interest
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Restricted cash

Capital expenditures

Contribution to investment

Contribution from Reliant Energy, Inc. of Reliant Energy Solutions East, LLC

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Dividends to Reliant Energy, Inc.

Decrease in short-term borrowings, net

Contributions from (distributions to) Reliant Energy, Inc.

Changes in note with Reliant Energy, Inc., net

Net cash used in financing activities
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2007 2006
(thousands of dollars)
$ 494,707 151,859
23,947 29,490
163,557 (108,547)
(391,981) 407,649
179,222
3,301 1,118
12,315 196,846
(41,891) (481,521)
10,890 (2,775)
(22,709) (76,112)
89,974 271,019
9,806 10,763
12,902 31,057
(5,295) 342
(4,392) 6,158
(4,226) 9,032
(9,057) 14,311
13,739 16,344
21,188
(2,687) (3,477)
374,088 652,778
13,000 (13,000)
(13,457) (9,424)
(2,550)
2,530
477 (22,424)
(437,000)
(450,000)
153,572 (2,944)
(50,115)
(283,428) (503,059)
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Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 90,183 127,295
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 136,017 8,722
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 226,200 136,017
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash Payments:
Interest paid to affiliate $ 5,995 2,942
Interest paid to third parties 29,741 29,090
Income taxes paid (net of income tax refunds received) 25,012 16,472
Income taxes paid to affiliate 110,000
Non-cash Disclosure:
Contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net 995 171,629
Transfer of certain assets and liabilities from Reliant Energy Electric Solutions, LLC
to Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC, net 329,807
Transfer of certain assets and liabilities from Reliant Energy Services, Inc. to Reliant
Energy Power Supply, LLC, net (2,254) (329,773)
Contributions from (distributions to) Reliant Energy, Inc. of Reliant Energy Solutions
East, LLC 6,164 (2,058)
Distribution to Reliant Energy, Inc. of note receivable (1,943,943)

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RERH HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBERS EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Members Comprehensive
Equity Income
(thousands of dollars)
Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 1,596,694
Net income 151,859 $ 151,859
Contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net 171,629
Distribution to Reliant Energy, Inc. of Reliant Energy Solutions East, LLC (5,002)
Distribution to Reliant Energy, Inc. of note receivable (1,943,943)
Transfer of certain assets and liabilities from Reliant Energy Electric Solutions,
LLC to Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC, net 329,807
Transfer of certain assets and liabilities from Reliant Energy Services, Inc. to
Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC, net (329,773)
Comprehensive income $ 151,859
Balance at December 31, 2006 $ (28,729)
Net income 494,707 494,707
Contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net 154,567
Distribution to Reliant Energy, Inc. of cash dividend (437,000)
Contribution from Reliant Energy, Inc. of Reliant Energy Solutions East, LLC 8,694
Transfer of certain assets and liabilities from Reliant Energy Services, Inc. to
Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC, net (2,254)
Comprehensive income $ 494,707
Balance at December 31, 2007 $ 189,985
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Background and Basis of Presentation

Background. Retail Holdings refers to RERH Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, which is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Reliant Energy, Inc. and was formed in July 2006. However, no activity occurred until
December 1, 2006. The transfer of Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LLC and its subsidiaries by Reliant Energy, Inc.
into Retail Holdings is a transfer of equity interests between entities under common control. Accordingly, the results
of operations of RERH Holdings, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries (RERH Holdings) reflect the transfer as if it
occurred at the beginning of 2006. Reliant Energy refers to Reliant Energy, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries.
Reliant Energy, Inc. is the sole Class A member and holds all 1,000 membership units of that class of Retail Holdings.
In connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure, Merrill Lynch Commodities, Inc. owns one Class B
membership unit, which is all of the issued and outstanding units of that class for Retail Holdings. The Class B
member has only limited rights to vote on certain matters and no interest in profits and losses.

In preparation for and in connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure, RERH Holdings made ownership
changes relating to entities, assets and liabilities during 2006. The following occurred (related amounts are included
on the consolidated statements of members equity and comprehensive income):

Formed Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC in April 2006 to procure the purchased power for RERH Holdings
Texas retail customers. Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC began procuring power in July 2006.

Reliant Energy Solutions East, LLC was distributed to Reliant Energy, Inc. on October 1, 2006 as this entity
does business for retail customers outside of Texas. See below for 2007 activity.

Certain assets and liabilities were transferred from Reliant Energy Electric Solutions, LLC and Reliant Energy
Services, Inc. (both of which are not subsidiaries of Retail Holdings) to Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC in
the third and fourth quarters of 2006 as these related to supply positions for the Texas retail customers.

During 2007, RERH Holdings completed the inclusion of its business outside of Texas in the credit-enhanced retail
structure. The following occurred (related amounts are included on the consolidated statements of members equity and
comprehensive income):

Reliant Energy, Inc. contributed Reliant Energy Solutions East, LLC to Reliant Energy Retail Services, LLC
on August 1, 2007 and its operations are included in these consolidated financial statements from that point
forward for 2007. See above for 2006 activity.

RERH Holdings provides electricity and energy services to retail electricity customers in Texas, including residential
and small business customers and commercial, industrial and governmental/institutional customers. RERH Holdings
next largest market is the market operated by PJM Interconnection, LLC, primarily in New Jersey, Maryland, the
District of Columbia and Pennsylvania. Approximately 65% of RERH Holdings residential and small business
customers are in the Houston area.

As of December 31, 2007, RERH Holdings subsidiaries include:

Subsidiary Formation Date
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Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LLC (the predecessor parent) September 2000
Reliant Energy Retail Services, LLC September 2000
Reliant Energy Solutions East, LLC February 2002
RE Retail Receivables, LLC June 2002
Reliant Energy Power Supply, LLC April 2006
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RERH HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
Basis of Presentation. These consolidated statements include all revenues and costs directly attributable to RERH
Holdings including costs for facilities and costs for functions and services performed by Reliant Energy and charged
to RERH Holdings. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.
(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Use of Estimates and Market Risk and Uncertainties.

Management makes estimates and assumptions to prepare financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) that affect:

the reported amount of assets, liabilities and equity,

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
RERH Holdings critical accounting estimates include: (a) fair value of derivative assets and liabilities; (b) estimated
revenues and energy supply costs; and (c) deferred tax assets, valuation allowances and tax liabilities. Actual results

could differ from the estimates.

RERH Holdings is subject to various risks inherent in doing business. See notes 2(c),2(d), 2(e), 2(g), 2(h), 4,5, 6,7, 8
and 9.

(b) Principles of Consolidation.

Retail Holdings includes its accounts and those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries in its consolidated financial
statements.

(c) Revenues.

Gross revenues for energy sales and services to residential and small business customers and to commercial, industrial
and governmental/institutional customers are recognized upon delivery under the accrual method. Energy sales and
services that have been delivered but not billed by period-end are estimated.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, RERH Holdings recorded unbilled revenues of $435 million and $398 million,
respectively, for energy sales and services. Accrued unbilled revenues are based on RERH Holdings estimates of
customer usage since the date of the last meter reading provided by the independent system operators or electric
distribution companies. Volume estimates are based on daily forecasted volumes and estimated customer usage by
class. Unbilled revenues are calculated by multiplying volume estimates by the applicable rate by customer class.
Estimated amounts are adjusted when actual usage is known and billed.

(d) Derivatives and Hedging Activities.
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RERH Holdings accounts for its derivatives instruments and hedging activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133,
Accounting for Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (SFAS No. 133).

RERH Holdings uses derivative instruments to manage operational or market constraints and to execute its supply
procurement strategy. The instruments used are fixed-price derivative contracts to hedge the variability in future cash
flows from forecasted sales of power and purchases of fuel and power. RERH Holdings objective in entering into
these fixed-price derivatives is to fix the price for a portion of these transactions.

For RERH Holdings risk management activities, it uses both derivative and non-derivative contracts that provide for
settlement in cash or by delivery of a commodity. The primary types of derivative instruments RERH Holdings uses

are forwards, futures, swaps and options. RERH Holdings accounts for its derivatives
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

under one of two accounting methods (mark-to-market or accrual accounting (under the normal purchase/normal sale
exception to fair value)) based on facts and circumstances. The fair values of derivative activities are determined by
(a) prices actively quoted, (b) prices provided by other external sources or (c) prices based on models and other
valuation methods.

Realized gains and losses on derivatives contracts not held for trading purposes are reported either on a net or gross
basis based on the relevant facts and circumstances. Hedging transactions that do not physically flow are included in
the same caption as the items being hedged. A summary of RERH Holdings derivative activities and classification in
its results of operations is:

Transactions that

Purpose for Holding or Physically Transactions that
Instrument Issuing Instrument® Flow/Settle Financially Settle®
Power futures, forward, swap  Power sales to end-use retail Revenues N/A®)
and option contracts customers
Supply management revenues Revenues Cost of sales
Power purchases Cost of sales Cost of sales
Natural gas futures, forward, = Natural gas purchases/sales N/A®) Cost of sales

swap and option contracts

(1) The purpose for holding or issuing is not impacted by the accounting method elected for each instrument.
(2) Includes classification for mark-to-market derivatives.
(3) N/A is not applicable.

Unrealized gains and losses on energy derivatives consist of both gains and losses on energy derivatives during the
current reporting period for derivative assets or liabilities that have not settled as of the balance sheet date and the
reversal of unrealized gains and losses from prior periods for derivative assets or liabilities that settled prior to the
balance sheet date but during the current reporting period.

In addition to market risk, RERH Holdings is exposed to credit and operational risk. Reliant Energy has a risk control
framework, to which RERH Holdings is subject, to manage these risks, which include: (a) measuring and monitoring
these risks, (b) review and approval of new transactions relative to these risks, (c) transaction validation and

(d) portfolio valuation and reporting. RERH Holdings uses mark-to-market valuation, value-at-risk and other metrics
in monitoring and measuring risk. Reliant Energy s risk control framework includes a variety of separate but
complementary processes, which involve commercial and senior management and Reliant Energy s Board of
Directors. See note 2(e) for further discussion of RERH Holdings credit policy.

Set-off of Derivative Assets and Liabilities. Where derivative instruments are subject to a master netting agreement
and the accounting criteria to offset are met, RERH Holdings presents its derivative assets and liabilities on a net
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basis. Derivative assets/liabilities and accounts receivable/payable are presented and set-off separately in the
consolidated balance sheets although in most cases contracts permit the set-off of derivative assets/liabilities and
accounts receivable/payable with a given counterparty.

New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted Offsetting of Amounts. The FASB issued FSP FIN 39-1, an
amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39 (FIN 39), which was applicable for RERH Holdings beginning January 1,
2008. This interpretation allows either (a) offsetting assets and liabilities for derivative instruments under a common
master netting arrangement only if the fair value amounts recognized for any related cash collateral are also offset or
(b) presenting these amounts gross.

Effective January 1, 2008, RERH Holdings plans to discontinue netting its derivative assets and liabilities and present
them on a gross basis. Cash collateral amounts will remain presented on a gross basis. This
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

change will significantly increase RERH Holdings derivative assets and liabilities retrospectively for all financial
statements presented.

(e) Credit Risk.

RERH Holdings has a credit policy that governs the management of credit risk, including the establishment of
counterparty credit limits and specific transaction approvals. Credit risk is monitored daily and the financial condition
of counterparties is reviewed periodically. RERH Holdings tries to mitigate credit risk by entering into contracts that
permit netting and allow it to terminate upon the occurrence of certain events of default. RERH Holdings measures
credit risk as the replacement cost for its derivative positions plus amounts owed for settled transactions.

RERH Holdings credit exposure is based on its derivative assets and accounts receivable from its power supply
counterparties, after taking into consideration netting within each contract and any master netting contracts with
counterparties. RERH Holdings provides reserves for non-investment grade counterparties representing a significant
portion of its credit exposure. As of December 31, 2007, one non-investment grade counterparty represented 95%
($144 million) of RERH Holdings credit exposure. As of December 31, 2006, one non-investment grade counterparty
represented 99% ($261 million) of RERH Holdings credit exposure. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, RERH
Holdings held no collateral from these counterparties. There were no other counterparties representing greater than
10% of its credit exposure.

(f) Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses include, among other items, (a) selling and marketing, (b) bad debt
expense, (c) financial services, (d) legal costs, (e) regulatory costs and (f) certain benefit costs. Some of the expenses
are allocated from affiliates (see note 3).

(g) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation Expense.

RERH Holdings computes depreciation using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives. Depreciation
expense was $24 million and $29 million during 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Estimated
Useful December 31,
Lives (Years) 2007 2006
(in millions)
Information technology 3-10 $ 183 $ 174
Furniture and leasehold improvements 3-10 6 6
Assets under construction 5 5
Total 194 185
Accumulated depreciation (151) (131)
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Property, plant and equipment, net $ 43 $ 54

RERH Holdings periodically evaluates property, plant and equipment for impairment when events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the
underlying assumptions of related cash flows. RERH Holdings recorded no material property, plant and equipment
impairments during 2007 and 2006.

(h) Intangible Assets and Amortization Expense.

Goodwill. RERH Holdings performs its goodwill impairment test annually on April 1 and when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. As of December 31,
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

2007 and 2006, RERH Holdings had $17 million and $19 million, respectively, of goodwill that is deductible for
United States income tax purposes in future periods.

Other Intangibles. RERH Holdings recognizes specifically identifiable intangible assets, including renewable energy
credits, when specific rights and contracts are acquired. RERH Holdings has no intangible assets with indefinite lives
recorded as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

(i) Income Taxes.

Federal. RERH Holdings is included in the consolidated federal income tax returns of Reliant Energy and calculates
its income tax provision on a separate return basis, whereby Reliant Energy pays all federal income taxes on RERH
Holdings behalf and is entitled to any related tax savings. The difference between RERH Holdings current federal
income tax expense or benefit, as calculated on a separate return basis, and related amounts paid to/received from
Reliant Energy, if any, were recorded in RERH Holdings financial statements as adjustments to members equity.
Reliant Energy changed its funding policy in January 2007 and these differences are recorded to (a) income taxes
payable to Reliant Energy, Inc. if RERH Holdings has cumulative taxable income on a separate return basis or

(b) deferred tax assets if RERH Holdings has cumulative taxable losses on a separate return basis. Deferred federal
income taxes reflected on RERH Holdings consolidated balance sheet will ultimately be settled with Reliant Energy.
See notes 3 and 7.

State. RERH Holdings is included in the consolidated state income tax returns of Reliant Energy. It calculates its state
provision, related payables or receivables and deferred state income taxes on a separate return basis and primarily
settles the related assets and liabilities directly with the governmental entity. See note 7.

() Cash and Cash Equivalents.

RERH Holdings records all highly liquid short-term investments with maturities of three months or less as cash
equivalents.

(k) Restricted Cash.

Restricted cash as of December 31, 2006 was comprised of funds received in error and subsequently returned.

(1) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.

RERH Holdings accrues an allowance for doubtful accounts based on estimates of uncollectible revenues by
analyzing counterparty credit ratings (for commercial and industrial customers), historical collections, accounts
receivable agings and other factors. RERH Holdings writes-off accounts receivable balances against the allowance for
doubtful accounts when it determines a receivable is uncollectible.

(m) Gross Receipts Taxes.

RERH Holdings records gross receipts taxes on a gross basis in revenues and operations and maintenance expense in
its consolidated statements of operations. During 2007 and 2006, RERH Holdings revenues and operation and
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maintenance expense include gross receipts taxes of $97 million and $102 million, respectively.
(n) Sales Taxes.

RERH Holdings records sales taxes collected from its taxable customers and remitted to the various governmental
entities on a net basis, thus there is no impact on its consolidated statements of operations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(0) New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted Fair Value.

The FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (SFAS No. 157),
which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about

fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is to be applied prospectively, except for aspects that do not apply to RERH
Holdings. RERH Holdings adopted SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. In connection with the adoption, (a) no
cumulative effect of an accounting change will be recognized and (b) RERH Holdings expects to decrease its

derivative liabilities and increase its income before income taxes relating to discounting these liabilities using its own
credit ratings. For non-financial assets and liabilities, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 has been deferred until January 1,
2009.

(3) Related Party Transactions

These financial statements include the impact of significant transactions between RERH Holdings and Reliant Energy.
The majority of these transactions involve the purchase or sale of energy, capacity or related services from or to
RERH Holdings and allocations of costs to RERH Holdings for support services.

Support and Technical Services. Reliant Energy provides commercial support, technical services and other corporate
services to RERH Holdings. Reliant Energy allocates certain support services costs to RERH Holdings based on

RERH Holdings underlying planned operating expenses relative to the underlying planned operating expenses of other
entities to which Reliant Energy provides similar services and also charges RERH Holdings for certain other services
based on usage. Management believes this method of allocation is reasonable. These allocations and charges were not
necessarily indicative of what would have been incurred had RERH Holdings been an unaffiliated entity. Effective

with the credit-enhanced retail structure, beginning December 1, 2006, Reliant Energy charges a fee for these services
calculated in the same manner and including a mark-up percentage of 1.5%, which was $1 million in 2007 and
insignificant in 2006.

The following details the amounts recorded as operation and maintenance affiliates and selling, general and
administrative affiliates:

2007 2006
(in millions)

Allocated or charged by Reliant Energy) $ 88 $ 96

(1) Includes $2 million and $3 million for RERH Holdings share of allocated rent expense.

Services from Reliant Energy Electric Solutions, LLC and Reliant Energy Services, Inc. Reliant Energy Retail
Holdings, LLC transferred its interest in Reliant Energy Electric Solutions, LLC (REES) to Reliant Energy on

January 1, 2005. During 2006 (through November 30, 2006), REES and Reliant Energy Services, Inc. (RES) primarily
provided the energy supply services to RERH Holdings. The administrative costs for these services are included in the
corporate support services allocations discussed above. Prior to December 1, 2006, REES and RES entered into
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contracts with third parties for the purposes of supplying RERH Holdings with some of the electricity necessary to
serve its retail customers. RERH Holdings reimbursed REES and RES for the ultimate price of any electricity sold
from REES/RES to RERH Holdings, including costs of derivative instruments, upon final delivery of that electricity.
These supply contracts are subject to the provisions of the master commodity purchase and sale agreements, master
netting arrangements and other contractual arrangements that REES and RES utilize with third-party customers and
suppliers in connection with their supply portfolio management activities, including those activities undertaken for
RERH Holdings. Effective December 1, 2006, RERH Holdings manages primarily all of its electricity supply
portfolio directly with third parties.

2007 2006
(in millions)

Purchases from Reliant Energy under various commodity agreements(! $ 237 $ 3,937

(1) Recorded in cost of sales affiliates.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Notes Receivable Reliant Energy, Inc. Reliant Energy manages RERH Holdings daily cash balances. Prior to the
credit-enhanced retail structure, excess cash was advanced to Reliant Energy, which provided a cash management
function, and was recorded in notes receivable from Reliant Energy, Inc. RERH Holdings recorded interest income or
expense, based on whether RERH Holdings invested excess funds, or borrowed funds from Reliant Energy. The
amount of net interest income was $104 million during 2006. During 2006, this note receivable was distributed to
Reliant Energy as a non-cash equity distribution in the amount of $1.9 billion.

Naming Rights to Houston Sports Complex. In 2000, Reliant Energy acquired the naming rights, including advertising
and other benefits, for a football stadium and other convention and entertainment facilities. Pursuant to this agreement,
Reliant Energy is required to pay $10 million per year from 2002 through 2032. These costs are charged to RERH
Holdings by Reliant Energy and are included in selling, general and administrative expense.

Income Taxes. See discussion in note 2(i) regarding RERH Holdings policy with regards to income taxes.

2007 2006
(in millions)

Non-cash federal income tax contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net $ $ 179

As of December 31, 2007, RERH Holdings has $21 million recorded as taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc., which
includes accrued interest payable of $2 million. RERH Holdings has incurred interest expense related to this payable
of $7 million during 2007.

(4) Debt
(a) Working Capital Facility.

In connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure, on December 1, 2006, RERH Holdings entered into a

$300 million working capital facility agreement with Merrill Lynch & Co., Inc. and affiliates (Merrill Lynch). As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, no amounts were outstanding under this facility. Loans bear interest at LIBOR plus
0.45% or a base rate. Borrowings under this facility will mature on the 90th day after the termination of the credit
sleeve and reimbursement agreement with Merrill Lynch. The working capital facility includes a $150 million
minimum adjusted EBITDA (earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortization) requirement for RERH
Holdings for each trailing four-quarter period. The covenants under the credit sleeve and reimbursement agreement
with Merrill Lynch also apply to the working capital facility. The obligations of RERH Holdings are non-recourse to
Reliant Energy.

(b) Receivables Facility.
RERH Holdings had a receivables facility arrangement to sell an undivided interest in accounts receivable from its

business to financial institutions on an ongoing basis. In connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure, this
agreement was terminated and RERH Holdings repaid $450 million on December 1, 2006.
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The borrowings under the facility bore interest at floating rates that included fees based on the facility s level of
commitment and utilization. RERH Holdings serviced the receivables and received a fee of 0.4% of cash collected
during 2006, which approximated the actual service costs.

(5) Credit-Enhanced Retail Structure

The credit sleeve and reimbursement agreement (the agreement) and a working capital facility agreement, providing
for revolving credit loans, each with Merrill Lynch became effective on December 1, 2006, which
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substantially eliminated collateral postings for RERH Holdings business, although these collateral postings were made
by Reliant Energy, not RERH Holdings.

Under the agreement, Merrill Lynch provides guarantees and the posting of collateral to RERH Holdings
counterparties in supply transactions for its retail energy business. Cash flow activity in connection with these
contracts and related collateral is classified as operating cash flow. During 2006, RERH Holdings recorded an
unrealized loss on energy derivatives of $18 million due to the differences in quantity between contracts with Merrill
Lynch and its contracts with the exchange relating to existing financially settled supply contracts.

RERH Holdings paid Merrill Lynch one-time structuring fees of $14 million ($13 million in 2006 and $1 million in
2007), which were expensed as general and administrative costs. RERH Holdings also pays a fee to Merrill Lynch of
$0.40 for each megawatt hour (MWh) of power that it delivers to its retail customers. This fee ($26 million and

$2 million during 2007 and 2006, respectively) is classified as interest expense. RERH Holdings is obligated to
reimburse Merrill Lynch to the extent that any guarantees are called upon or any collateral posted by Merrill Lynch is
foreclosed upon.

The initial term of the agreement was five years; effective December 31, 2007, the term was extended by an additional
year. RERH Holdings is permitted to terminate at any time, subject to a make-whole payment during the first two
years of the agreement. Merrill Lynch does not have an early termination option.

In connection with the agreement, Reliant Energy implemented a structure so that the entities comprising its retail
energy business became subsidiaries of Retail Holdings. The agreement (a) restricts the ability of RERH Holdings to,
among other actions, (i) encumber its assets, (ii) sell certain assets, (iii) incur additional debt, (iv) pay dividends or pay
subordinated debt, (v) make investments or acquisitions or (vi) enter into certain transactions with affiliates and

(b) requires RERH Holdings to manage its risks related to commodity prices. RERH Holdings obligations under the
agreement with Merrill Lynch and the retail working capital facility are secured by first liens on the assets of RERH
Holdings. Retail Holdings and its subsidiaries are designed to maintain the separate nature of their assets, avoid
consolidation of such assets with the bankruptcy estate of Reliant Energy in the event Reliant Energy ever becomes
subject to such a proceeding, and ensure that such assets are available first and foremost to satisfy their creditors
claims. The obligations of RERH Holdings under the agreement and the retail working capital facility are
non-recourse to Reliant Energy. See note 4(a) for discussion of the retail working capital facility.

(6) Benefit Plans

RERH Holdings eligible employees participate in Reliant Energy s stock-based incentive plans. During 2007 and
2006, RERH Holdings pre-tax stock-based incentive plans compensation expense was $6 million and $5 million,
respectively.

RERH Holdings employees participate in Reliant Energy s employee savings plans under Sections 401(a) and 401(k)
of the Internal Revenue Code. RERH Holdings savings plan benefit expense, including matching and discretionary

contributions, was $6 million and $4 million during 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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(7) Income Taxes
(a) Summary.
RERH Holdings income tax expense (benefit) is:

2007 2006
(in millions)

Current:

Federal $ 126 $ 179
State 20 26
Total current 146 205
Deferred:

Federal 141 95)
State 22 (14)
Total deferred 163 (109)
Income tax expense $ 309 $ 96

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is:

2007 2006
Federal statutory rate 35% 35%
Additions (reductions) resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes 3 4
Effective rate 38% 39%
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December 31,
2007 2006

(in millions)

Deferred tax assets:

Current:

Derivative liabilities, net $ 80 $ 202
Allowance for doubtful accounts and credit provisions 12 11
Employee benefits 1 1
Other 3

Total current deferred tax assets 96 214
Non-current:

Derivative liabilities, net 39
Employee benefits 2
Total non-current deferred tax assets 41
Total deferred tax assets $ 9% $ 255

Deferred tax liabilities:

Current:

Other $ $ 7
Total current deferred tax liabilities 7
Non-current:

Depreciation and amortization 9 17
Derivative assets, net 13

Other 1
Total non-current deferred tax liabilities 22 18
Total deferred tax liabilities $ 22 $ 25
Accumulated deferred income taxes, net $ 74 $ 230

(b) Valuation Allowances.

RERH Holdings assesses its future ability to use deferred tax assets using the more-likely-than-not criteria. These
assessments include an evaluation of its recent history of earnings and losses, future reversals of temporary differences
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and identification of other sources of future taxable income, including the identification of tax planning strategies in
certain situations. Based on the analysis, RERH Holdings determined that no valuation allowance is needed for its
deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

(c) Adoption of FIN 48 and Tax Uncertainties.

Effective January 1, 2007, RERH Holdings adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, (FIN 48). This interpretation addresses whether (and when) tax benefits
claimed in Reliant Energy s federal and RERH Holdings state tax returns should be recorded in the financial
statements. Pursuant to FIN 48, RERH Holdings may only recognize the tax benefit for financial reporting purposes
from an uncertain tax position when it is more-likely-than-not that, based on the technical merits, the position will be
sustained by taxing authorities or the courts. The recognized tax
F-81
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benefits are measured as the largest benefit having a greater than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon
settlement with a taxing authority. FIN 48 also provides guidance for derecognition, classification, interest and
penalties, disclosures, transition rules and related matters. RERH Holdings classifies accrued interest and penalties
related to uncertain income tax positions in income tax expense. Adoption of FIN 48 had no impact on RERH
Holdings consolidated financial statements.

As of January 1, 2007 and December 31, 2007, RERH Holdings had no amounts accrued for unrecognized tax
benefits, interest or penalties. During 2007 and 2006, RERH Holdings recognized $0 of income tax expense (benefit)
due to changes in interest and penalties for federal and state income taxes.

RERH Holdings has the following years that remain subject to examination or are currently under audit for its major

tax jurisdictions:

Subject to Currently Under

Examination Audit
Federal 1997 to 2007 1997 to 2005
Texas 2000 to 2007 2000 to 2005
Pennsylvania 2004 to 2007 2006

RERH Holdings, through Reliant Energy, expects to continue discussions with taxing authorities regarding tax
positions related to the following, and believe it is reasonably possible some of these matters could be resolved during
2008; however, it cannot estimate the range of changes that might occur:

$177 million payment to CenterPoint during 2004 related to residential customers; and

the timing of tax deductions could be changed as a result of negotiations with respect to depreciation.
(8) Commitments

(a) Lease Commitments.

Cash Obligations Under Operating Leases. RERH Holdings projected cash obligations under non-cancelable
long-term operating leases as of December 31, 2007 are (in millions):

2008 $ 15
2009 16
2010 16
2011 7
2012 1

2013 and thereafter
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Operating Lease Expense. Total lease expense for all operating leases was $12 million during 2007 and 2006.
(b) Guarantees and Indemnifications.

Equity Pledged as Collateral for Reliant Energy. Retail Holdings equity is pledged as collateral under certain of
Reliant Energy s credit and debt agreements, which have an outstanding balance of $1.2 billion as of December 31,
2007.

Other. RERH Holdings enters into contracts that include indemnification and guarantee provisions. In general, RERH
Holdings enters into contracts with indemnities for matters such as breaches of representations and warranties and

covenants contained in the contract and/or against certain specified liabilities. Examples of
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these contracts include asset sales agreements, retail supply agreements, service agreements and procurement
agreements.

RERH Holdings is unable to estimate its maximum potential exposure under these agreements until an event
triggering payment occurs. RERH Holdings does not expect to make any material payments under these agreements.

(c) Other Commitments.
Purchased Power Commitments. RERH Holdings is a party to purchased power contracts of various quantities and
durations that are not classified as derivative assets and liabilities. These contracts are not included in the consolidated

balance sheet as of December 31, 2007. Minimum purchase commitment obligations under these agreements are as
follows as of December 31, 2007:

Purchased Power Commitments

Fixed
Pricing Variable Pricing®
(in millions)

2008 $ 67 $ 13
2009 73 11
2010 13
2011 13
2012 13
2013 and thereafter 6
Total $ 185 $ 24

(1) For contracts with variable pricing components, RERH Holdings estimated prices based on forward commodity
curves as of December 31, 2007.

As of December 31, 2007, the maximum remaining term under any individual purchased power contract is seven
years.

Sales Commitments. As of December 31, 2007, RERH Holdings has sales commitments, including electric energy
and capacity sales contracts, which are not classified as derivative assets and liabilities. The estimated minimum sales
commitments over the next five years under these contracts are as follows:

Fixed
Pricing» Variable Pricing)2
(in millions)
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2008 $ 854 $ 2,071
2009 526 1,517
2010 213 1,130
2011 64 859
2012 27 573
Total $ 1,684 $ 6,150

(1) In connection with the credit-enhanced retail structure, RERH Holdings estimates the fees under these sales

commitments to be $15 million, $10 million, $7 million, $5 million and $3 million during 2008, 2009, 2010,
2011 and 2012, respectively.

(2) For contracts with variable pricing components, RERH Holdings estimated prices based on forward commodity
curves as of December 31, 2007.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(9) Contingencies

RERH Holdings is involved in legal and other matters before courts and governmental agencies. Unless otherwise
noted, RERH Holdings cannot predict the outcome of these matters.

PUCT Cases. There are various proceedings pending before the state district court in Travis County, Texas, seeking
reviews of the Public Utility Commission of Texas orders relating to the fuel factor component used in the

price-to-beat tariff. These proceedings pertain to the same issues affirmed by a district court in Travis County and later
by the Travis County Court of Appeals in 2004 in a separate proceeding.

(10) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable and derivative assets and liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of Reliant Energy, Inc., Sole Member of Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LLC
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, member s equity and comprehensive
income, and cash flows of Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LLC and subsidiaries (the Company ) for the year ended
December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration
of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations
and cash flows of Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LLC and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2005, in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 14, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

2005

(thousands of dollars)
Revenues:
Electricity sales and services revenues $ 5,997,644
Expenses:
Purchased power 621,075
Purchased power affiliates 4,629,342
Operation and maintenance 175,382
Operation and maintenance affiliates 17,401
Selling, general and administrative 153,792
Selling, general and administrative affiliates 49,568
Loss on sales of assets 4,329
Depreciation and amortization 48,656
Total operating expense 5,699,545
Operating Income 298,099
Other Income (Expense):
Other, net 275
Interest expense (19,196)
Interest income 300
Interest income, net affiliates 102,244
Total other income 83,623
Income Before Income Taxes 381,722
Income tax expense 148,824
Net Income $ 232,898

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F-86
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RELIANT ENERGY RETAIL HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization
Deferred income taxes

Federal income tax contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net

Loss on sale of assets
Changes in other assets and liabilities:

Accounts and notes receivable and unbilled revenue, net

Accounts receivable/payable affiliates
Net derivative assets and liabilities
Accounts payable

Other current assets

Other current liabilities

Other assets

Retail customer deposits

State income taxes payable

Other taxes payable

Accrual for transmission and distribution charges
Other liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures

Proceeds from sale of assets, net

Net cash provided by investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Increase in short-term borrowings, net

Changes in notes with Reliant Energy, Inc., net

Net cash used in financing activities
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Cash Payments:

Table of Contents

2005
(thousands of dollars)

$ 232,898

48,656
(6,203)

136,564

4,329

(201,964)
122,966
350
14,123
2,564
5,384
654
163
4,244
5,327
317
2,707

373,079
(9,239)
27,303
18,064
223,000
(613,383)
(390,383)

760
7,962

$ 8,722
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Interest paid to affiliate 6,920
Interest paid (net of amounts capitalized) to third party 19,355
Income taxes paid (net of income tax refunds received) 14,096
Non-cash Disclosure:

Contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net 133,564
Transfer of Reliant Energy Electric Solutions, LLC to Reliant Energy, Inc. (273,476)
See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F-87
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBER S EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Accumulated
Other Other Total
Member s  Comprehensive Member s Comprehensive
Equity Income (Loss) Equity Income
(thousands of dollars)
Balance at December 31, 2004 $ 1,503,710 $ 2) $ 1,503,708
Net income 232,898 232,898 $ 232,898
Contributions from member 133,564 133,564
Transfer of Reliant Energy Electric
Solutions, LLC to Reliant Energy, Inc. (273,478) 2 (273,476)
Comprehensive income $ 232,898
Balance at December 31, 2005 $ 1,596,694 $ $ 1,596,694

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Background and Basis of Presentation

Background. RERH LLC refers to Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company.
RERH refers to Reliant Energy Retail Holdings, LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries. Reliant Energy refers to

Reliant Energy, Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries. RERH LLC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Reliant Energy

and was formed in September 2000. Reliant Energy is the sole member and holds all 1,000 shares of RERH LLC.

RERH provides electricity products and related services to end-use customers ranging from residential and small
business customers to large commercial, industrial and governmental/institutional customers. During 2003, RERH
began providing retail energy products and services to commercial, industrial and governmental/institutional
customers in New Jersey and Maryland. During 2004, RERH began marketing retail energy to this same class of
customers in other areas of the wholesale and retail electric market operated by PIM Interconnection, LLC (PJM),
primarily in the District of Columbia and Pennsylvania.

As of December 31, 2005, RERH s subsidiaries include:

Subsidiary Formation Date
Reliant Energy Retail Services, LLC (Retail Services) September 2000
Reliant Energy Solutions East, LLC (Solutions East) February 2002
RE Retail Receivables, LLC June 2002

In January 2003, RERH purchased all the outstanding common stock in Reliant Energy Renewables, Inc.
(Renewables) from Reliant Energy Power Generation, Inc., an affiliated company and a subsidiary of Reliant Energy
for approximately $27,000 and assumed all notes payable to affiliated companies. The purchase price was based on
Renewables book value. The acquisition was treated as a reorganization of entities under common control. In July
2005, RERH sold the common stock and all related assets and liabilities of Renewables. See note 11.

Effective September 28, 2004, RERH consolidated RE Retail Receivables, LLC (see note 5). Effective January 1,
2005, Reliant Energy Solutions, LLC was merged into Retail Services and RERH transferred its interest in Reliant
Energy Electric Solutions, LLC (REES) to Reliant Energy.

Basis of Presentation. These consolidated statements include all revenues and costs directly attributable to RERH
including costs for facilities and costs for functions and services performed by Reliant Energy and charged to RERH.
All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Use of Estimates and Market Risk and Uncertainties.

Management makes estimates and assumptions to prepare financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) that affect:

the reported amount of assets and liabilities,
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the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and

our disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
RERH s critical accounting estimates include: (a) derivative assets and liabilities (prior to 2005); (b) estimated
revenues and energy supply costs; and (c) deferred tax assets, valuation allowances and tax liabilities. Actual results
could differ from the estimates.

RERH is subject to various risks inherent in doing business. See notes 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), 4, 5, 6, 7, 8 and 9.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(b) Principles of Consolidation.

RERH LLC includes the accounts and those of its wholly-owned and majority-owned subsidiaries in its consolidated
financial statements. Since September 28, 2004, RERH has consolidated its receivables facility arrangement (see
note 5).

(c) Revenues.

Retail Revenues. Gross revenues for energy sales and services to residential and small business customers and electric
sales to large commercial, industrial and governmental/institutional customers under contracts executed after October
2002 are recognized upon delivery and include estimated energy and services delivered but not billed by the end of the
period.

As of December 31, 2005, RERH recorded unbilled revenues of $363 million for retail energy sales. Accrued unbilled
revenues are based on RERH s estimates of customer usage since the date of the last meter reading provided by the
independent system operators or electric distribution companies. Volume estimates are based on daily forecasted
volumes, estimated customer usage by class and applicable customer rates. Unbilled revenues are calculated by
multiplying volume estimates by estimated rates by customer class. Estimated amounts are adjusted when actual usage
and rates are known and billed.

Changes in Estimates. The revenues and the related energy supply costs include estimates of customer usage after
consideration of initial usage information provided by the independent system operators and the distribution

companies. RERH revises these estimates and records any changes in the period as information becomes available
(collectively referred to as market usage adjustments ). During 2005, RERH recognized in gross margin (revenues less
purchased power) $13 million of expense related to market usage adjustments.

(d) Derivatives and Hedging Activities.

RERH accounts for its derivatives instruments and hedging activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting
for Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (SFAS No. 133)

Prior to RERH transferring its interest in REES to Reliant Energy, for hedging activities, RERH used both derivative
and non-derivative contracts that provided for settlement in cash or by delivery of a commodity. The primary types of
derivative instruments used were forwards, futures, swaps and options. RERH elected one of three accounting
methods (cash flow hedge, mark-to-market or accrual accounting) for derivatives based on facts and circumstances.
The fair values of derivative activities were determined by (a) prices actively quoted, (b) prices provided by other
external sources or (c) prices based on models and other valuation methods.

If certain conditions are met, a derivative instrument may be designated as a cash flow hedge. A derivative is
recognized at fair value in the balance sheet whether or not it is designated as a hedge, except for derivative contracts
designated as normal purchases and sales exceptions, which are not in its consolidated balance sheet or results of
operations prior to settlement. As of December 31, 2005, RERH did not have any derivatives designated as cash flow
hedges.

Table of Contents 162



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Derivatives designated as cash flow hedges must have a high correlation between price movements in the derivative
and the hedged item. The changes in fair value of cash flow hedges were deferred in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss), net of tax, to the extent the contracts were effective as hedges, until the forecasted
transactions affected earnings. At the time the forecasted transactions affected earnings, RERH reclassified the
amounts in other comprehensive income (loss) into earnings. RERH recorded the ineffective portion of changes in fair
value of cash flow hedges immediately into earnings. For all other derivatives, changes in fair value were recorded as
unrealized gains or losses in its results of operations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

If and when an acceptable level of correlation no longer exists, hedge accounting ceases and changes in fair value are
recognized in its results of operations. If it becomes probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur, RERH
immediately recognizes the related deferred gains or losses in its results of operations. The associated hedging
instrument is then marked to market through its results of operations for the remainder of the contract term unless a
new hedging relationship is redesignated.

In July 2003, the EITF issued EITF No. 03-11, which states that realized gains and losses on derivatives contracts not
held for trading purposes should be reported either on a net or gross basis based on the relevant facts and
circumstances. EITF No. 03-11 has no impact on margins or net income. Subsequent to October 1, 2003, due to the
adoption of EITF No. 03-11, hedging transactions that do not physically flow are included in the same caption as the
items being hedged. A summary of RERH s derivative activities and classification in its results of operations is:

Purpose for Holding or Transactions that Transactions that
Instrument Issuing Instrument® Physically Flow Financially Settle®
Power futures, Power sales to end-use retail customers Revenues N/A
forward, swap and Supply management revenues Revenues Purchased power
option contracts Power purchases Purchased power Purchased power
Natural gas and fuel Natural gas and fuel purchases/sales N/A Purchased power

futures, forward, swap
and option contracts

(1) The purpose for holding or issuing is not impacted by the accounting method elected for each instrument.

(2) Includes classification for mark-to-market derivatives and amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) related to cash flow hedges.

In addition to market risk, RERH is exposed to credit and operational risk. Reliant Energy has a control framework, to
which RERH is subject, to manage these risks, which include: (a) measuring and monitoring these risks, (b) review
and approval of new transactions relative to these risks, (c) transaction validation and (d) portfolio valuation and
reporting. RERH uses mark-to-market valuation, value-at-risk and other metrics in monitoring and measuring risk.
Reliant Energy s risk control framework includes a variety of separate but complementary processes, which involve
commercial and senior management and Reliant Energy s Board of Directors. See note 2(e) for further discussion of
RERH s credit policy.

Set-off of Derivative Assets and Liabilities. Where derivative instruments are subject to a master netting agreement
and the accounting criteria to net are met, RERH presents its derivative assets and liabilities on a net basis. Derivative
assets/liabilities and accounts receivable/payable are presented and set-off separately in the consolidated balance
sheets although in most cases contracts permit the set-off of derivative assets/liabilities and accounts
receivable/payable with a given counterparty.
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(e) Credit Risk.

RERH has a credit policy that governs the management of credit risk, including the establishment of counterparty
credit limits and specific transition approvals. Credit risk is monitored and the financial condition of RERH s
counterparties are reviewed periodically. RERH tries to mitigate credit risk by entering into contracts that permit
netting and allow RERH to terminate upon the occurrence of certain events of default. RERH measures credit risk as
the replacement cost for its derivative positions (through December 31, 2004) plus amounts owed for settled
transactions.

As of December 31, 2004, one non-investment grade counterparty represented 90% ($107 million) of RERH s credit
exposure, net of collateral, primarily related to its derivative assets and Electric Reliability Council of Texas (ERCOT)

power supply counterparties. RERH did not have any credit exposure from this
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

one counterparty as of December 31, 2005 as the transactions were with REES, which is no longer a subsidiary of
RERH. REES has net credit exposure of $708 million as of December 31, 2005 to this non-investment grade
counterparty. If the counterparty defaulted, RERH would experience increased purchased power costs going forward.
There were no other counterparties representing greater than 10% of RERH s credit exposure, net of collateral.

(f) Selling, General and Administrative Expenses.

Selling, general and administrative expenses include (a) selling and marketing, (b) bad debt expense and (c) other
general and administrative expenses. Other general and administrative expenses include, among other items,

(a) financial services, (b) legal costs, (c) regulatory costs and (d) certain benefit costs. Some of the expenses are
allocated from affiliates (see note 3).

(g) Severance Costs.

During 2005, RERH incurred $2 million in severance costs (included in both operation and maintenance and selling,
general and administrative expenses), which were substantially paid in each applicable period.

(h) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation Expense.

RERH computes depreciation using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives. Depreciation expense
was $48 million during 2005.

RERH periodically evaluates property, plant and equipment for impairment when events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the underlying
assumptions of related cash flows. RERH recorded no material property, plant and equipment impairments during
2005.

(i) Intangible Assets and Amortization Expense.

Goodwill. RERH performs its goodwill impairment test annually and when events or changes in circumstances

indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. RERH previously selected November 1 as its annual goodwill
impairment testing date since Reliant Energy had historically completed its annual strategic planning process by that
date. Reliant Energy has since modified its strategic planning process, which provides key information used in the
analysis of RERH s goodwill impairment test, and such information is no longer completed by November 1. In order to
align RERH s annual goodwill impairment test with Reliant Energy s annual strategic planning process, to meet the
accelerated reporting deadlines and to provide adequate time to complete the analysis each year, beginning in 2005,
RERH changed the date on which it performs the annual goodwill impairment test to April 1. The change is not
intended to delay, accelerate or avoid an impairment charge. RERH believes that this accounting change is to an
alternative accounting principle that is preferable under the circumstances.

Other Intangibles. RERH recognizes specifically identifiable intangible assets, including emission allowances,
demand side management contracts and permanent seat licenses, when specific rights and contracts are acquired.

() Stock-based Compensation.
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RERH applies the intrinsic value method of accounting for employee stock-based compensation and expenses it
ratably over the vesting period. On January 1, 2006, RERH began to recognize compensation cost for the unvested
portion of pre-January 2006 awards and awards granted from that date based on the grant-date fair value of those
awards. RERH expects the adoption of the fair value based method of accounting will not have a material impact on
its financial position or results of operations. Under the intrinsic value method,
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RERH adjusts compensation cost for performance-based stock awards and options based on changes in Reliant

Energy s stock price; however, under the fair value based method, RERH recognizes compensation cost based on grant
date fair value recognized over the service period. Under the intrinsic value method, RERH does not recognize
compensation cost for time-based stock options or Reliant Energy s employee stock purchase plan; however, under the
fair value based method, RERH recognizes compensation cost. The fair value based method of accounting does not
change RERH s compensation cost for time-based restricted stock awards or performance-based cash awards.

Using the Black-Scholes model for determining fair values, RERH s pro forma results are:
2005

(in millions)
Net income, as reported $ 233
Add: Stock-based compensation expense included in reported net income, net of tax
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value based method for all
awards, net of tax 2)
Pro forma net income $ 231

RERH uses the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions and resulting
fair values.

Reliant Energy
Employee
Stock
Reliant
Energy Purchase Plan
Stock Options Rights
2005 2005
Expected life in years 5 0.5
Estimated volatility) 45.75% 32.97%
Risk-free interest rate 4.18% 2.94%
Dividend yield 0% 0%
Weighted-average fair value $ 5.72 $ 3.25

(1) For options, RERH estimated volatility based on an equal weighting of historical and implied volatility of
Reliant Energy s common stock. For employee stock purchase plan rights, RERH estimated volatility based on
the historical volatility of Reliant Energy s common stock.
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(k) Income Taxes.

RERH is included in the consolidated income tax returns of Reliant Energy and calculates its income tax provision on
a separate return basis, whereby Reliant Energy pays all federal income taxes on RERH s behalf and is entitled to any
related tax savings. The difference between RERH s current federal income tax expense or benefit, as calculated on a
separate return basis, and related amounts paid or received to/from Reliant Energy, if any, are recorded in RERH s
financial statements as adjustments to member s equity on its consolidated balance sheets. Deferred income taxes
reflected on RERH s consolidated balance sheet will ultimately be settled with Reliant Energy through member s
equity. See notes 3 and 7.

(1) Cash and Cash Equivalents.
RERH records all highly liquid short-term investments with maturities of three months or less as cash equivalents.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(m) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.

RERH accrues an allowance for doubtful accounts based on estimates of uncollectible revenues by analyzing
counterparty credit ratings, historical collections, accounts receivable agings and other factors. RERH writes-off
accounts receivable balances against the allowance for doubtful accounts when it determines a receivable is
uncollectible.

(3) Related Party Transactions

These financial statements include significant transactions between RERH and Reliant Energy. The majority of these
transactions involve the purchase or sale of power or related services by Reliant Energy from or to RERH and
allocations of costs to RERH for certain support services. The following describes the impacts on the financial
statements for the particular transactions:

Notes Receivable Affiliate. Reliant Energy manages RERH s daily cash balances. Excess cash is advanced to Reliant
Energy, which provides a cash management function, and is recorded in long-term notes receivable affiliated company.
As cash is required to fund operations, Reliant Energy funds RERH s bank accounts. RERH records interest income or
expense, based on whether RERH invested excess funds, or borrowed funds from Reliant Energy. The amount of net
interest income is $102 million during 2005.

Support Services. Reliant Energy provides RERH commercial support and other corporate support services. Effective
January 2005, Reliant Energy began allocating certain support services costs to RERH based on RERH s underlying
planned operating expenses relative to the underlying planned operating expenses of other entities to which Reliant
Energy provides similar services and also began charging RERH for certain services based on usage and based on
number of employees. Management believes this method of allocation is reasonable. These allocations and charges
were not necessarily indicative of what would have been incurred had RERH been an unaffiliated entity. Amounts
charged and allocated to RERH for these services were $67 million during 2005 and are included in operation and
maintenance affiliates and selling, general and administrative expenses affiliates. Included in these amounts are

$6 million for 2005 for RERH s share of allocated rent expense, which is included in selling, general and
administrative expense affiliates.

Naming Rights to Houston Sports Complex. In 2000, Reliant Energy acquired the naming rights, including advertising
and other benefits, for a football stadium and other convention and entertainment facilities. Pursuant to this agreement,
Reliant Energy is required to pay $10 million per year from 2002 through 2032. These costs are charged to RERH by
Reliant Energy and are included in selling, general and administrative expense.

Reliant Energy Services and REES Energy Supply Services. Prior to 2003, Reliant Energy Services primarily
provided RERH with its energy supply services. During 2003, certain supply contracts were transferred from Reliant
Energy Services to RERH s subsidiary at the time, REES. As discussed in note 1, RERH transferred its interest in
REES to Reliant Energy on January 1, 2005. During 2005, REES and Reliant Energy Services primarily provided the
energy supply services to RERH. During 2005, the administrative costs for these services were included in the
corporate support services allocations.
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As discussed above, Reliant Energy Services and REES enter into contracts with third parties for the purposes of
supplying RERH with some of the electricity necessary to serve its retail customers. These supply contracts are
subject to the provisions of the master commodity purchase and sale agreements, master netting arrangements and
other contractual arrangements that Reliant Energy Services and REES utilize with third-party customers and
suppliers in connection with their supply portfolio management activities, including those activities undertaken for
RERH. Consequently, the cost associated with credit support for the supply portfolio managed by Reliant Energy
Services and REES for RERH could differ significantly from those that RERH would experience if it managed all of
its electricity supply portfolio directly with third parties.
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RERH reimburses Reliant Energy Services and REES for the ultimate price of any electricity sold from Reliant
Energy Services/REES to RERH, including costs of derivative instruments, upon final delivery of that electricity.
RERH does not account for the unrealized value associated with the derivative instruments executed by Reliant
Energy Services/REES with third parties because the contracts are executed by Reliant Energy Services/REES.

Purchased power from REES was $4.6 billion during 2005. This amount was recorded as purchased power affiliates.

Income Taxes. During 2005, Reliant Energy made equity contributions to RERH for deemed distributions related to
federal income taxes of $133 million. See note 7.

(4) Derivatives and Hedging Activities

RERH, through REES and Reliant Energy Services, historically used derivative instruments to manage operational or
market constraints and to execute its supply procurement strategy. The instruments used were fixed-price derivative
contracts to hedge the variability in future cash flows from forecasted sales of power and purchases of power. RERH s
objective in entering into these fixed-price derivatives was to fix the price for a portion of these transactions. See

note 2(d).

As aresult of RERH transferring its interest in REES effective January 2005, RERH did not have any cash flow
hedges or other derivatives during 2005.

(5) Receivables Facility

RERH has a receivables facility arrangement to sell an undivided interest in accounts receivable from its business to
financial institutions on an ongoing basis. RERH amended this arrangement in September 2005 to extend its maturity
until September 2006, reduce the fees it is charged, increase the proportion of receivables against which it can borrow
and increase the maximum capacity available from $350 million to $450 million.

The assets of the special purpose subsidiary that purchases the receivables and then resells receivables under the
facility are available first and foremost to satisfy the claims of its creditors. The special purpose subsidiary is a
separate entity.

Prior to September 28, 2004, these transactions were accounted for as sales of receivables; as a result, the related
receivables and debt were excluded from the consolidated balance sheet. Effective with the September 28, 2004
amendment to this facility, the qualified special purpose entity (QSPE) ceased to be a QSPE and RERH began
consolidating its results of operations and the proceeds from receivables sold to the financial institutions were treated
as a financing. As a result, accounts receivable and short-term borrowings of $350 million were included in the
consolidated balance sheet as of the amendment date. The borrowings under the facility bear interest at floating rates
that include fees based on the facility s level of commitment and utilization. RERH services the receivables and
received a fee of 0.4% of cash collected during 2005, which approximates the actual service costs. Reliant Energy also
guarantees the performance obligations of the originators of the receivables and the servicing of the receivables.

(6) Benefit Plans
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(a) Stock-Based Incentive Plans.

Overview. RERH s eligible employees participate in stock-based incentive plans described below. The Compensation
Committee of Reliant Energy s Board of Directors administers Reliant Energy s stock-based incentive plans. The
Reliant Energy, Inc. 2002 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the 2002 LTIP) and the Reliant Energy, Inc. 2002 Stock Plan
(the 2002 Stock Plan) permit Reliant Energy to grant various stock-based
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incentive awards to officers, key employees and directors. Awards include stock options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, performance awards, cash awards and stock awards.

Prior to the adoption of the plans, participants received awards under the Long-Term Incentive Plan of Reliant Energy,
Inc. (the 2001 LTIP) or the Reliant Energy, Inc. Transition Stock Plan (collectively the previous plans). Awards under
the previous plans are no longer permitted.

RERH applies the intrinsic value method of accounting for employee stock-based incentive plans. Awards to RERH
employees under Reliant Energy s stock-based incentive plans resulted in expense of $0 during 2005. See note 2(j) for
pro forma information.

Time-Based Stock Options. Reliant Energy grants time-based stock options to RERH s employees at an exercise price
equal to or greater than the fair market value of Reliant Energy s stock on the grant date without cost to participants.

Generally, options vest 33.33% per year and have a term of ten years.

Summarized time-based option activity is:

2005
Weighted
Average
Options Exercise Price
Granted $
Outstanding at end of year 1,351,042 16.95
Exercisable at end of year 1,250,823 18.03

Time-Based Restricted Stock Awards. Reliant Energy grants time-based restricted stock awards to RERH s employees
without cost to participants. In general, these awards vest, subject to the participant s continued employment, three
years from the grant date.

Summarized restricted stock award activity is:

2005
Granted 80,235
Outstanding at end of year 334,904
Weighted average grant date fair value $ 12.63

Performance-Based Awards. Reliant Energy grants performance-based awards to RERH s employees without cost to
participants. The number of performance-based awards earned is determined at the end of each performance period.
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Reliant Energy s Compensation Committee granted the 2004-2006 performance-based awards through the Key
Employee Award Program (the Program) established under the 2002 LTIP. Under the Program, each
performance-based award represents a targeted award of (a) 16,000 shares of performance-based stock, (b) 68,000
performance-based stock options and (c) 16,000 cash units with each cash unit having an equivalent fair market value
of one share of Reliant Energy s common stock on the vesting date. The Program provides for a payout ranging from
0% to 140% of the targeted award level, as determined by Reliant Energy s Compensation Committee in its sole
discretion after considering various qualitative and quantitative performance criteria. These criteria include

(a) reducing Reliant Energy s ratio of adjusted net debt to adjusted EBITDA to at least 3.5, (b) delivering superior
customer value and (c) building a great company to work for, taking into consideration market conditions for each
factor. EBITDA is defined as earnings (loss) before interest expense, interest income, income taxes, depreciation and
amortization expense. Reliant Energy s Compensation Committee has the discretion to weight the various performance
objectives as it deems appropriate.
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Summarized performance-based stock award activity, including the Program and previous programs and assuming a
140% payout of the Program, is:

2005
Granted
Outstanding at end of year 179,200
Weighted average grant date fair value N/A
Summarized performance-based option activity of the Program, assuming a 140% payout, is:
2005
Weighted
Average
Options Exercise Price
Granted $
Outstanding at end of year 761,600 8.34

Exercisable at end of year

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Reliant Energy had 18 million shares of authorized common stock reserved and
approved for issuance under the Reliant Energy, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan (ESPP) as of December 31, 2005.
Under the ESPP, substantially all regular RERH employees can purchase Reliant Energy common stock through
payroll deductions of up to 15% of eligible compensation. The ESPP provides for semiannual offering periods
commencing on January 1 and July 1 of each year. The share price paid by an employee equals the lesser of 85% of
the average market price on the first or last business day of each offering period. Individual ESPP participants are
restricted from purchasing more than $25,000 of common stock in a calendar year.

During January 2006 and during 2005, Reliant Energy issued 72,809 shares and 201,049 shares to RERH s employees
under the ESPP, respectively.

(b) Savings Plan.

RERH s employees participate in Reliant Energy s employee savings plans under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. Under the plans, participating employees may contribute a portion of their compensation
generally up to a maximum of 50% pre-tax and 16% after-tax during 2005. RERH s savings plan benefit expense,
including matching and discretionary contributions, was $5 million during 2005.
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(7) Income Taxes

RERH s income tax expense (benefit) is:

Current:
Federal

State

Total current
Deferred:
Federal

State

Total deferred

Income tax expense

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is:

Income before income taxes
Federal statutory rate

Income tax expense at statutory rate

Net addition (reduction) in taxes resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes
Other, net

Total

Income tax expense

Effective rate
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2005
(in millions)

$ 137

18

155

(10)
4

(6)

$ 149

2005
(in millions)

$ 382
35%

134

15
$ 149

39%
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Tax Contingencies. Reliant Energy s income tax returns, including years when it was included in CenterPoint s
consolidated tax group, for the 1997 to 2004 tax reporting periods are under audit by federal and state taxing
authorities. These audits may result in additional taxes or revisions of the timing of tax payments. As RERH is a part
of the consolidated income tax returns of Reliant Energy, it could be subject to additional taxes. RERH evaluates the
need for contingent tax liabilities on a quarterly basis and records any estimable and probable tax exposures in its
results of operations. In addition, RERH discloses any material tax contingencies as to which it believes there is a
reasonable possibility of a future tax assessment.
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(8) Commitments
(a) Lease Commitments.

Cash Obligations Under Operating Leases. RERH s projected cash obligations under non-cancelable long-term
operating leases as of December 31, 2005 are (in millions):

2006 $
2007

2008

2009

2010

2011 and thereafter

NN WA

Total $ 13

Operating Lease Expense. Total lease expense for all operating leases was $9 million during 2005.
(b) Guarantees.

Guarantor. Together with certain of Reliant Energy s other subsidiaries, RERH, excluding RE Retail Receivables,
LLC, is a guarantor of certain obligations under credit and debt agreements of Reliant Energy. As of December 31,
2005, RERH s maximum potential amount of future payments under these guarantees is approximately $4.9 billion and
$3.6 billion is outstanding for continuing operations. These obligations mature at various dates from 2009 through
2036.

Equity Pledged as Collateral to Reliant Energy. RERH LLC s equity is pledged as collateral under certain of Reliant
Energy s credit and debt agreements, which have an outstanding balance from continuing operations of $3.6 billion as
of December 31, 2005.

Other. RERH enters into contracts that include indemnification and guarantee provisions. In general, RERH enters
into contracts with indemnities for matters such as breaches of representations and warranties and covenants contained
in the contract and/or against certain specified liabilities. Examples of these contracts include asset sales agreements,
retail supply agreements, service agreements and procurement agreements.

RERH is unable to estimate its maximum potential exposure under these provisions until an event triggering payment
under these provisions occurs. Based on current information, RERH considers the likelihood of making any material

payments under these provisions to be remote.

(c) Other Commitments.
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Sales Commitments. As of December 31, 2005, RERH has sales commitments, including electric energy and capacity
sales contracts, which are not classified as derivative assets and liabilities. The estimated minimum sales commitments
under these contracts are as follows (in millions):

2006 $ 2,043

2007 924

2008 416

2009 144

2010 73

Total $ 3,600
F-99
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(9) Contingencies
Legal Matters.

RERH is party to a number of legal and other proceedings before courts and governmental agencies. Unless otherwise
noted, RERH cannot predict the outcome of these proceedings.

Texas Commercial Energy. In July 2003, Texas Commercial Energy, LLP (TCE) sued RERH and several other
ERCOT power market participants in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas. TCE claimed
damages in excess of $535 million for alleged violations of state and federal antitrust laws, fraud, negligent
misrepresentation, breach of fiduciary duty, breach of contract and civil conspiracy. The trial court dismissed the
lawsuit. The United States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit affirmed the dismissal of the lawsuit and denied
TCE s request for a rehearing. In January 2006, the United States Supreme Court denied a petition to review the
dismissal of the lawsuit.

Utility Choice Electric. In February 2005, Utility Choice Electric filed a lawsuit that alleges similar claims to the TCE
lawsuit and additional claims including, among others, wire fraud, mail fraud and violations of the Racketeer
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act. In December 2005, the United States District Court for the Southern
District of Texas granted RERH s motion to dismiss all federal claims. The court also dismissed without prejudice the
state law claims. Following the dismissal, RERH reached an agreement to settle the remaining state law claims for an
immaterial amount.

PUCT Cases. There are various proceedings pending before the state district court in Travis County, Texas, seeking
reviews of the Public Utility Commission of Texas (PUCT) orders relating to the fuel factor component used in

RERH s price-to-beat tariff. These proceedings pertain to the same issues affirmed by a district court in Travis County
and later by the Travis County Court of Appeals in 2004 in a separate proceeding.

(10) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable and derivative assets and liabilities and
third-party debt equal their carrying amounts.

(11) Sales of Landfill-Gas Fueled Power Plants

RERH sold Renewables, which owned landfill-gas fueled power plants, for $28 million in July 2005 and recognized a
loss of $4 million.

(12) Subsequent Event (Unaudited)
In connection with a credit-enhanced retail structure, effective December 1, 2006, RERH was contributed to RERH
Holdings, LLC (a wholly-owned subsidiary of Reliant Energy, Inc. that was formed in July 2006) by Reliant Energy,

Inc. However, there is no impact to the consolidated financial statements for RERH for 2005 due to this transfer of
entities under common control.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Reliant Energy Northeast Generation, Inc., Sole Member of Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic Power Holdings, LLC:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic Power Holdings, LL.C
and subsidiaries (the Company), as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, member s equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the years then ended. These
consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic Power Holdings, LLC and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with

U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

As discussed in notes 8 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its accounting for
income tax uncertainties in 2007 and defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans in 2006, respectively.

KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 25, 2008
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To the Board of Directors of Reliant Energy Northeast Generation, Inc., Sole Member of Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic
Power Holdings, LLC
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, member s equity and comprehensive
income, and cash flows of Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic Power Holdings, LL.C and subsidiaries (the Company ) for the
year ended December 31, 2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration
of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations
and cash flows of Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic Power Holdings, LLC and subsidiaries for the year ended
December 31, 2005, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 14, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Revenues:
Revenues
Revenues affiliates

Total

Expenses:

Cost of sales

Cost of sales affiliates

Operation and maintenance

Operation and maintenance affiliates

Facilities leases

General and administrative affiliates

Gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net
Depreciation and amortization

Total operating expense
Operating Income

Other Income (Expense):
Other, net

Interest expense

Interest expense affiliates
Interest income

Total other expense

Income (Loss) Before Income Taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)

Income Before Cumulative Effect of
Accounting Change

Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax

Net Income

2007 2006 2005
(thousands of dollars)
(10,235) $ 26,107 $ 42906
696,856 539,701 587,336
686,621 565,808 630,242
244,695 239,686 230,391
9,930 15,329 20,465
104,600 91,915 72,712
57,831 48,155 45,997
59,848 59,848 59,848
44,029 43,017 44,956
(1,969) (71,323) (109,798)
88,449 71,315 83,544
607,413 497,942 448,115
79,208 67,866 182,127
1 53
(1,230) (1,095) (1,418)
(70,485) (68,921) (64,746)
837 655 939
(70,878) (69,360) (65,172)
8,330 (1,494) 116,955
5,262 (9,842) 14,579
3,068 8,348 102,376
(225)
3,068 $ 8,348 $ 102,151

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2007 2006
(thousands of dollars)
ASSETS
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 28,536 $ 17,274
Restricted cash 1,663
Accounts receivable 4,875 4,595
Receivables from affiliates, net 59,180 11,466
Inventory 81,382 80,689
Prepaid lease 59,030 59,030
Derivative assets 12,374 1,744
Accumulated deferred income taxes 11,319 9,751
Prepayments and other current assets 7,227 7,558
Total current assets 265,586 192,107
Property, Plant and Equipment, net 681,675 679,319
Other Assets:
Goodwill, net 3,635 3,635
Other intangibles, net 98,732 105,642
Accumulated deferred income taxes 48,968 68,378
Prepaid lease 270,133 264,328
Other 43,646 41,098
Total other assets 465,114 483,081
Total Assets $ 1,412,375 $ 1,354,507
LIABILITIES AND MEMBER S EQUITY
Current Liabilities:
Current portion of long-term debt $ 89 $ 83
Accounts payable, principally trade 28,543 16,142
Subordinated accounts payable to affiliates, net 193,897 160,308
Subordinated interest payable to affiliates, net 29,800 63,587
Derivative liabilities 37,614 22,695
Other 18,389 17,168
Total current liabilities 308,332 279,983
Other Liabilities:
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Derivative liabilities 123,794 117,269
Benefit obligations 39,289 42,021
Other 19,597 18,459
Total other liabilities 182,680 177,749
Subordinated Note Payable to Affiliate 618,658 618,658
Long-term Debt 642 731
Commitments and Contingencies Member s Equity:
Common stock; no par value (1,000 shares authorized, issued and outstanding)
Additional paid-in capital 284,672 284,672
Retained earnings 82,455 79,387
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (65,064) (86,673)
Total member s equity 302,063 277,386
Total Liabilities and Member s Equity $ 1,412,375 $ 1,354,507

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by (used in)

operating activities:

Cumulative effect of accounting changes
Depreciation and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Non-cash federal income tax contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc.,

net

Net changes in energy derivatives

Gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net
Other, net

Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable from affiliates, net
Inventory

Prepaid lease

Accounts payable

Other current assets

Other current liabilities

Other assets

Subordinated accounts payable to affiliates, net
Subordinated interest payable to affiliates, net
Income taxes payable/receivable

Other liabilities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities

Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Capital expenditures

Proceeds from sales of assets, net

Proceeds from sales of emission allowances

Proceeds from sales of emission allowances affiliates
Purchases of emission allowances affiliates
Restricted cash

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Payments of long-term debt

Table of Contents

2007 2006
(thousands of dollars)
3,068 8,348
88,449 71,315
4,341 (14,112)
35,711 (5,422)
(1,969) (71,323)
(27) (59)
(280) (140)
(47,624) 24,823
(693) 291
(5,805) (4,916)
3,976 272
246 1,602
199 4,328
337 (9,925)
42,531 30,393
(33,787) 41,172)
698 (17,051)
3,029 (1,737)
92,400 (24,485)
(33,172) (14,360)
124 1,238
628 1,141
3,744 73,140
(50,799) (50,467)
(1,663)
(81,138) 10,692

2005

102,151

225
83,544
2,385

3,826

5,885
(109,798)
(493)

1,321
13,820
(9,216)

(15,949)
(857)
(8,536)
(1,773)
(1,218)
(21,700)
(186,822)
17,279
9,160

(116,766)

(7,785)
42,560
8,519
99,903

(34,834)
28,652

137,015

(28,211)
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Net cash used in financing activities (28,211)
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 11,262 (13,793) (7,962)
Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 17,274 31,067 39,029
Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period 28,536 $ 17,274 $ 31,067
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:
Cash Payments:
Interest paid to affiliate (net of amounts capitalized) 91,384 $ 107,364 $ 244,976
Interest paid to third parties 286 1,338 1,539
Income taxes paid (net of income tax refunds received) 221 21,322 (1,739)
Non-cash Disclosure:
Contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net 33,152 17,826

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RELIANT ENERGY MID-ATLANTIC POWER HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF MEMBER S EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income

(Loss)
Benefits Total
Deferred  Actuarial Accumulated
Additional Retained  Derivative Net Benefits Other Total Com;
Common Net
Stock Paid-In Earnings Gains Gain Prior Comprehensive Member s I
Service Income
Shares Amount Capital (Deficit) (Losses) (Loss) Costs (Loss) Equity (
(thousands of dollars)
December 31,
1,000 233,694 (31,112) (55,583) (55,583) 146,999
e 102,151 102,151  $
ons from
ergy, Inc., net 17,826 17,826
oss from cash
s, net of tax
lion (128,132) (128,132) (128,132) |
ation of net
)ss from cash
s, net of tax
lion 52,836 52,836 52,836
nsive income $
December 31,
1,000 $ $ 251,520 $ 71,039 $ (130,879) $ $ $ (130,879) $ 191,680
e 8,348 8,348 $
ons from
ergy, Inc., net 33,152 33,152
oss from cash
s, net of tax
lion 18,061 18,061 18,061
ation of net
)ss from cash
s, net of tax
lion 31,743 31,743 31,743
nsive income $
it to initially (2,861) (2,737) (5,598) (5,598)

B Statement
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1,000 $ $ 284672 $ 79387 $ (81,075 $ (2,861) $ (2,737) $ (86,673) $ 277,386
e 3,068 3,068
ain from cash
s, net of tax
on 2,929 2,929 2,929
ation of net
)ss from cash
s, net of tax
on 12,802 12,802 12,802
ation of net
ce costs into
2t of tax of $0 593 593 593
ation of
et loss into
2t of tax of $0 40 40 40
enefits, net of
nillion and

2,851 2,394 5,245 5,245

nsive income
December 31,

1,000 $ $ 284672 $ 82455 $ (65344) $ 30 % 250 $ (65,064) $ 302,063

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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RELIANT ENERGY MID-ATLANTIC POWER HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Background and Basis of Presentation
Background. REMA LLC refers to Reliant Energy Mid-Atlantic Power Holdings, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company. REMA refers to REMA LLC and its consolidated subsidiaries. Reliant Energy refers to Reliant Energy, Inc.
and its consolidated subsidiaries. REMA LLC was formed in December 1998 and is an indirect subsidiary of Reliant

Energy Power Generation, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of Reliant Energy.

REMA owns or leases interests in 16 operating electric generation plants in Pennsylvania, New Jersey and Maryland
with an annual average net generating capacity of approximately 3,644 megawatts (MW).

Basis of Presentation. These consolidated statements include all revenues and costs directly attributable to REMA
including costs for facilities and costs for functions and services performed by Reliant Energy and charged to REMA.
All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Use of Estimates and Market Risk and Uncertainties.

Management makes estimates and assumptions to prepare financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) that affect:

the reported amount of assets, liabilities and equity,

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
REMA s critical accounting estimates include: (a) fair value of property, plant and equipment and derivative assets and
liabilities and (b) deferred tax assets, valuation allowances and tax liabilities. Actual results could differ from the

estimates.

REMA is subject to various risks inherent in doing business. See notes 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), 2(g), 2(h), 2(m), 2(n), 2(0), 4,
5,6,7,8,9and 10.

(b) Principles of Consolidation.

REMA LLC includes its accounts and those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries in its consolidated financial statements.
REMA does not consolidate three power generating facilities (see note 9(a)), which are under operating leases.

(c) Power Generation and Capacity Revenues.
REMA records gross revenues from the sale of electricity and other energy services under the accrual method. Electric
power and other energy services are sold at market-based prices through existing power exchanges, related party

affiliates or third party contracts. Energy sales and services that have been delivered but not billed by period-end are
estimated. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, REMA recognized $(46) million, $4 million and $5 million in unrealized
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gains (losses) on energy derivatives included in revenues from third parties. See notes 2(d) and 5.
(d) Derivatives and Hedging Activities.
REMA accounts for its derivatives instruments and hedging activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133, Accounting

for Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (SFAS No. 133).
F-107
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RELIANT ENERGY MID-ATLANTIC POWER HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

For REMA s risk management activities, it uses both derivative and non-derivative contracts that provide for
settlement in cash or by delivery of a commodity. The primary types of derivative instruments REMA uses are
forwards, futures, swaps and options. REMA accounts for its derivatives under one of three accounting methods
(mark-to-market, accrual (under the normal purchase/normal sale exception to fair value) or cash flow hedge
accounting) based on facts and circumstances. The fair values of derivative activities are determined by (a) prices
actively quoted, (b) prices provided by other external sources or (c) prices based on models and other valuation
methods.

A derivative is recognized at fair value in the balance sheet whether or not it is designated as a hedge, except for
derivative contracts designated as normal purchase/normal sale exceptions, which are not in the consolidated balance
sheet or results of operations prior to settlement resulting in accrual accounting treatment.

If certain conditions are met, a derivative instrument may be designated as a cash flow hedge. Derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges must have a high correlation between price movements in the derivative and the hedged item. The
changes in fair value of cash flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax,
to the extent the contracts are, or have been, effective as hedges, until the forecasted transactions affect earnings. At
the time the forecasted transactions affect earnings, REMA reclassifies the amounts in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into earnings. REMA records the ineffective portion of changes in fair value of cash
flow hedges immediately into earnings. For all other derivatives, changes in fair value are recorded as unrealized gains
or losses in its results of operations.

If and when an acceptable level of correlation no longer exists, hedge accounting ceases and changes in fair value are
recognized in its results of operations. If it becomes probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur, REMA
immediately recognizes the related deferred gains or losses in its results of operations. The associated hedging
instrument is then marked to market through its results of operations for the remainder of the contract term unless a
new hedging relationship is redesignated.

Realized gains and losses on derivatives contracts not held for trading purposes are reported either on a net or gross
basis based on the relevant facts and circumstances. Hedging transactions that do not physically flow are included in
the same caption as the items being hedged. A summary of REMA s derivative activities and classification in its results
of operations is:

Purpose for Holding or Transactions that Transactions that
Instrument Issuing Instrument® Physically Flow/Settle Financially Settle®
Power futures, forward, swap  Power sales Revenues Revenues
and option contracts Power purchases Cost of sales Revenues
Natural gas and fuel futures, Natural gas and fuel Cost of sales Cost of sales
forward, swap and option purchases

contracts

(1) The purpose for holding or issuing is not impacted by the accounting method elected for each instrument.
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(2) Includes classification for mark-to-market derivatives and amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) related to cash flow hedges.

In addition to market risk, REMA is exposed to credit and operational risk. Reliant Energy has a risk control
framework, to which REMA is subject, to manage these risks, which include: (a) measuring and monitoring these
risks, (b) review and approval of new transactions relative to these risks, (c) transaction validation and (d) portfolio
valuation and reporting. REMA uses mark-to-market valuation, value-at-risk and other metrics in monitoring and
measuring risk. Reliant Energy s risk control framework includes a variety of separate but complementary processes,
which involve commercial and senior management and Reliant Energy s Board of Directors. See note 2(e) for further
discussion of REMA s credit policy.
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RELIANT ENERGY MID-ATLANTIC POWER HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Effective September 1, 2006, REMA de-designated certain cash flow hedges of coal contracts and either began
utilizing the mark-to-market method of accounting or elected the normal purchase/normal sale exception. During the
first quarter of 2007, REMA de-designated its remaining cash flow hedges; therefore, REMA has no outstanding cash
flow hedges as of December 31, 2007.

Set-off of Derivative Assets and Liabilities. Where derivative instruments are subject to a master netting agreement
and the accounting criteria to offset are met, REMA presents its derivative assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Derivative assets/liabilities and accounts receivable/payable are presented and set-off separately in the consolidated
balance sheets although in most cases contracts permit the set-off of derivative assets/liabilities and accounts
receivable/payable with a given counterparty. However, REMA does not offset collateral (net margin deposits) related
to these derivatives.

New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted Offsetting of Amounts. The FASB issued FSP FIN 39-1, an
amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39 (FIN 39), which was applicable for REMA beginning January 1, 2008.
This interpretation allows either (a) offsetting assets and liabilities for derivative instruments under a common master
netting arrangement only if the fair value amounts recognized for any related cash collateral are also offset or

(b) presenting these amounts gross.

Effective January 1, 2008, REMA plans to discontinue netting its derivative assets and liabilities and present them on
a gross basis. Cash collateral amounts will remain presented on a gross basis. This change will significantly increase
REMA s derivative assets and liabilities retrospectively for all financial statements presented.

Effective January 1, 2008, REMA plans to discontinue netting its derivative assets and liabilities and present its
derivative assets and liabilities on a gross basis. Cash collateral amounts will remain presented on a gross basis.

(e) Credit Risk.

REMA has a credit policy that governs the management of credit risk, including the establishment of counterparty
credit limits and specific transaction approvals. Credit risk is monitored daily and the financial condition of
counterparties is reviewed periodically. REMA tries to mitigate credit risk by entering into contracts that permit
netting and allow it to terminate upon the occurrence of certain events of default. REMA measures credit risk as the
replacement cost for its derivative positions plus amounts owed for settled transactions.

REMA s credit exposure is based on its derivative assets and accounts receivable from counterparties, after taking into
consideration netting within each contract and any master netting contracts with counterparties. REMA provides
reserves for non-investment grade counterparties representing a significant portion of its credit exposure. As of
December 31, 2007, one non-investment grade counterparty represented 100% ($10 million) of REMA s credit
exposure. As of December 31, 2006, REMA s credit exposure to any individual counterparty was not significant.

(f) General and Administrative Expenses Affiliates.

General and administrative expenses from affiliates include, among other items, (a) selling and marketing, (b) bad
debt expense, (c) financial services, (d) legal costs, (e) regulatory costs and (f) certain benefit costs. See note 3.
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(g) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation Expense.

REMA computes depreciation using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives. Depreciation expense
was $33 million, $32 million and $33 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Estimated
Useful December 31,
Lives (Years) 2007 2006
(in millions)
Electric generation facilities 20-30 $ 834 $ 823
Other 3-26 11 11
Land 26 26
Assets under construction 38 15
Total 909 875
Accumulated depreciation (227) (196)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 682 $ 679

REMA periodically evaluates property, plant and equipment for impairment when events or circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the underlying
assumptions of related cash flows. REMA recorded no material property, plant and equipment impairments during
2007, 2006 and 2005.

In the future, REMA could recognize impairments if its wholesale energy market outlook changes negatively. In
addition, REMA s ongoing evaluation of its business could result in decisions to mothball, retire or dispose of
additional generation assets, any of which could result in impairment charges.

(h) Intangible Assets and Amortization Expense.

Goodwill. REMA performs its goodwill impairment test annually on April 1 and when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Other Intangibles. REMA recognizes specifically identifiable intangible assets, including emission allowances, when
specific rights and contracts are acquired. REMA has no intangible assets with indefinite lives recorded as of
December 31, 2007 and 2006.

(i) Income Taxes.

Federal. REMA is included in the consolidated federal income tax returns of Reliant Energy and calculates its

income tax provision on a separate return basis, whereby Reliant Energy pays all federal income taxes on REMA s
behalf and is entitled to any related tax savings. The difference between REMA s current federal income tax expense
or benefit, as calculated on a separate return basis, and related amounts paid to/received from Reliant Energy, if any,
were recorded in REMA s financial statements as adjustments to additional paid-in capital. Reliant Energy changed its
funding policy in late December 2006 and these differences are recorded to (a) income taxes payable to Reliant
Energy, Inc. if REMA has cumulative taxable income on a separate return basis or (b) deferred tax assets if REMA
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has cumulative taxable losses on a separate return basis. Deferred federal income taxes reflected on REMA s
consolidated balance sheet will ultimately be settled with Reliant Energy. See notes 3 and 8.

State. REMA is included in the consolidated state income tax returns of Reliant Energy. It calculates its state
provision, related payables or receivables and deferred state income taxes on a separate return basis and settles the
related assets and liabilities with the governmental entity or Reliant Energy based on the tax status of the applicable
entities. See note 8.

() Cash and Cash Equivalents.

REMA records all highly liquid short-term investments with maturities of three months or less as cash equivalents.
F-110
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(k) Restricted Cash.

Restricted cash includes cash at certain subsidiaries, the distribution or transfer of which is restricted by financing and
other agreements.

(1) Inventory.
REMA values fuel inventories at the lower of average cost or market. REMA removes these inventories as they are

used in the production of electricity. REMA values materials and supplies at average cost. REMA removes these
inventories when they are used for repairs, maintenance or capital projects.

December 31,
2007 2006

(in millions)
Materials and supplies, including spare parts $ 48 $ 47
Coal 15 17
Heating oil 18 17
Total inventory $ 81 $ 81

(m) Environmental Costs.

REMA expenses environmental expenditures related to existing conditions that do not have future economic benefit.
REMA capitalizes environmental expenditures for which there is a future economic benefit. REMA records liabilities
for expected future costs, on an undiscounted basis, related to environmental assessments and/or remediation when
they are probable and can be reasonably estimated. See note 10.

(n) Asset Retirement Obligations.

REMA s asset retirement obligations relate to future costs primarily associated with ash disposal site closures. REMA s
asset retirement obligations were $7 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
REMA has $14 million and $12 million, respectively, (classified in other long-term assets) on deposit with the state of
Pennsylvania to guarantee its obligation related to future closures of ash disposal sites. See note 10.

During 2005, REMA adopted an accounting interpretation relating to asset retirement obligations. This interpretation
clarifies that an asset retirement obligation is unconditional even though uncertainty exists about the timing and/or
method of settlement and requires that a liability be recognized if it can be reasonably estimated. Based on this,
REMA (a) recorded a cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax, of $225,000, (b) increased other
long-term liabilities by $447,000, (c) increased property, plant and equipment by $77,000 and (d) decreased deferred
income tax liabilities by $145,000.
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(0) Repair and Maintenance Costs for Power Generation Assets.
REMA recognizes repair and maintenance costs as incurred.
(p) Deferred Lease Costs.

REMA incurred costs in connection with its sale-leaseback transactions in 2000 (see note 9(a)). These costs are
deferred and amortized, using the straight-line method, over the life of the individual sale-leaseback transactions.
REMA amortized $1 million to facilities lease expense during 2007, 2006 and 2005. As of December 31, 2007 and
2006, REMA had $18 million and $19 million, respectively, of net deferred lease costs classified in other long-term
assets in its consolidated balance sheets.
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RELIANT ENERGY MID-ATLANTIC POWER HOLDINGS, LLC AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(q9) New Accounting Pronouncement Net Yet Adopted Fair Value.

The FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (SFAS No. 157),
which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about

fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is to be applied prospectively, except for aspects that do not apply to REMA.
REMA adopted SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. In connection with the adoption, (a) no cumulative effect of an
account change will be recognized and (b) REMA expects to decrease its derivative liabilities and increase its income
from continuing operations before income taxes relating to discounting these liabilities using its own credit ratings.

For non-financial assets and liabilities, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 has been deferred until January 1, 2009.

(3) Related Party Transactions

These financial statements include the impact of significant transactions between REMA and Reliant Energy. The
majority of these transactions involve the purchase or sale of energy, capacity, fuel, emission allowances or related
services (including transportation, transmission and storage services) from or to REMA and allocations of costs to
REMA for support services.

Support Services. Reliant Energy provides commercial support, technical services and other corporate services to
REMA. Reliant Energy allocates certain support services costs to REMA based on REMA s underlying planned
operating expenses relative to the underlying planned operating expenses of other entities to which Reliant Energy
provides similar services and also charges REMA for certain other services based on usage. Management believes this
method of allocation is reasonable. These allocations and charges were not necessarily indicative of what would have
been incurred had REMA been an unaffiliated entity. Payments to Reliant Energy for services under the support
services agreement are subordinated to certain obligations, including the lease obligations, pursuant to the lease
documents.

The following details the amounts recorded as operation and maintenance affiliates and general and
administrative affiliates:

2007 2006 2005

(in millions)
Allocated or charged by Reliant Energy $ 96 $ 86 $ 86
Procurement and Marketing. REMA has sales to and purchases from Reliant Energy related to commodity
procurement and marketing services.
2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Sales to Reliant Energy under various commodity agreements(!) $ 697 $ 540 $ 587
Purchase from Reliant Energy under various commodity agreements(® 8 13 18

Table of Contents 202



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Fees charged by Reliant Energy for these services and included in operation and
maintenance affiliates 5 5 5

Fees charged by Reliant Energy for these services and included in cost of

sales affiliates 2 2 2
Sales of emission allowances to Reliant Energy®) 4 73 100
Gains on emission allowances sales to Reliant Energy® 1 70 92

(1) Recorded in revenues affiliates.

(2) Recorded in cost of sales affiliates.

(3) Reflects price at which Reliant Energy sold the emission allowances to third parties.
(4) Recorded in gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Subordinated Long-term Note Payable to Affiliate. REMA has a note payable to Reliant Energy. The note is due
January 1, 2029 and accrues interest at a fixed rate of 9.4% per year. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, REMA
classified the related accrued interest as a current liability since REMA intends to pay the entire amount within the
next 12 months from the respective dates. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, REMA had $619 million outstanding
under the note. Payments under this indebtedness are subordinated to certain obligations, including the lease
obligations, pursuant to the lease documents.

Working Capital Note. REMA has a revolving note payable to Reliant Energy under which REMA may borrow, and
Reliant Energy is committed to lend, up to $30 million for working capital needs. Borrowings under the note will be
unsecured and will rank equal in priority with REMA s lease obligations. REMA may replace this note with a working
capital facility from an unaffiliated lender if then permitted under Reliant Energy s debt agreements. As of

December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no borrowings outstanding under the note.

Subordinated Working Capital Facility. REMA has an irrevocably committed subordinated working capital facility
with Reliant Energy. REMA may borrow under this facility to pay operating expenditures, senior indebtedness and
rent, but excluding capital expenditures and subordinated obligations. In addition, Reliant Energy must make advances
to REMA and REMA must obtain such advances under such facility up to the maximum available commitment under
such facility from time to time if REMA s pro forma fixed charge coverage ratio does not equal or exceed 1.1 to 1.0,
measured at the time rent under the leases is due. Subject to the maximum available commitment, drawings will be
made in amounts necessary to permit REMA to achieve a pro forma fixed charge coverage ratio of at least 1.1 to 1.0.
The amount available under the subordinated working capital facility was $120 million through January 1, 2007.
Thereafter, the available amount decreased by $24 million on January 2, 2007 and decreases by $24 million each
subsequent year through its expiration in 2011. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, there were no borrowings
outstanding under this facility.

Letters of Credit. Reliant Energy has posted letters of credit on behalf of REMA related to its lease obligations. See
notes 6 and 9(a).

Income Taxes. See discussion in note 2(i) regarding REMA s policy with regards to income taxes.
2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Non-cash federal income tax contributions from (distributions to) Reliant Energy, Inc.,
net $ $ 33 $ 18

(4) Intangible Assets
(a) Goodwill.

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, REMA had no goodwill that is deductible for United States income tax purposes
in future periods.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Other Intangibles.

Remaining December 31,
Weighted
Average 2007 2006
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Period (Years) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization

(in millions)

SO, emission allowances()? o $ 252 3 (187) $ 204 $ (138)
NO, emission allowances(V() ) 90 (56) 89 (49)
Total $ 342 $ 243) $ 293 % (187)

(1) SO, is sulfur dioxide and NO, is nitrogen oxides. Amortized to amortization expense on a units-of-production
basis. As of December 31, 2007, REMA has recorded (a) SO, emission allowances through the 2030 vintage
year (most of which relate to 2011 and beyond) and (b) NO, emission allowances through the 2030 vintage year
(most of which relate to 2009 and beyond).

(2) During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we purchased $48 million, $29 million and $35 million, respectively, of SO,
emission allowances from affiliates.

(3) During 2007, 2006 and 2005, we purchased $3 million, $2 million and $0, respectively, of NO, emission
allowances from affiliates.

Amortization expense consists of:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Emission allowances $ 56 $ 39 $ 51

Total $ 56 $ 39 $ 51

Estimated amortization expense based on REMA s intangibles as of December 31, 2007 for the next five years is (in
millions):

2008 $
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2009 201,
2010 40,
2011 51,
2012 51,

(1) These amounts do not include estimated amortization expense of emission allowances, which have not been
purchased as of December 31, 2007.

(5) Derivatives and Hedging Activities

REMA uses derivative instruments to manage operational or market constraints and to increase return on its
generation assets. The instruments used are fixed-price derivative contracts to hedge the variability in future cash
flows from forecasted sales of power and purchases of fuel and power. REMA s objective in entering into these
fixed-price derivatives is to fix the price for a portion of these transactions. See note 2(d).

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, there was $2 million gain, an insignificant amount and $1 million gain, respectively, of
hedge ineffectiveness recognized from derivatives that were designated and qualified as cash flow hedges. In addition,
no component of the derivatives gain or loss was excluded from the assessment of effectiveness for these periods. If it
becomes probable that an anticipated transaction will not occur, REMA realizes in net income (loss) the deferred

gains and losses recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, there were no
amounts recognized in the results of operations as a result of the discontinuance of cash flow hedges because it was
probable that the forecasted transaction would not occur.
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As of December 31, 2006, the maximum length of time REMA was hedging its exposure to the variability in future
cash flows that may result from changes in commodity prices was six years. During the first quarter of 2007, REMA
de-designated its remaining cash flow hedges; therefore, REMA has no outstanding cash flow hedges as of
December 31, 2007.

Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss:

December 31, 2007
Expected to be
Reclassified into
Results of
Operations
At the End of the
Period in Next 12 Months®
(in millions)

Designated cash flow hedges $ $

De-designated cash flow hedges (65) 17
$ (65) $ 17

(6) Debt

REMA is obligated to provide credit support for its lease obligations (see note 9(a)) in the form of letters of credit
and/or cash equal to an amount representing the greater of (a) the next six months scheduled rental payments under the
related lease or (b) 50% of the scheduled rental payments due in the next 12 months under the related lease.

Previously, REMA had term loans that were used to partially fulfill REMA s requirement to provide credit support for
its obligations under these leases. During 2005, the term loans were paid in full and replacement credit support was
provided in the form of letters of credit issued under Reliant Energy s credit facilities. The term loans bore interest at
LIBOR plus 3%. The term loans were non-recourse to Reliant Energy. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, the

amount of credit support was $33 million and $32 million, receptively.

See note 3 for debt transactions with affiliates.
(7) Benefit Plans
(a) Pension and Postretirement Benefits.

Benefit Plans. REMA sponsors a defined benefit pension plan and provides subsidized postretirement benefits to
some bargaining employees but generally does not provide them to non-bargaining employees.
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Effective December 31, 2006, REMA adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, Employers
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. This statement requires recognition of the
funded status of plans, measured as of year end. REMA already uses the required measurement date. The adoption did
not have a material effect on any individual line item of REMA s consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006.
As of December 31, 2007, $0.1 million and $0.4 million of net actuarial loss and net prior service costs, respectively,
in accumulated other comprehensive loss are expected to be recognized in net periodic benefit cost during the next

12 months.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
The benefit obligations and funded status are:
Postretirement
Pension Benefits
2007 2006 2007 2006

(in millions)

Change in Benefit Obligation

Beginning of year $ 25 $ 27 $ 32 $ 39
Transfer to affiliate &) (8)
Service cost 3 3 1 1
Interest cost 1 1 2 2
Benefits paid (D)

Actuarial gain ) (D 3) 2)
End of year $ 26 $ 25 $ 32 § 32
Change in Plan Assets

Beginning of year $ 17 $ 18 § $
Transfer to affiliate 3

Employer contributions 3 1

Actual investment return 1

End of year $20 $17 $ $
Funded status $ ©® $ ® $ 32 $ (32

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2007 2006
(in millions)
Current liabilities $ $ $ @ $
Noncurrent liabilities (6) (8) 3D (32)
Net amount recognized $ 6 $©® $ (32 $ (32
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The accumulated benefit obligation for the pension plan was $23 million and $22 million as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. The pension plan has an accumulated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets.

Net benefit costs are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Service cost $ 3 $ 3 $ 4 $1 $ 1 $ 2

Interest cost 1 1 1 1 2 3

Expected return on plan assets (D (D) (D

Net amortization 1 1 2

Net benefit cost $ 3 $ 3 $ 4 $3 $ 4 $ 7
F-116
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Assumptions. The significant weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2007 2006
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% N/A N/A
The significant weighted average assumptions used to determine the net benefit costs are:
Pension Postretirement Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% N/A N/A N/A
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% N/A N/A N/A

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, REMA developed its expected long-term rate of return on pension plan assets
based on third party models. These models consider expected inflation, current dividend yields, expected corporate
earnings growth and risk premiums based on the expected volatility of each asset category. REMA weights the
expected long-term rates of return for each asset category to determine its overall expected long-term rate of return on
pension plan assets. In addition, REMA reviews peer data and historical returns.

REMA s assumed health care cost trend rates used to measure the expected cost of benefits covered by its
postretirement plan are:

2007 2006 2005
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 8.3% 9.0% 9.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to gradually decline (ultimate
trend rate) 5.5% 5.5% 5.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 2015 2011

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for REMA s health care
plan. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects as of
December 31, 2007:
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One-Percentage
Point
Increase  Decrease
(in millions)

Effect on service and interest cost $ $
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 4 3)
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Plan Assets. REMA s pension weighted average asset allocations and target allocation by asset category are:

Percentage of Plan

Assets Target
as of December 31, Allocation
2007 2006 2008

Domestic equity securities 49% 50% 50%
International equity securities 10 11 10
Global equity securities 10 11 10
Debt securities 31 28 30
Total 100% 100% 100%

In managing the investments associated with the pension plan, REMA s objective is to exceed, on a net-of-fee basis,
the rate of return of a performance benchmark composed of the following indices:

Asset Class Index Weight
Domestic equity securities Wilshire 5000 Index 50%
International equity securities MSCI All Country World Ex-U.S. Index 10
Global equity securities MSCI All Country World Index 10
Lehman Brothers Aggregate
Debt securities Bond Index 30
100%

As a secondary measure, REMA compares asset performance to the returns of a universe of comparable funds, where
applicable, over a full market cycle. Reliant Energy s Benefits Committee reviews plan asset performance each quarter
by comparing the actual quarterly returns of each asset class to its related benchmark. REMA s plan assets have
generally performed in accordance with the benchmarks.

Cash Obligations. REMA expects pension cash contributions to approximate $1 million during 2008. Expected

benefit payments for the next ten years, which reflect future service as appropriate, are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
(in millions)
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2008 $
2009

2010

2011

2012

2013-2017 1

O = = = =
[, T N i S T

(b) Savings Plan.
REMA s employees participate in Reliant Energy s employee savings plans under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of the
Internal Revenue Code. REMA s savings plan benefit expense, including matching and discretionary contributions,

was $3 million, $2 million and $2 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(c) Other Employee Matters.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 73% of REMA s employees are subject to collective bargaining
arrangements. REMA s collective bargaining arrangements expire at various intervals beginning in 2010.

(8) Income Taxes
(a) Summary.
REMA s income tax expense (benefit) is:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Current:

Federal $ $ $ 3
State 1 4 9
Total current 1 4 12
Deferred:

Federal 1 7 6
State 3 21 3)
Total deferred 4 (14) 3
Income tax expense (benefit) $ 5 $ (100 $ 15

A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is:

2007 2006 2005
Federal statutory rate 35% 35% 35%
Additions (reductions) resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes 29 (555)) 3
Federal valuation allowance (25)
Other, net (D) (69) (D
Effective rate 63% (659)% 12%
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(1) Of this percentage, $9 million (592%) relates to Pennsylvania state law changes, which effectively decreased
REMA s limitations to use net operating losses in that state.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Deferred tax assets:

Current:

Derivative liabilities, net

Employee benefits

Total current deferred tax assets
Non-current:

Employee benefits

Net operating loss carryforwards
Environmental reserves

Derivative liabilities, net

Other

Total non-current deferred tax assets
Total deferred tax assets

Deferred tax liabilities:
Non-current:

Depreciation and amortization

Total non-current deferred tax liabilities

Total deferred tax liabilities

Accumulated deferred income taxes, net

(b) Tax Attribute Carryovers.

Net Operating Loss Carryforwards:
Federal

Table of Contents

Statutory
December 31, Carryforward
2007 Period
(in millions) (in years)
$ 128 20

December 31,
2006
(in millions)

2007

$ 10 $ 9

1

10 10

19 16

59 84

6 3

50 49

18 11

152 163

$ 162 $ 173

$ 106 $ 99

106 99

$ 106 $ 99

$ 56 $ 74

Expiration

Year(s)

2026 through 2027
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(c) Valuation Allowances.

REMA assesses its future ability to use federal and state net operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets
using the more-likely-than-not criteria. These assessments include an evaluation of REMA s recent history of earnings
and losses, future reversals of temporary differences and identification of other sources of future taxable income,
including the identification of tax planning strategies in certain situations.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

REMA s valuation allowances for deferred tax assets are:

Federal State
(in millions)

As of January 1, 2005 $ 30 $ 5
Changes in valuation allowance 30) 2)
As of December 31, 2005 3
Changes in valuation allowance 3)
As of December 31, 2006 and 2007 $ $

(d) Adoption of FIN 48 and Tax Uncertainties.

Effective January 1, 2007, REMA adopted Financial Accounting Standards and Board Interpretation No. 48,

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, (FIN 48). This interpretation addresses whether (and when) tax benefits
claimed in Reliant Energy s federal and REMA s state tax returns should be recorded in the financial statements.
Pursuant to FIN 48, REMA may only recognize the tax benefit for financial reporting purposes from an uncertain tax
position when it is more-likely-than-not that, based on the technical merits, the position will be sustained by taxing
authorities or courts. The recognized tax benefits are measured as the largest benefit having a greater than fifty percent
likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority. FIN 48 also provides guidance for derecognition,
classification, interest and penalties, disclosures, transition rules and related matters. REMA classifies accrued interest
and penalties related to uncertain income tax positions in income tax expense/benefit. Adoption of FIN 48 had no
impact on REMA s consolidated financial statements.

As of January 1, 2007 and December 31, 2007, REMA had no amounts accrued for unrecognized tax benefits, interest
or penalties. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, REMA recognized $0 of income tax expense (benefit) due to changes in
interest and penalties for federal and state income taxes.

REMA has the following years that remain subject to examination or are currently under audit for its major tax
jurisdictions:

Subject to Currently Under
Examination Audit
Federal 1997 to 2007 1997 to 2005
New Jersey 2004 to 2007 None
Pennsylvania 2004 to 2007 None
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REMA, through Reliant Energy, expects to continue discussions with taxing authorities regarding tax positions related
to the following, and believe it is reasonably possible some of these matters could be resolved during 2008; however,
it cannot estimate the range of changes that might occur:

the timing of tax deductions could be changed as a result of negotiations with respect to depreciation, emission
allowances and certain employee benefits.

(9) Commitments

(a) Lease Commitments.

REMA entered into sale-leaseback transactions, under operating leases that are non-recourse to Reliant Energy.
REMA leases 16.45% and 16.67% interests in the Conemaugh and Keystone facilities, respectively. The leases expire
in 2034 and REMA expects to make payments through 2029. REMA also leases a 100% interest in the Shawville
facility. This lease expires in 2026 and REMA expects to make payments through
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

that date. At the expiration of these leases, there are several renewal options related to fair market value. REMA LLC s
subsidiaries guarantee the lease obligations and REMA LLC has pledged the equity interests in these subsidiaries as
collateral. Reliant Energy also provides credit support for these lease obligations in the form of letters of credit. See
note 6. During 2007, 2006 and 2005, REMA made lease payments under these leases of $65 million, $64 million and
$75 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, REMA has recorded a prepaid lease of $59 million in
current assets and $270 million and $264 million, respectively, in long-term assets. REMA operates the Conemaugh
and Keystone facilities under agreements that could terminate annually with one year s notice and received fees of

$10 million, $9 million and $9 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively. These fees, which are recorded in
operation and maintenance expense, are primarily to cover REMA s administrative support costs of providing these
services.

REMA s ability to pay dividends or pay subordinated obligations is restricted by conditions within the lease
documents. As of December 31, 2007, REMA was not limited by these restrictions.

Cash Obligations Under Operating Leases. REMA s projected cash obligations under non-cancelable long-term
operating leases as of December 31, 2007 are (in thousands):

2008 $ 62
2009 63
2010 52
2011 63
2012 56
2013 and thereafter 763
Total $ 1,059

Operating Lease Expense. Operating lease expense, including the amortization of deferred lease costs, was
$60 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

(b) Guarantees and Indemnifications.

Equity Pledged as Collateral for Reliant Energy. REMA LLC s equity is pledged as collateral under certain of Reliant
Energy s credit and debt agreements, which have an outstanding balance of $1.2 billion as of December 31, 2007.

Other. REMA enters into contracts that include indemnification and guarantee provisions. In general, REMA enters
into contracts with indemnities for matters such as breaches of representations and warranties and covenants contained
in the contract and/or against certain specified liabilities. Examples of these contracts include asset sales agreements,
service agreements and procurement agreements.

REMA is unable to estimate its maximum potential exposure under these agreements until an event triggering
payment occurs. REMA does not expect to make any material payments under these agreements.
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(c) Other Commitments.

Property, Plant and Equipment Commitments. As of December 31, 2007, REMA has contractual commitments to
spend approximately $88 million on plant and equipment relating primarily to SO, emissions reductions.

Fuel Supply Commitments. REMA is a party to fuel supply contracts of various quantities and durations that are not
classified as derivative assets and liabilities. These contracts are not included in the consolidated
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

balance sheet as of December 31, 2007. Minimum purchase commitment obligations under these agreements are as
follows as of December 31, 2007 (in millions):

2008 $ 88
2009 68
2010 45
2011 30
2012 31
2013 and thereafter 187
Total $ 449a)

(1) Of this amount, $127 million relates to contracts with variable pricing components for which the prices were
determined based on assumptions on escalations per the contractual terms.

As of December 31, 2007, the maximum remaining term under any individual fuel supply contract is 13 years.
(10) Contingencies

REMA is involved in a number of legal, environmental and other matters before courts and governmental agencies,
some of which may involve substantial amounts. Unless otherwise noted, REMA cannot predict the outcome of these
matters.

New Source Review Matters. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and various states are
investigating compliance of coal-fueled electric generating stations with the pre-construction permitting requirements
of the Clean Air Act known as New Source Review. In 2000 and 2001, REMA responded to the EPA s information
requests related to five of its stations, and in December 2007, REMA received supplemental requests for two of those
stations. The EPA has agreed to share information relating to its investigations with state environmental agencies.

In December 2007, the New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection (NJDEP) filed suit against REMA in the
United States District Court in Pennsylvania, alleging that New Source Review violations occurred at one of REMA s
power plants located in Pennsylvania. The suit seeks installation of best available control technologies for each
pollutant, to enjoin REMA from operating the plant if it is not in compliance with the Clean Air Act and civil

penalties. The allegations are based on projects occurring prior to REMA s ownership of the facility and the suit names
three past owners of the plant as defendants. REMA believes it is indemnified by or has the right to seek
indemnification from the prior owners for losses and expenses that it may incur.

REMA is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the EPA s investigation or the NJDEP s suit, but a final finding that

REMA violated the New Source Review requirements could result in significant capital expenditures associated with
the implementation of emissions reductions on an accelerated basis and possible penalties.
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Ash Disposal Site Closures. REMA is responsible for environmental costs related to the future closures of five ash

disposal sites. REMA recorded the estimated discounted costs associated with these environmental liabilities as part of
its asset retirement obligations. See note 2(n).

Remediation Obligations. REMA is responsible for environmental costs related to site contamination investigations
and remediation requirements at four power plants in New Jersey. REMA recorded the estimated liability for the
remediation costs of $8 million and $7 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Conemaugh Actions. In April 2007, the PADEP filed suit against Reliant Energy in the Court of Common Pleas of
Indiana County, Pennsylvania. In addition, in April 2007, PennEnvironment and the Sierra Club filed a citizens suit
against Reliant Energy in the United States District Court, Western District of Pennsylvania. Each suit alleges that the
Conemaugh plant is in violation of its water discharge permit and related state and federal laws and seeks civil
penalties, remediation and/or to enjoin violations. The Conemaugh plant is jointly leased by REMA and seven other
companies and is governed by a consent order agreement with the PADEP. Reliant Energy is confident that the
Conemaugh plant has operated and will continue to operate in material compliance with the consent order agreement,
its water discharge permit and related state and federal laws. However, if PADEP or PennEnvironment and the Sierra
Club are successful, REMA could incur significant capital expenditures associated with the implementation of
discharge reductions on an accelerated basis and possible penalties.

(11) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable and derivative assets and liabilities
approximate their carrying amounts.

(12) Sales of Assets and Emission Allowances
REMA included the following in its results of operations through the date of sale.

Emission Allowances. REMA sold emission allowances during 2007, 2006 and 2005 for gains of $2 million,
$71 million and $97 million, respectively.

Hydropower Plants. Two hydropower plants sold for $42 million in April 2005 for a gain of $12 million.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Orion Power Holdings, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Orion Power Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the
Company), as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholder s
equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for the years then ended. These consolidated financial
statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these
consolidated financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor were we
engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Orion Power Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2007 and 2006, and the results

of their operations and their cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with U.S. generally accepted
accounting principles.

As discussed in notes 8 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company changed its accounting for
income tax uncertainties in 2007 and defined benefit pension and other postretirement plans in 2006, respectively.

KPMG LLP

Houston, Texas
February 25, 2008

F-125

Table of Contents 227



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors of Orion Power Holdings, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Houston, Texas

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, stockholder s equity and comprehensive
loss, and cash flows of Orion Power Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company ) for the year ended December 31,
2005. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express
an opinion on the financial statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the auditing standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board (United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. The Company is not required to have, nor
were we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration
of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company s internal control
over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit includes examining, on a test basis,
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the results of operations
and cash flows of Orion Power Holdings, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2005, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Houston, Texas
March 14, 2006
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

2007 2006 2005
(thousands of dollars)

Revenues:
Revenues $ 22,317 $ 22,861 $ 91,919
Revenues affiliates 542,568 474,851 548,533
Total 564,885 497,712 640,452
Expenses:
Cost of sales 227,240 222,358 186,912
Cost of sales affiliates (5,521) 2,427 68,272
Operation and maintenance 161,713 143,786 115,924
Operation and maintenance affiliates 37,696 35,924 43,500
Taxes other than income taxes 11,570 13,089 3,709
General and administrative primarily affiliates 27,685 27,980 40,493
Gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net primarily
affiliates (7,480) (66,964) (58,189)
Depreciation and amortization 137,602 100,107 126,416
Total operating expenses 590,505 478,707 527,037
Operating Income (Loss) (25,620) 19,005 113,415
Other Income (Expense):
Other, net 42
Interest expense (34,314) (38,472) (39,949)
Interest expense affiliates (9,293) (1,351) (908)
Interest income primarily affiliates 8,452 8,956 382
Total other expense (35,155) (30,867) (40,433)
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations Before Income Taxes (60,775) (11,862) 72,982
Income tax expense (benefit) (25,737) (31,135) 24,385
Income (Loss) from Continuing Operations (35,038) 19,273 48,597
Income (loss) from discontinued operations 7,124 5,375 (86,096)
Income (Loss) Before Cumulative Effect of Accounting Changes (27,914) 24,648 (37,499)
Cumulative effect of accounting change, net of tax (198)
Net Income (Loss) $ (27914) $ 24,648 $ (37,697)

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORION POWER HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31,
2007 2006
(thousands of dollars,
except per share amounts)

ASSETS

Current Assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 259 $ 81
Accounts receivable, principally customer, net of allowance of $0 102 1,664
Receivables from affiliates, net 19,968 33,046
State income taxes receivable 45,763 10,084
Inventory 57,233 50,289
Derivative assets 5,086
Accumulated deferred income taxes 6,713 7,359
Collateral posted under agreement with Reliant Energy, Inc. 2,000 3,278
Prepayments and other current assets 1,843 1,304
Current assets of discontinued operations 2,132 2,460
Total current assets 136,013 114,651
Property, Plant and Equipment, net 1,619,651 1,587,885
Other Assets:

Goodwill, net 173,570 175,520
Other intangibles, net 165,509 183,163
Long-term note receivable from Reliant Energy, Inc. 67,200 92,200
Long-term collateral posted under agreement with Reliant Energy, Inc. 14,392 12,326
Other 9,383 59,615
Total other assets 430,054 522,824
Total Assets $ 2,185,718 $ 2,225,360

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDER S EQUITY
Current Liabilities:

Current portion of long-term debt $ 11,409 $ 10,505
Accounts payable, principally trade 36,278 29,594
Accrued interest payable 7,999 7,996
Other taxes payable 12,496 10,910
Other 17,530 9,335
Current liabilities of discontinued operations 3,286
Total current liabilities 85,712 71,626
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Other Liabilities:
Accumulated deferred income taxes 165,709 178,042
Benefit obligations 46,726 58,100
Taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc. 66,294 84,310
Long-term liabilities of discontinued operations 3,542
Other 10,602 11,043
Total other liabilities 292,873 331,495
Revolving Credit Facility with Reliant Energy, Inc. 37,299 12,683
Long-term Debt 416,934 428,343
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockholder s Equity:
Common stock; par value $1.00 per share (1,000 shares authorized, issued and
outstanding) 1 1
Additional paid-in capital 2,211,138 2,211,139
Accumulated deficit (851,607) (823,693)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (6,632) (6,234)
Total stockholder s equity 1,352,900 1,381,213
Total Liabilities and Stockholder s Equity $ 2,185,718 $ 2,225,360

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORION POWER HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net income (loss)
(Income) loss from discontinued operations

Net income (loss) from continuing operations and cumulative effect
of accounting changes

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by
(used in) operating activities:

Cumulative effect of accounting change

Depreciation and amortization

Deferred income taxes

Non-cash equity contribution of operation and maintenance and
general and administrative costs from Reliant Energy, Inc., net

Net changes in energy derivatives

Net amortization of contractual rights and obligations

Amortization of revaluation of acquired debt

Gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net primarily
affiliates

Non-cash federal income tax distributions to Reliant Energy, Inc., net
Other, net

Changes in other assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable, net

Inventory

Other current assets

Other assets

Accounts payable

Payable to/receivable from affiliates, net

Collateral posted under agreement with Reliant Energy, Inc.
Income taxes payable/receivable

Accrued interest

Long-term taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc. and related accrued
interest

Other current liabilities

Other liabilities

Net cash provided by continuing operations from operating activities
Net cash provided by (used in) discontinued operations from
operating activities

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
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2007 2006 2005
(thousands of dollars)
27914) $ 24,648 $ (37,697)
(7,124) (5,375) 86,096
(35,038) 19,273 48,399
198
137,602 100,107 126,416
(21,422) (27,474) 44,581
56,890
1,108 (1,108) 4,846
(302) (2,218) (8,177)
(10,505) (9,721) (8,921)
(7,480) (66,964) (58,189)
(26,361)
366 (658) 2,003
1,562 2,415 48,996
(7,384) 3,414 (1,853)
(539) 2,173 (2,603)
4,867 10,036 422
27 5,163 1,644
(14,840) 7,188 (52,412)
(788) (15,604)
22,938 13,510 1,768
3 @)
(18,015)

184 1,735 (9,881)
(3,680) 3,726 (5,014)
48,610 44,989 162,752

6,726 (49,689) 171,800
55,336 (4,700) 334,552
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Cash Flows from Investing Activities:

Capital expenditures (109,212) (45,566) (16,334)
Proceeds from sales of assets, net 259 2,372
Proceeds from sales of emission allowances 624 1,134 8,554
Proceeds from sales of emission allowances affiliates 12,678 69,320 56,519
Purchases of emission allowances affiliates (9,643) (1,998)

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations from investing

activities (105,294) 24,888 49,113

Net cash provided by discontinued operations from investing

activities 520 967,566 79,101

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities (104,774) 992,454 128,214

Cash Flows from Financing Activities:

Distributions to Reliant Energy, Inc. (209,400) (340,000)
Changes in revolving credit facility with Reliant Energy, Inc., net 24,616 12,683 (7,300)
(Loan to) repayments from Reliant Energy, Inc. 25,000 (92,200)

Payments of long-term debt (191)

Net cash provided by (used in) continuing operations from financing

activities 49,616 (289,108) (347,300)
Net cash used in discontinued operations from financing activities (712,317) (110,183)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 49,616 (1,001,425) (457,483)
Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents 178 (13,671) 5,283

Cash and Cash Equivalents at Beginning of Period 81 13,752 8,469

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Period $ 259 § 81 $ 13,752
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:

Cash Payments:

Interest paid (net of amounts capitalized) to third parties for

continuing operations 447756 $ 48,360 $ 48,686
Income taxes paid (net of income tax refunds received) for continuing

operations (2,858) (17,022) 3,917

Non-cash Disclosure:
Contributions from (distributions to) Reliant Energy, Inc., net for

continuing operations (39,543) (51,471)
Contributions from Reliant Energy, Inc., net for discontinued
operations 30,468

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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ORION POWER HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDER S EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(LOSS)

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Discontinued
Benefits  Benefits Total Operations
Deferred Actuarial Net Additional Accumulated ccumulated

Additional Derivative Net Prior Minimum Other Other T
Common

Stock Paid-In Accumulated  Gains Gain Service  Benefits Comprehens3@mprehensivStock

Income
Shares Amount Capital Deficit (Losses) (Loss) Costs Liability (Loss) Loss Ec
(thousands of dollars)
1,000 $ 1 $ 2,821,552 $ (810,644) $ 45047 $ $ $ 147 $ 44900 $ (3,738) $ 2,
(37,697)
(361,001) (
4,925 4,925
(31,125) (31,125) 3,403
1,000 1 2,460,551 (848,341) 18,847 (147) 18,700 (335) 1,
24,648
(249,412) (
(2,029) (2,029)
(4,334) (4,334)
(11,802) (11,802) 335
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(5,566) (3,379)

$ (823,693) § 2,711 §$ (5566) $ (3,379) $
(27,914)

330

(3,041)

401

170

1,100 642

$ (851,607) $ $ (429) $ (2,336) $

See Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(6,234) $

330

(3,041)

401

170

1,742
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ORION POWER HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(1) Background and Basis of Presentation
Background.  Orion Power Holdings refers to Orion Power Holdings, Inc., a Delaware corporation. Orion Power
refers to Orion Power Holdings and its consolidated subsidiaries. Reliant Energy refers to Reliant Energy, Inc. and its
consolidated subsidiaries. Orion Power owns and operates electric generation facilities in Ohio and Pennsylvania with
an aggregate generating capacity of 2,683 megawatts (MW) as of December 31, 2007. Orion Power typically sells its
wholesale products to independent system operators, regulated utilities, municipalities, energy supply companies
(including Reliant Energy), cooperatives and retail load or customer aggregators.
On February 19, 2002, Reliant Energy acquired Orion Power through a merger.
Basis of Presentation. These consolidated statements include all revenues and costs directly attributable to Orion
Power including costs for facilities and costs for functions and services performed by Reliant Energy and charged to
Orion Power. All significant intercompany transactions have been eliminated.
(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

(a) Use of Estimates and Market Risk and Uncertainties.

Management makes estimates and assumptions to prepare financial statements in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP) that affect:

the reported amount of assets, liabilities and equity,

the reported amounts of revenues and expenses and

disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements.
Orion Power s critical accounting estimates include: (a) fair value of recorded goodwill, property, plant and equipment
and derivative assets and liabilities and (b) deferred tax assets, valuation allowances and tax liabilities. Actual results

could differ from the estimates.

Orion Power is subject to various risks inherent in doing business. See notes 2(c), 2(d), 2(e), 2(g), 2(h), 2(n), 2(0),
2(p), 4,5,6,7,8,9 and 10.

(b) Principles of Consolidation.

Orion Power Holdings includes its accounts and those of its wholly-owned subsidiaries in the consolidated financial
statements.

(c) Power Generation and Capacity Revenues.

Orion Power records gross revenues from the sale of electricity and other energy services under the accrual method.
Electric power and other energy services are sold at market-based prices through existing power exchanges, related
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party affiliates or third party contracts. Energy sales and services that have been delivered but not billed by period-end
are estimated.

(d) Derivatives and Hedging Activities.

Orion Power accounts for its derivatives instruments and hedging activities in accordance with SFAS No. 133,
Accounting for Derivatives Instruments and Hedging Activities, as amended (SFAS No. 133).

For Orion Power s risk management activities, it uses both derivative and non-derivative contracts that provide for
settlement in cash or by delivery of a commodity. The primary types of derivative instruments Orion Power uses are

forwards, futures, swaps and options. Orion Power accounts for its derivatives under one
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ORION POWER HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

of three accounting methods (mark-to-market, accrual (under the normal purchase/normal sale exception to fair value)
or cash flow hedge accounting) based on facts and circumstances. The fair values of derivative activities are
determined by (a) prices actively quoted, (b) prices provided by other external sources or (c) prices based on models
and other valuation methods.

A derivative is recognized at fair value in the balance sheet whether or not it is designated as a hedge, except for
derivative contracts designated as normal purchase/normal sale exceptions, which are not in the consolidated balance
sheet or results of operations prior to settlement resulting in accrual accounting treatment.

If certain conditions are met, a derivative instrument may be designated as a cash flow hedge. Derivatives designated
as cash flow hedges must have a high correlation between price movements in the derivative and the hedged item. The
changes in fair value of cash flow hedges are deferred in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax,
to the extent the contracts are, or have been, effective as hedges, until the forecasted transactions affect earnings. At
the time the forecasted transactions affect earnings, Orion Power reclassifies the amounts in accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) into earnings. Orion Power records the ineffective portion of changes in fair value of
cash flow hedges immediately into earnings. For all other derivatives, changes in fair value are recorded as unrealized
gains or losses in its results of operations.

If and when an acceptable level of correlation no longer exists, hedge accounting ceases and changes in fair value are
recognized in its results of operations. If it becomes probable that a forecasted transaction will not occur, Orion Power
immediately recognizes the related deferred gains or losses in its results of operations. The associated hedging
instrument is then marked to market through its results of operations for the remainder of the contract term unless a
new hedging relationship is redesignated.

Realized gains and losses on derivatives contracts not held for trading purposes are reported either on a net or gross
basis based on the relevant facts and circumstances. Hedging transactions that do not physically flow are included in
the same caption as the items being hedged. A summary of Orion Power s derivative activities and classification in its
results of operations is:

Purpose for Holding or Transactions that Transactions that

Instrument Issuing Instrument(1) Physically Flow  Financially Settle®®
Power futures, forward, swap and option Power sales Revenues Revenues
contracts Power purchases Cost of sales Revenues
Natural gas and fuel sales
Natural gas and fuel futures, forward, Natural gas and fuel Revenues Cost of sales
swap and option contracts purchases Cost of sales Cost of sales

(1) The purpose for holding or issuing is not impacted by the accounting method elected for each instrument.

(2) Includes classification for mark-to-market derivatives and amounts reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive income (loss) related to cash flow hedges.
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In addition to market risk, Orion Power is exposed to credit and operational risk. Reliant Energy has a risk control
framework, to which Orion Power is subject, to manage these risks, which include: (a) measuring and monitoring
these risks, (b) review and approval of new transactions relative to these risks, (c) transaction validation and

(d) portfolio valuation and reporting. Orion Power uses mark-to-market valuation, value-at-risk and other metrics in
monitoring and measuring risk. Reliant Energy s risk control framework includes a variety of separate but
complementary processes, which involve commercial and senior management and Reliant Energy s Board of
Directors. See note 2(e) for further discussion of Orion Power s credit policy.

Effective September 1, 2006, Orion Power de-designated its cash flow hedges of coal contracts and either began
utilizing the mark-to-market method of accounting or elected the normal purchase/normal sale exception. During the
third quarter of 2006, Orion Power de-designated its remaining cash flows hedges; therefore, as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, Orion Power has no cash flow hedges.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Set-off of Derivative Assets and Liabilities. Where derivative instruments are subject to a master netting agreement
and the accounting criteria to offset are met, Orion Power presents its derivative assets and liabilities on a net basis.
Derivative assets/liabilities and accounts receivable/payable are presented and set-off separately in the consolidated
balance sheets although in most cases contracts permit the set-off of derivative assets/liabilities and accounts
receivable/payable with a given counterparty. However, Orion Power does not offset collateral (net margin deposits)
related to these derivatives.

New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted Offsetting of Amounts. The FASB issued FSP FIN 39-1, an
amendment of FASB Interpretation No. 39 (FIN 39), which was applicable for Orion Power beginning January 1,
2008. This interpretation allows either (a) offsetting assets and liabilities for derivative instruments under a common
master netting arrangement only if the fair value amounts recognized for any related cash collateral are also offset or
(b) presenting these amounts gross.

Effective January 1, 2008, Orion Power plans to discontinue netting its derivative assets and liabilities and present
them on a gross basis. Cash collateral amounts will remain presented on a gross basis. Orion Power s December 31,
2007 consolidated balance sheet will not be affected because all derivative contracts accounted for under the
mark-to-market and cash flow hedge accounting methods have settled over the contract terms.

(e) Credit Risk.

Orion Power has a credit policy that governs the management of credit risk, including the establishment of
counterparty credit limits and specific transaction approvals. Credit risk is monitored daily and the financial condition
of counterparties is reviewed periodically. Orion Power tries to mitigate credit risk by entering into contracts that
permit netting and allow it to terminate upon the occurrence of certain events of default. Orion Power measures credit
risk as the replacement cost for its derivative positions plus amounts owed for settled transactions.

Orion Power s credit exposure is based on its derivative assets and accounts receivable from counterparties, after
taking into consideration netting within each contract and any master netting contracts with counterparties. Orion
Power provides reserves for non-investment grade counterparties representing a significant portion of its credit
exposure. As of December 31, 2007, Orion Power has no credit exposure. As of December 31, 2006, one
non-investment grade counterparty represented 100% ($4 million) of Orion Power s credit exposure. As of
December 31, 2007 and 2006, Orion Power held no collateral from these counterparties. There were no other
counterparties representing greater than 10% of Orion Power s credit exposure.

(f) General and Administrative Expenses Primarily Affiliates.

General and administrative expenses from affiliates include, among other items, (a) selling and marketing, (b) bad
debt expense, (c) financial services, (d) legal costs, (e) regulatory costs and (f) certain benefit costs. See note 3.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)
(g) Property, Plant and Equipment and Depreciation Expense.

Orion Power computes depreciation using the straight-line method based on estimated useful lives. Depreciation
expense was $87 million, $76 million and $95 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Estimated
Useful December 31,
Lives (Years) 2007 2006
(in millions)
Electric generation facilities 20-32 $ 1,823 $ 1,783
Land improvements 20-32 98 97
Other 3-10 10 9
Land 12 12
Assets under construction 89 28
Total 2,032 1,929
Accumulated depreciation 412) (341)
Property, plant and equipment, net $ 1,620 $ 1,588

Orion Power periodically evaluates property, plant and equipment for impairment when events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying value of these assets may not be recoverable. The evaluation is highly dependent on the
underlying assumptions of related cash flows. Orion Power recorded no material property, plant and equipment
impairments during 2007, 2006 and 2005.

In the future, Orion Power could recognize impairments if its wholesale energy market outlook changes negatively. In
addition, Orion Power s ongoing evaluation of its business could result in decisions to mothball, retire or dispose of
additional generation assets, any of which could result in impairment charges.

(h) Intangible Assets and Amortization Expense.

Goodwill. Orion Power performs its goodwill impairment test annually on April 1 and when events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable.

Other Intangibles. Orion Power recognizes specifically identifiable intangible assets, including emission allowances
and contractual rights, when specific rights and contracts are acquired. Orion Power has no intangible assets with
indefinite lives recorded as of December 31, 2007 and 2006.

(i) Capitalization of Interest Expense.

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, Orion power capitalized $3 million, $0 and $0 of interest expense, respectively.
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(G) Income Taxes.

Federal. Orion Power is included in the consolidated federal income tax returns of Reliant Energy and calculates its
income tax provision on a separate return basis, whereby Reliant Energy pays all federal income taxes on Orion

Power s behalf and is entitled to any related tax savings. The difference between Orion Power s current federal income
tax expense or benefit, as calculated on a separate return basis, and related amounts paid to/received from Reliant
Energy, if any, were recorded in Orion Power s financial statements as adjustments to additional paid-in capital.
Reliant Energy changed its funding policy in late December 2006 and these differences are recorded to (a) income

taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc. if Orion Power has cumulative taxable income on a separate return basis or

(b) deferred tax assets if Orion Power has cumulative taxable losses on a separate return basis. Deferred federal

income taxes reflected on Orion Power s consolidated balance sheet will ultimately be settled with Reliant Energy. See
notes 3 and 8.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

State. Orion Power is included in the consolidated state income tax returns of Reliant Energy. It calculates its state
provision, related payables or receivables and deferred state income taxes on a separate return basis and settles the
related assets and liabilities directly with the governmental entity. See note 8.

(k) Cash and Cash Equivalents.

Orion Power records all highly liquid short-term investments with maturities of three months or less as cash
equivalents.

(1) Allowance for Doubtful Accounts.

Orion Power accrues an allowance for doubtful accounts based on estimates of uncollectible revenues by analyzing
counterparty credit ratings, historical collections, accounts receivable agings and other factors. Orion Power writes-off
accounts receivable balances against the allowance for doubtful accounts when it determines a receivable is
uncollectible.

(m) Inventory.

Orion Power values fuel inventories at the lower of average cost or market. Orion Power removes these inventories as
they are used in the production of electricity or sold. Orion Power values materials and supplies at average cost. Orion
Power removes these inventories when they are used for repairs, maintenance or capital projects. Sales of fuel
inventory are classified as operating activities in the consolidated statement of cash flows.

December 31,
2007 2006

(in millions)
Materials and supplies, including spare parts $ 21 $ 19
Coal 34 30
Heating oil 2 1
Total inventory $ 57 $ 50

(n) Environmental Costs.

Orion Power expenses environmental expenditures related to existing conditions that do not have future economic
benefit. Orion Power capitalizes environmental expenditures for which there is a future economic benefit. Orion
Power records liabilities for expected future costs, on an undiscounted basis, related to environmental assessments

and/or remediation when they are probable and can be reasonably estimated. See note 10.

(0) Asset Retirement Obligations.
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Orion Power s asset retirement obligations relate to future costs associated primarily with ash disposal site closures.
Orion Power s asset retirement obligations are $8 million and $4 million as of December 31, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Orion Power has $3 million (classified in other long-term assets) on
deposit with the state of Pennsylvania to guarantee its obligation related to future closures of ash disposal sites. See
note 10.

During 2005, Orion Power adopted an accounting interpretation relating to asset retirement obligations. This
interpretation clarifies that an asset retirement obligation is unconditional even though uncertainty exists about the
timing and/or method of settlement and requires that a liability be recognized if it can be reasonably estimated. Based
on this, Orion Power (a) recorded a cumulative effect of an accounting change, net of tax, of
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

$198,000, (b) increased other long-term liabilities by $624,000, (c) increased property, plant and equipment by
$317,000 and (d) decreased deferred income tax liabilities by $109,000.

(r) Repair and Maintenance Costs for Power Generation Assets.
Orion Power recognizes repair and maintenance costs as incurred.
(q9) New Accounting Pronouncement Not Yet Adopted Fair Value.

The FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (SFAS No. 157),
which defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in GAAP and expands disclosures about

fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 is to be applied prospectively, except for aspects that do not apply to Orion
Power. Orion Power adopted SFAS No. 157 on January 1, 2008. In connection with the adoption, no cumulative effect
of an accounting change will be recognized. For non-financial assets and liabilities, the adoption of SFAS No. 157 has
been deferred until January 1, 2009.

(3) Related Party Transactions

These financial statements include the impact of significant transactions between Orion Power and Reliant Energy.
The majority of these transactions involve the purchase or sale of energy, capacity, fuel, emission allowances or
related services (including transportation, transmission and storage services) from or to Orion Power and allocations
of costs to Orion Power for support services.

Support and Technical Services. Reliant Energy provides commercial support, technical services and other corporate
services to Orion Power. Reliant Energy allocates certain support services costs to Orion Power based on Orion

Power s underlying planned operating expenses relative to the underlying planned operating expenses of other entities
to which Reliant Energy provides similar services and also charges Orion Power for certain other services based on
usage. Management believes this method of allocation is reasonable. These allocations and charges were not
necessarily indicative of what would have been incurred had Orion Power been an unaffiliated entity. During 2005,
Orion Power only paid a certain amount for these services. Beginning January 2006, Orion Power began paying all of
the costs for these services.

The following details the amounts recorded as operation and maintenance affiliates and general and

administrative affiliates:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Allocated or charged by Reliant Energy $ 65 $ 64 $ 84
Unpaid allocations and charges recorded as non-cash equity contributions from Reliant
Energy 57
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Commodity Procurement and Marketing. Orion Power has sales to and purchases from Reliant Energy related to

commodity procurement and marketing services.

2007 2006

(in millions)
Sales to Reliant Energy under various commodity agreements(!) $ 543 $ 475
Purchases from Reliant Energy under various commodity agreements® 1 7
Gains on coal sales to Reliant Energy® 6 5
Sales of emission allowances to Reliant Energy®) 13 69
Gains on emission allowances sales to Reliant Energy®) 6 66

(1) Recorded in revenues affiliates.
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2005

$ 548
68

6

56

53
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

(2) Recorded in cost of sales affiliates. Amounts include purchases from an affiliate to meet requirements of
contractual commitments.

(3) Recorded in cost of sales affiliates.
(4) Reflects price at which Reliant Energy sold the emission allowances to third parties.
(5) Recorded in gains on sales of assets and emission allowances, net.

Debt Obligations from/to Reliant Energy. In December 2004, Orion Power Midwest, L.P. (Orion MidWest) entered
into the following with Reliant Energy: (a) two related-party notes for a total of $400 million and (b) a $75 million
revolving credit facility. In December 2004, Orion Power New York, L.P. (Orion New York) entered into the
following with Reliant Energy: (a) a related-party note for $400 million and (b) a $50 million revolving credit facility.
The Orion MidWest and Orion New York related party notes bore interest at 6.5% per year and interest was payable
monthly. The revolving credit facilities bore interest at London Inter Bank Offering Rate (LIBOR) plus 2.875%. Some
of these amounts were classified as discontinued operations. See note 13. In connection with the sales of the New
York plants and the Ceredo plant, the related party notes were paid off and the Orion New York revolving credit
facility was terminated. The $75 million Orion MidWest revolving credit facility matures in December 2008;
however, Reliant Energy plans to extend the maturity each December for 12 months from that date. Orion Power has
incurred interest expense (in continuing operations) related to these notes and revolving credit facilities of $3 million,
$1 million and $1 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

In March 2006, Orion Power made a term loan to Reliant Energy for $92 million, which matures in 2010. The note
bore interest at ten percent through September 30, 2007 and interest is payable monthly. Effective October 1, 2007,
the interest rate was changed to 7.5 percent. During 2007, Reliant energy paid down $25 million on this loan. Orion
Power has earned interest income related to this term loan of $8 million and $7 million during 2007 and 2006,
respectively.

Secured Revolving Letter of Credit Facility Agreement with Reliant Energy. Reliant Energy posts letters of credit on
behalf of Orion Power. As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Reliant Energy posted letters of credit totaling

$16 million on behalf of Orion Power. During September 2006, Reliant Energy and Orion Power entered into a
Secured Revolving Letter of Credit Facility Agreement whereby Orion Power will provide cash to Reliant Energy as
collateral for letters of credit when issued up to a maximum of $20 million. The agreement expires on April 30, 2010.
As letters of credit expire, the cash collateral will be returned to Orion Power. Orion Power will reimburse Reliant
Energy for the costs of the letters of credit and will earn interest income on the collateral posted. As of December 31,
2007 and 2006, Orion Power has provided cash collateral of $16 million to Reliant Energy. During 2007 and 2006, the
letters of credit costs, recorded in interest expense, were insignificant and the related interest income was $1 million.

Cash Distributions to Reliant Energy.

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)
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Orion Power Holdings cash distributions to Reliant Energy $ $ (209) $ (340)

Income Taxes. See discussion in note 2(k) regarding Orion Power s policy with respect to income taxes and the
long-term taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc.

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Non-cash contributions from (distributions to) Reliant Energy related to federal income
taxes for continuing and discontinued operations $ $ (40) $ (78)

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Orion Power has $66 million and $84 million, respectively, recorded as
long-term taxes payable to Reliant Energy, Inc., which includes accrued interest payable of $6 million and $0,

respectively. Orion Power has incurred interest expense related to this payable of $6 million during 2007.
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(4) Intangible Assets
(a) Goodwill.

The following table shows goodwill and the changes (in millions):

As of January 1, 2006 $ 181
Changes 5
As of December 31, 2006 176
Changes 2)
As of December 31, 2007 $ 174

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Orion Power had $35 million and $39 million, respectively, of goodwill that is
deductible for United States income tax purposes in future periods.

Goodwill Impairment Tests. Orion Power performed impairment tests at the following dates: April 2005, August
2005, September 2005, April 2006 and April 2007 due to either asset sales or annual impairment tests. No
impairments were indicated in these tests.

Estimation of Fair Value. Orion Power estimates the fair value based on a number of subjective factors, including:

(a) appropriate weighting of valuation approaches (income approach, market approach and comparable public
company approach), (b) projections about future power generation margins, (c) estimates of future cost structure,

(d) environmental assumptions, (e) discount rates for estimated cash flows, (f) selection of peer group companies for
the public company approach, (g) required level of working capital, (h) assumed EBITDA multiple for terminal values
and (i) time horizon of cash flow forecasts.

In determining the fair value, Orion Power made the following key assumptions: (a) the markets in which Orion
Power operates will continue to be deregulated; (b) there will be a recovery in electricity margins over time such that
companies building new generation facilities can earn a reasonable rate of return on their investment and (c) the
long-term returns on future construction of new generation facilities will likely be driven by integrated utilities, which
Orion Power expects will have a lower cost of capital than merchant generators. As part of the process, Orion Power
modeled all of its power generation facilities and those of others in the regions in which Orion Power operates. The
assumptions for each of the goodwill impairment tests during 2005, 2006 and 2007 were:

Number of years used in internal cash flow analysis 15
EBITDA(1) multiple for terminal values (2005 tests) 7.5
EBITDA multiple for terminal values (April 2006 test) 7.0
EBITDA multiple for terminal values (April 2007 test) 8.02)
Risk-adjusted discount rate for estimated cash flows (2005 tests) 9.0%
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Risk-adjusted discount rate for estimated cash flows (April 2006 test) 9.5%3)
Risk-adjusted discount rate for estimated cash flows (April 2007 test) 10.0%3
Approximate average anticipated growth rate for demand in power 2.0%
Long-term after-tax return on investment for new investment 7.5%

(1) Defined as earnings (loss) before interest expense, interest income, income taxes, depreciation and amortization
expenses.

(2) Changed primarily due to market factors affecting peer company comparisons.
(3) Changed primarily due to capital structure of peer company comparisons.
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(b) Other Intangibles.

Remaining
Weighted December 31,
Average 2007 2006
Amortization Carrying Accumulated Carrying Accumulated
Period
(Years) Amount Amortization Amount Amortization
(in millions)
SO, emission allowances()? m $ 160 $ (103) $ 134 §$ (72)
NO* emission allowances(D®) ) 180 (71) 181 (60)
Contractual rights® 4 )
Total $ 340 $ (174) $ 319 $ (136)

(1) SO, is sulfur dioxide and NOX is nitrogen oxides. Amortized to amortization expense on a units-of-production
basis. As of December 31, 2007, Orion Power has recorded (a) SO, emission allowances through the 2039
vintage year (most of which relate to 2010 and beyond) and (b) NOx emission allowances through the 2039
vintage year (most of which relate to 2009 and beyond).

(2) During 2007, 2006 and 2005, Orion Power purchased $28 million, $0 and $0, respectively, of SO, emission
allowances from affiliates.

(3) During 2007, 2006 and 2005, Orion Power purchased $4 million, $0 and $2 million, respectively, of NOx
emission allowances from affiliates.

(4) Amortized to revenues and cost of sales, as applicable, based on the estimated realization of the fair value
established on the acquisition date over the contractual lives. As of December 31, 2007, Orion Power has no
contractual rights recorded on its consolidated balance sheet.

Amortization expense consists of:
2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Emission allowances $ 50 $ 25 $ 31

Contractual rights() $ $ M $ M
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(1) Amortized to revenues and cost of sales, as applicable, based on the estimated realization of the fair value
established on the acquisition date over the contractual lives.

(2) Contractual obligations are in other long-term liabilities.

Estimated amortization expense based on Orion Power s intangibles as of December 31, 2007 for the next five years is

(in millions):

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

(1) These amounts do not include expected amortization expense of emission allowances, which have not been

$

purchased as of December 31, 2007.

(5) Derivatives and Hedging Activities

Orion Power uses derivative instruments to manage operational or market constraints and to increase return on its

generation assets. The instruments used are fixed-price derivative contracts to hedge the
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variability in future cash flows from forecasted sales of power and purchases of fuel and power. Orion Power s
objective in entering into these fixed-price derivatives is to fix the price for a portion of these transactions. See
note 2(d).

During 2006 and 2005, there was no hedge ineffectiveness recognized from derivatives that were designated and
qualified as cash flow hedges. In addition, no component of the derivatives gain or loss was excluded from the
assessment of effectiveness for these periods. If it becomes probable that an anticipated transaction will not occur,
Orion Power realizes in net income (loss) the deferred gains and losses recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive loss. During 2006 and 2005, $0 was recognized in the results of continuing operations as a result of the
discontinuance of cash flow hedges because it was probable that the forecasted transaction would not occur.

As of December 31, 2007, all derivative instruments accounted for under the mark-to-market and cash flow hedge
accounting methods have settled over the contract terms and there are no deferred derivative gains/losses remaining in
accumulated other comprehensive loss.

(6) Debt

Outstanding debt to third parties:

December 31,
2007 2006
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Stated Stated
Interest Interest

Rate®  Long-term Current Rate® Long-term Current
(in millions, except interest rates)

Orion Power Holdings senior notes due

2010 (unsecured) 12.00 $ 400 % 12.00 $ 400 %
Adjustment to fair value of debt® 17 11 29 10
Total debt $ 417 $ 11 $ 429 $ 10

(1) The weighted average stated interest rates are as of December 31, 2007 or 2006.
(2) Debt acquired by Reliant Energy in the Orion Power acquisition was adjusted to fair market value as of the
acquisition date. Included in interest expense is amortization of $11 million, $9 million and $9 million for

valuation adjustments for debt for 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Debt maturities as of December 31, 2007 are (in millions):
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2008 $

2009

2010 400
2011

2012

2013 and thereafter

$ 400

Orion Power Holdings Senior Notes. These notes were recorded at a fair value of $479 million upon the acquisition
by Reliant Energy. The $79 million premium is being amortized to interest expense over the life of the notes. The
senior notes are senior unsecured obligations of Orion Power Holdings, are not guaranteed by any of Orion Power
Holdings subsidiaries and are non-recourse to Reliant Energy. The senior notes have covenants that restrict the ability
of Orion Power Holdings and its subsidiaries to, among other
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actions, (a) pay dividends or pay subordinated debt, (b) incur indebtedness or issue preferred stock, (c) make
investments, (d) divest assets, (¢) encumber its assets, (f) enter into transactions with affiliates, (g) engage in unrelated
businesses and (h) engage in sale and leaseback transactions. As of December 31, 2007, conditions under these
covenants were not met that allow the payment of dividends by Orion Power Holdings. As of December 31, 2007, the
adjusted net assets of Orion Power that are restricted to Reliant Energy, Inc. are $1.3 billion.

See note 3 for debt transactions with affiliates.
(7) Benefit Plans
(a) Pension and Postretirement Benefits.

Benefit Plans. Some Orion Power employees participate in a defined benefit pension plan. Orion Power provides
subsidized postretirement benefits to some bargaining employees but generally does not provide them to
non-bargaining employees.

Effective December 31, 2006, Orion Power adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158,

Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans. This statement requires
recognition of the funded status of plans, measured as of year end. Orion Power already uses the required
measurement date. The adoption did not have a material effect on any individual line item of Orion Power s
consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2006. As of December 31, 2007, $0.1 million and $0.4 million of net
loss and net prior service costs, respectively, in accumulated other comprehensive loss are expected to be recognized
in net periodic benefit cost during the next 12 months.

The benefit obligations and funded status are:
Postretirement
Pension Benefits
2007 2006 2007 2006

(in millions)

Change in Benefit Obligation

Beginning of year $ 57 $ 52 $ 31 $ 28
Service cost 2 3 1

Interest cost 3 3 2 2
Benefits paid ) (1)

Actuarial loss (D 1
End of year $ 60 § 57 $ 33 $ 31
Change in Plan Assets

Beginning of year $ 36 $ 30 $ $
Employer contributions 9 3
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Benefits paid (2) (D

Actual investment return 3 4

End of year $ 46 $ 36 $ $

Funded Status $ 14 $ 2 $ 33 $ (3D
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Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
December 31, December 31,

2007 2006 2007 2006
(in millions)

Current liabilities $ $ $ M $ @
Noncurrent liabilities (14) 21D (32) 30)
Net amount recognized $ 14 $ 21 $ (33 $ (3D

The accumulated benefit obligation for all pension plans was $54 million and $51 million as of December 31, 2007
and 2006, respectively. All pension plans have accumulated benefit obligations in excess of plan assets.

Net benefit costs are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Service cost $ 3 $ 3 $ 2 $ $ $ 1
Interest cost 3 3 2 2 2 1
Expected return on plan assets 3) 2) (1)

Net amortization 1 1

Net benefit cost $ 4 $ 5 $ 4 $2 $ 2 $ 2

Assumptions. The significant weighted average assumptions used to determine the benefit obligations are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
December 31, December 31,
2007 2006 2007 2006
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
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The significant weighted average assumptions used to determine the net benefit costs are:

Pension Postretirement Benefits
2007 2006 2005 2007 2006 2005
Discount rate 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75% 5.75%
Rate of compensation increase 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 3.0%
Expected long-term rate of return on assets 7.5% 7.5% 7.5% N/A N/A N/A

As of December 31, 2007 and 2006, Orion Power developed its expected long-term rate of return on pension plan
assets based on third party models. These models consider expected inflation, current dividend yields, expected
corporate earnings growth and risk premiums based on the expected volatility of each asset category. Orion Power
weights the expected long-term rates of return for each asset category to determine its overall expected long-term rate
of return on pension plan assets. In addition, Orion Power reviews peer data and historical returns.

F-142

Table of Contents 259



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

Table of Contents

ORION POWER HOLDINGS, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Orion Power s assumed health care cost trend rates used to measure the expected cost of benefits covered by its
postretirement plan are:

2007 2006 2005
Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 8.3% 9.0% 9.0%
Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to gradually decline (ultimate
trend rate) 5.5% 5.5% 5.5%
Year that the rate reaches the ultimate trend rate 2015 2015 2011

Assumed health care cost trend rates can have a significant effect on the amounts reported for Orion Power s health

care plans. A one-percentage-point change in assumed health care cost trend rates would have the following effects as
of December 31, 2007:

One-Percentage
Point
Increase Decrease
(in millions)

Effect on service and interest cost $ $
Effect on accumulated postretirement benefit obligation 5 4)

Plan Assets. Orion Power s pension weighted average asset allocations and target allocation by asset category are:

Percentage of Plan

Assets
Target
as of December 31, Allocation
2007 2006 2008
Domestic equity securities 49% 50% 50%
International equity securities 10 11 10
Global equity securities 10 11 10
Debt securities 31 28 30
Total 100% 100% 100%

In managing the investments associated with the pension plans, Orion Power s objective is to exceed, on a net-of-fee
basis, the rate of return of a performance benchmark composed of the following indices:
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Asset Class Index Weight

Domestic equity securities Wilshire 5000 Index 50%
MSCI All Country World Ex-U.S.

International equity securities Index 10

Global equity securities MSCI All Country World Index 10
Lehman Brothers Aggregate Bond

Debt securities Index 30

Total 100%

As a secondary measure, Orion Power compares asset performance to the returns of a universe of comparable funds,
where applicable, over a full market cycle. Reliant Energy s Benefits Committee reviews plan asset performance each
quarter by comparing the actual quarterly returns of each asset class to its related benchmark. Orion Power s plan
assets have generally performed in accordance with the benchmarks.
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Cash Obligations. Orion Power does not expect to make pension cash contributions during 2008. Expected benefit
payments for the next ten years, which reflect future service as appropriate, are:

Postretirement
Pension Benefits
(in millions)
2008 $ $
2009
2010
2011
2012
2013-2017 24 1

W W NN
DO NN = = =

(b) Savings Plan.

Orion Power s employees participate in Reliant Energy s employee savings plans under Sections 401(a) and 401(k) of
the Internal Revenue Code. Orion Power s savings plan benefit expense, including matching and discretionary
contributions, was $2 million, $1 million and $1 million during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(c) Other Employee Matters.

As of December 31, 2007, approximately 74% of Orion Power s employees are subject to collective bargaining
arrangements. Collective bargaining arrangements covering 35% of these employees will expire in 2008.

(8) Income Taxes
(a) Summary.
Orion Power s income tax expense (benefit) is:

2007 2006 2005
(in millions)

Current:

Federal $ $ $ (26)
State 4) 4 6
Total current “4) 4) (20)
Deferred:

Federal (18) 11 57
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State @) (38) (13)

Total deferred (22) 27 44

Income tax expense (benefit) from continuing operations $ (26) $ 3D $ 24

Income tax expense (benefit) from discontinued operations $ $ (D $ 6
F-144
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory income tax rate to the effective income tax rate is:

2007 2006
Federal statutory rate (35)% 35%
Additions (reductions) resulting from:
State income taxes, net of federal income taxes 9) 2541y
Other, net 2 27
Effective rate 42)% 262%

(1) Of this percentage, (a) $17 million (145%) relates to Pennsylvania state law changes, which effectively

2005

35%

(6)

33%

decreased our limitations to use net operating losses in that state and (b) $7 million (61%) relates to changes in

valuation allowances.

December 31,

2007

2006

(in millions)

Deferred tax assets:

Current:

Employee benefits $ 1
Other 4
Total current deferred tax assets 5
Non-current:

Employee benefits 18
Net operating loss carryforwards 29
Other 13
Valuation allowance 3
Total non-current deferred tax assets 57
Total deferred tax assets $ 62
Deferred tax liabilities:

Non-current:

Depreciation and amortization 215
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Other 7

Total non-current deferred tax liabilities 215 216

Total deferred tax liabilities $ 215 $ 216

Accumulated deferred income taxes, net $ (153) $ (150)
F-145
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(b) Tax Attribute Carryovers.

Statutory
December 31, Carryforward Expiration
2007 Period Year(s)
(in millions) (in years)
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards:
State $ 480 20 2020 through 2027

(c) Valuation Allowances.

Orion Power assesses its future ability to use federal and state net operating loss carryforwards, capital loss
carryforwards and other deferred tax assets using the more-likely-than-not criteria. These assessments include an
evaluation of Orion Power s recent history of earnings and losses, future reversals of temporary differences and
identification of other sources of future taxable income, including the identification of tax planning strategies in
certain situations.

Orion Power s valuation allowances for deferred tax assets are:

State
(in millions)

As of January 1, 2005 $ 25
Changes in valuation allowance )
As of December 31, 2005 24
Changes in valuation allowance (19)
As of December 31, 2006 5
Changes in valuation allowance 2)
As of December 31, 2007 $ 3

(d) Adoption of FIN 48 and Tax Uncertainties.

Effective January 1, 2007, Orion Power adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No. 48,
Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, (FIN 48). This interpretation addresses whether (and when) tax benefits

claimed in Reliant Eenrgy s federal and Orion Power s state tax returns should be recorded in its financial statements.

Pursuant to FIN 48, Orion Power may only recognize the tax benefit for financial reporting purposes from an

uncertain tax position when it is more-likely-than-not that, based on the technical merits, the position will be sustained

Table of Contents 266



Edgar Filing: STANTEC INC - Form 6-K

by taxing authorities or the courts. The recognized tax benefits are measured as the largest benefit having a greater
than fifty percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a taxing authority. FIN 48 also provides guidance
for derecognition, classification, interest and penalties, disclosures, transition rules and related matters. Orion Power
classifies accrued interest and penalties related to uncertain income tax positions in income tax expense/benefit.

In connection with the adoption, Orion Power recognized the following in its consolidated financial statements:

Adoption Effect on
January 1, 2007
Increase (Decrease)
(in millions)

Goodwill $ ()

Other long-term liabilities 3)

Retained deficit (D)
F-146
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Orion Power has the following in its consolidated balance sheet:

January 1, 2007 December 31,
(Immediately After
Adoption) 2007

(in millions)
Unrecognized tax benefits(}) $ $ @
Interest and penalties(!)
(1) The activity during 2007 was insignificant.
(2) Of this amount, $0, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate.

During 2007, 2006 and 2005, Orion Power recognized an insignificant amount of income tax expense (benefit) due to
changes in interest and penalties for federal and state income taxes.

Orion Power has the following years that remain subject to examination or are currently under audit for its major tax
jurisdictions:

Subject to Currently Under
Examination Audit
Federal 1997 to 2007 1997 to 2005
Pennsylvania 2004 to 2007 2006
New York state and city 2003 to 2006 2003 to 2006

Orion Power, through Reliant Energy, expects to continue discussions with taxing authorities regarding tax positions
related to the following, and believe it is reasonably possible some of these matters could be resolved during 2008;
however, Orion Power cannot estimate the range of changes that might occur: the timing of tax deductions could be
changed as a result of negotiations with respect to depreciation and emission allowances.

(9) Commitments

(a) Lease Commitments.

Operating Lease Expense. Total lease expense for all operating leases was $2 million, $2 million and $1 million
during 2007, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

(b) Guarantees and Indemnifications.
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Equity Pledged as Collateral for Reliant Energy. Orion Power Holdings equity is pledged as collateral under certain
of Reliant Energy s credit and debt agreements, which have an outstanding balance of $1.2 billion as of December 31,
2007.

Interests Pledged as Collateral to Reliant Energy. In connection with Orion Power s debt to Reliant Energy (as
discussed in note 3), Orion Power Holdings has pledged its interests in Orion Power Capital, LLC, and its
subsidiaries, including Orion New York and Orion MidWest, to Reliant Energy. In connection with the sale of the
New York plants, the related interests were released.

Other. Orion Power enters into contracts that include indemnification and guarantee provisions. In general, Orion
Power enters into contracts with indemnities for matters such as breaches of representations and warranties and
covenants contained in the contract and/or against certain specified liabilities. Examples of these contracts include
asset sales agreements, service agreements and procurement agreements.

Orion Power is unable to estimate its maximum potential exposure under these agreements until an event triggering
payment occurs. Orion Power does not expect to make any material payments under these agreements.
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(c) Other Commitments.

Property, Plant and Equipment Commitments. As of December 31, 2007, Orion Power has contractual commitments
to spend approximately $203 million on plant and equipment relating primarily to SO, emissions reductions.

(10) Contingencies
Orion Power is involved in a number of legal, environmental and other matters before courts and governmental

agencies, some of which may involve substantial amounts. Unless otherwise noted, Orion Power cannot predict the
outcome of these matters.

New Source Review Matters. The United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and various states are
investigating compliance of coal-fueled electric generating stations with the pre-construction permitting requirements
of the Clean Air Act known as New Source Review. The EPA has agreed to share information relating to its
investigations with state environmental agencies.

Ash Disposal Site Closures. Orion Power is responsible for environmental costs related to the future closures of two
ash disposal sites owned by Orion MidWest. Orion Power recorded the estimated discounted costs associated with
these environmental liabilities as part of its asset retirement obligations. See note 2(0).

(11) Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The fair values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and payable and derivative assets and liabilities

approximate their carrying amounts. Values of Orion Power s debt (see note 6) are:

December 31,
2007 2006
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value® Value Value®
(in millions)
Fixed rate debt $ 428 $ 436 $ 439 $ 456

Total debt $ 428 $ 436 $ 439 $ 456

(1) Orion Power based the fair values of its fixed rate debt on information from market participants.
(12) Sales of Assets and Emission Allowances

Emission Allowances. Orion Power sold emission allowances during 2007, 2006 and 2005 for gains of $7 million,
$67 million and $56 million, respectively.
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(13) Discontinued Operations
(a) New York Plants.

General. In February 2006, Orion Power closed on the sale of its three remaining New York plants with an aggregate
net generating capacity of approximately 2,100 MW for $979 million. During the third quarter of 2005, Orion Power
began to report the results of the New York plants as discontinued operations.

Use of Proceeds. Orion Power applied $704 million of cash proceeds, which is net of estimated city, state and transfer
taxes and transaction costs, to pay down the Orion New York and Orion MidWest notes (including outstanding
interest) owed to Reliant Energy. After tendering for $0.2 million of the 12% senior notes, the remaining net cash
proceeds of $248 million were distributed to/invested in Reliant Energy, including the issuance of a $92 million note.
See note 3.
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Assumptions Related to Debt, Deferred Financing Costs and Interest Expense on Discontinued Operations. Based on
Orion Power s obligation to utilize the net proceeds from the sale to prepay debt, Orion Power classified the related
debt amounts for the Orion New York and Orion MidWest related party notes and the Orion New York related party
revolver (and the related interest expense) as discontinued operations. Orion Power classified the related deferred
financing costs (and associated interest expense) on all of these debt amounts as discontinued operations. Orion Power
allocated $1 million of related third party interest expense during 2006 and 2005 to discontinued operations. Orion
Power allocated $7 million and $53 million of related interest expense affiliates during 2006 and 2005, respectively, to
discontinued operations. No interest was allocated to discontinued operations subsequent to the closing.

(b) Ceredo Plant.

In 2005, Orion Power sold its 505 MW Ceredo power plant for $100 million. Orion Power used the net cash proceeds
of $100 million to pay down the Orion MidWest term notes owed to Reliant Energy. During the third quarter of 2005,
Orion Power began to report results of Ceredo s operations as discontinued operations effective January 1, 2005.

(c) All Discontinued Operations.

The following summarizes certain financial information of the businesses reported as discontinued operations:

New York
Ceredo
Plants Plant Total

2006

Revenues $ 104 $ $ 104
Income before income tax expense/benefit 41 4
2005

Revenues $ 1,014 $ $ 1,014
Loss before income tax expense/benefit (48)@ (32)® (80)

(1) Includes an additional pre-tax loss on disposal of $16 million during 2006 primarily due to changes in derivative
assets not terminated as of the date of sale. The cumulative pre-tax loss on disposal through December 31, 2006
is $308 million.

(2) Includes $292 million estimated loss on disposal.

(3) Includes $32 million loss on disposal.
Subsequent to the sale of the New York plants in February 2006, Orion Power continues to have (a) insignificant
settlements with the independent system operator and (b) property tax settlements. Orion Power recognized $7 million

of income before income taxes from discontinued operations during 2007. These amounts are classified as
discontinued operations in the results of operations. In addition, Orion Power has some amounts on its consolidated
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balance sheets classified as discontinued operations relating to these settlements and other insignificant items.
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